
1 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel 
Friday, 4 February 2022 

 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Agenda  

Page(s): 1 - 168 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel  

 
 

Agenda 
West Mercia Police and 
Crime Panel 
 
Friday, 4 February 2022, 11.00 am 
County Hall, Worcester 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This document can be made available in other formats (large print, audio tape, computer disk and 
Braille) on request from Scrutiny on telephone number 01905 844963 or by emailing 

scrutiny@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Find out more online: 
www.worcestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1

mailto:democraticServices@worcestershire.gov.uk


 

 

 

Page 2



 

Agenda produced and published by Assistant Director for Legal and Governance, County Hall, Spetchley 
Road, Worcester WR5 2NP 
 
To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda contact Samantha Morris, Scrutiny Officer on 
Worcester (01905) 844963  email: sjmorris@worcestershire.gov.uk  
 
Reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website at  
www.worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Date of Issue: Thursday, 27 January 2022 

 
 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel 
Friday, 4 February 2022, 11.00 am,  
 
Membership:   

 
Cllr Aled Luckman (Chairman) Substantive Member - Worcestershire County Council 
Cllr Barry Durkin (Vice Chairman) Co-opted Member - Herefordshire Council 
Cllr Adam Kent Substantive member - Bromsgrove District Council 
Cllr Sebastian Bowen Substantive Member - Herefordshire Council 
Cllr Tom Wells Substantive Member - Malvern Hills District Council 
Cllr Nyear Nazir Substantive Member - Redditch Borough Council 
Cllr Nigel Lumby Substantive Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Jeff Anderson Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Roger Evans Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Vivienne Parry Co-opted Member - Shropshire Council 
Cllr Jim  Lavery Substantive Member -  Telford and Wrekin Council 
Cllr Richard Overton Co-opted Member - Telford and Wrekin Council 
Cllr Rob Adams Substantive Member - Wychavon District Council 
Cllr James Stanley Substantive Member - Worcester City Council 
Cllr Graham Ballinger Substantive Member - Wyre Forest District Council 
Mrs C Clive Co-opted Independent Lay Member 
Ms Beth McDowall Co-opted Independent Lay Member 

 
Agenda 

 

Item No Subject Page No 
 
 

1  Welcome and Introductions 
 

 

2  Named Substitutes 
 

 

3  Apologies and Declarations of Interest 
 

 

4  Public Participation 
Members of the public wishing to take part (asking a question or making 
a statement) should notify the by Assistant Director for Legal and 
Governance in writing or by email indicating both the nature and content 
of their proposed participation no later than 9.00am on the working day 
before the meeting (in this case 3 February 2022).  Enquiries can be 
made through the telephone number/email address listed below. 
 

 

Page 3

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/


Item No Subject Page No 
 

 

5  Confirmation of the Minutes of the previous meeting 
To confirm the Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 25 November 2021. 
 

1 - 10 

6  Appointment of an Independent Co-opted Lay Member 
 

 

7  Confirmation of the Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer) 
 

 

8  West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner's Proposed Precept 
and Budget 2022/23 
 

 

9  Police & Crime Plan Activity and Performance Monitoring Report 
 

 

10  Work Programme 
 

 

 
 
 
NOTES  

 Webcasting 
 

Members of the Panel are reminded that meetings of the West Mercia Police 
and Crime Panel are Webcast on the Internet and will be stored electronically 
and accessible through the Council's Website. Members of the public are 
informed that if they attend this meeting their images and speech may be 
captured by the recording equipment used for the Webcast and may also be 
stored electronically and accessible through the Council's Website. 
 

Page 4



 
 

 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 
Date of Issue: 24 January 2022 

 

Page No | 1 
 

Minutes of the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel 

 Thursday, 25 November 2021, 11.00 am 

Present: 
 
Cllr Aled Luckman (Chairman), Cllr Barry Durkin (Vice Chairman), 
Cllr Rob Adams, Cllr Jeff Anderson, Cllr Graham Ballinger, 
Cllr Sebastian Bowen, Mrs C Clive, Cllr Roger Evans, Cllr Jim  Lavery, 
Cllr Nigel Lumby, Cllr Stephen Reynolds, Cllr James Stanley and 
Cllr Tom Wells 
 

Also attended: 
 
John Campion, West Mercia Police & Crime Commissioner 
Chief Constable Pippa Mills, West Mercia Police 
Gareth Boulton, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
James Bayliss, Public Health Practitioner 
Sheena Jones, Democratic Governance and Scrutiny Manager 
Alyson Grice, Overview and Scrutiny Officer 
 

Available Papers 
 
The members had before them:  
 

A. The Agenda papers (previously circulated);  
B. The Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 September 2021 (previously 

circulated). 
 
(Copies of document A will be attached to the signed Minutes). 
 

405 Welcome and Introductions 
 
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and, in particular, the new 
Chief Constable of West Mercia Police who was attending her first Panel 
meeting in her new role. 
 

406 Named Substitutes 
 
Cllr Stephen Reynolds for Cllr Richard Overton (Telford and Wrekin Council). 
 

407 Apologies and Declarations of Interest 
 

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 5Page 5



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 2 
 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Adam Kent (Bromsgrove District Council), 
Richard Overton (Telford and Wrekin Council) and Vivienne Parry (Shropshire 
Council). 
 

408 Public Participation 
 
None. 
 

409 Confirmation of the Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 September 2021 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

410 Draft Police and Crime Plan 2021 - 2025 Consultation 
Results 
 
The Panel was invited to make any final comments on the draft Police and 
Crime Plan 2021-2025. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) reminded Members that they had 
considered a previous draft in September.  The consultation on this draft had 
now concluded and this was the Panel’s final opportunity to make comments 
before publication. 
 
The Chairman congratulated the PCC on the broad range of consultation that 
had taken place.  Panel Members were given an opportunity to ask questions 
and the following main points were made: 
 

 Concern was expressed that, although 690 comments had been 
recorded in response to the consultation, only 6 changes had been 
made to the draft plan.  In response, the PCC stated that in his view the 
responses suggested the need for nuanced amendments rather than 
fundamental changes.  He did not see anything in the comments that 
required significant change. 

 In response to a question about whether things were improving in 
relation to the participation of hard-to-reach communities, the PCC 
suggested that the voice of some communities was not being heard 
enough but added that this was an issue for all parts of the public 
sector.  To be truly representative of the community, the approach to 
engagement needed to be broader.  Consideration should also be given 
to how information was made available as not all people would read 
such a lengthy document. 

 The importance of understanding the concerns of hard-to-reach 
communities was emphasised.  The PCC told the Panel that he valued 
the opportunity to visit communities, something that had been 
interrupted by the pandemic, and he was looking forward to meeting 
people again with the new Chief Constable.  They had a joint 
commitment to reaching communities that had previously been missed 
and he told the Panel about a recent visit to meet Afghan refugees in 
Telford.  He wanted people to trust the police and engagement was vital 

Page 2

Page 6



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 3 
 

in this.  The PCC reminded Members about the changes he had made 
to the Ambassador scheme including the introduction of the role of 
Assistant PCC which aimed to increase capacity to engage with 
communities.  The personal connection was important in building 
relationships. 

 In response to a question about whether recent increases in the number 
of police officers represented a true growth in numbers or simply 
returned the force to the situation before previous cuts, the PCC 
reminded the Panel that he could only comment on the period that he 
had been in office, as that was what he was accountable for.  Since he 
had been in office, numbers had increased and would increase again in 
the next financial year.  He went on to suggest that a focus on police 
numbers was ‘a red herring’, as numbers were irrelevant if communities 
did not feel they saw enough police officers. 

 It was suggested that there had been an increase in petty crime in 
Shrewsbury town centre since the closure of the police station there.  In 
response, the PCC suggested that the closure of the station did not 
mean there were fewer officers in the town and it was important to have 
officers out in the community rather than in police bases.  Officer 
visibility and accessibility were important. 

 A Member stated that she was not convinced that the plan showed any 
improvement on previous versions as it was not clear what actions 
would be taken or what success would look like.  She suggested it 
would be helpful to see the performance management structure that sat 
behind the plan in order to ensure actions were taken.  The PCC 
reminded the Panel that this focus would come in the delivery plan.  He 
did not want the Police and Crime Plan to be a rigid, prescriptive 
document.  The Panel Member suggested that the Panel would find it 
useful to have some form of assurance so that Members could see 
progress on achieving the aims described.  The PCC said that he would 
look again at this but had previously taken a clear decision to keep 
performance information out of the plan, allowing the performance 
framework to be adjusted or refocussed as required. 

 The PCC confirmed that the use of bicycles was still a key part of the 
force’s assets and he had recently signed off a £50k investment to 
upgrade and invest in pedal and electric bikes. 

 A Member welcomed the proposal to invest in community speed 
reduction schemes and expressed frustration about the effectiveness of 
Community Speed Watch groups suggesting that, although they could 
be a short-term fix, they were not a sustainable solution to problems of 
speeding.  The PCC agreed that Community Speed Watch groups were 
only part of the solution and reminded the Panel that 19 additional 
specialist road policing officers were being recruited.  He also noted the 
role of effective road design and would work with the highways 
authorities on this.  His aim was to be a more effective leader in the 
system. 

 With reference to the recent meeting of Worcestershire County 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Performance Board which had 
discussed road safety, the PCC said that he would wish to be 
supportive but needed to be clear what the tangible outcomes of the 
meeting were.  He confirmed that more resources would be available in 

Page 3

Page 7



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 4 
 

this area but wanted road policing to be every police officer’s 
responsibility, not simply seen as a specialist area.  This was not 
necessarily currently the case. 

 The proposed metrics were welcomed as being very comprehensive 
and it was confirmed that these would form the basis of reporting back 
to the Panel at future meetings. 

 Concern was expressed that, by placing warning signs in Community 
Speed Watch areas, drivers were able to slow down meaning that not 
all potential speeding motorists were caught.  The PCC reminded 
Members that the aim was for everyone to be complying with the speed 
limit and speed enforcement was predominantly visible and overt.  The 
force did have the ability to undertake unmarked speed enforcement but 
this was a much smaller resource. 

 He also noted the role of citizenry through, for example, dash cams or 
helmet cams, reminding the Panel that footage could be uploaded via 
West Mercia’s website.  A Member reported favourably on the 
installation of a Speed Indicator Device in his local area and the PCC 
reminded Members that West Mercia ran a scheme which provided up 
to 50% of the cost of these signs.  With reference to solar powered 
signs, the PCC informed the Panel that, although he had no views on 
the power source used, if a sign was environmentally friendly that would 
be welcomed. 

 With reference to the consultation exercise, a Panel member queried 
whether repeat responses could be prevented.  The Deputy Chief 
Executive of the Office of the PCC confirmed that the online response 
system had used techniques to prevent multiple submissions from one 
person.  Although it appeared that some responses had been copied 
and pasted, this would have been picked up by the policy team as part 
of their analysis.  The Chairman of the Panel noted that, although it was 
important that responses were kept anonymous, it was also important 
that responses were not duplicated. 

 In response to a question about why there had been low levels of 
response in Herefordshire, the PCC acknowledged that it was important 
to hear a diversity of responses from across the whole of the West 
Mercia region and expressed concern about the level of engagement in 
some areas.  It would be important to aspire for better. 

 

411 West Mercia Police OCC Performance 
 
Members received an update on holding to account (HTA) activity undertaken 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in respect of Operations & 
Communications Centre (OCC) performance. 
 
By way of introduction, the PCC reminded the Panel that the OCC was the 
front door to West Mercia Police.  Although contact methods were changing, 
the telephone was still central to the police’s quality of response.  He was 
continually impressed by the level of effort that went in to making the system 
work but acknowledged that the system did not always succeed. 
 
Members were given an opportunity to ask questions and the following main 
points were raised: 

Page 4

Page 8



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 5 
 

 

 It was not currently possible to establish all of the nuanced data that 
may be requested, such as the average caller waiting time and how 
many repeat callers there were.  Work was underway to rectify this and 
the Chief Constable had made a personal commitment to improve 
matters. 

 Concern was expressed that, if a caller did not get a rapid response on 
101, they would call 999 with a consequent impact on emergency 
provision. 

 The PCC agreed to facilitate a visit for the Panel to the headquarters of 
West Mercia Police at Hindlip to see the operation of the OCC. 

 It was confirmed that, however a member of the public chose to report a 
crime or access the police, the assessment process was the same. 

 Concern was expressed about the relatively poor level of performance 
in relation to the 101 number as there was a danger that this could 
diminish the public’s view of the police and it was disappointing that 
issues had not been fixed.  In response, the PCC reminded the Panel 
that this was a complex operation, involving a public contact system 
across three geographically diverse counties.  He was confident that the 
system could get to the position it needed to be.  Work would then be 
done to ensure that all channels were properly embedded so that 
communities could have confidence in the system. 

 In response to a question about whether the reasons for recent outages 
had been identified, Members were reassured that this was not a 
system problem.  All appropriate measures had been put in place and 
contingencies had been reviewed to make it less likely that this would 
happen again.  The Panel was reminded that, if a force’s ability to 
answer emergency calls went down, there was a well-established 
system for calls to be answered by other police forces. 

 The PCC confirmed that there were no plans to close the front desk at 
Malinsgate Police Station in Telford. 

 In response to a question from the Chairman about whether appropriate 
checks were in place, the PCC confirmed that control room 
performance was discussed in weekly meetings with the Chief 
Constable.  He also recognised that many concerns were raised with 
local councillors. 

 In conclusion, the Chairman hoped that targets for consistent 101 and 
999 performance would be achieved or exceeded by June 2022 as set 
out in the presentation. 

 

412 West Mercia Police Workforce Diversity and Inclusion 
 
The Panel was provided with an overview of diversity and inclusion relating to 
the West Mercia Police workforce.  The Police and Crime Commissioner 
reminded Members that this was a complex area of recruitment.  He hoped 
that the Panel would see that progress had been made but acknowledged that 
there was further work to be done. 
 
The Panel was invited to ask questions and the following main points were 
raised: 
 

Page 5

Page 9



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 6 
 

 West Mercia Police’s efforts to increased diversity and better reflect the 
population it served were welcomed.  It was confirmed that this had not 
been at the expense of standards, but had involved supporting people 
through the recruitment process who ordinarily would not have been 
able to navigate the system. 

 The aim was to ensure the organisation was welcoming to all and the 
importance of retention was acknowledged. 

 In response to a question about the methodology used, the Chief 
Constable described the importance of levelling the playing field.  She 
informed the Panel that one of the biggest draws in police recruitment 
was the influence of friends and family already in the service.  People 
from ethnic minority backgrounds were less likely to have these links.  
The aim was to demystify the organisation by supporting candidates on 
an individual basis. 

 It was confirmed that there had been a focus on supporting female 
candidates as there had not been the same concerns about male 
applicants. 

 It was confirmed that the data referred to warranted Police Officers 
(rather than Police Community Support Officers). 

 In response to a question about vetting procedures in the light of recent 
high profile vetting failures, the PCC confirmed he was confident in local 
processes.  West Mercia Police was also engaged in national work and 
was keen to learn lessons from elsewhere in the country. 

 The progress made in relation to recruitment of female officers and 
those from ethnic minorities was welcomed.  However, there appeared 
to be less progress in relation to people with disabilities and those from 
the LGBTQ+ community.  The PCC pointed out that these groups were 
included in the data in the report and confirmed that the journey to 
equality was about removing barriers for all. 

 
The Panel welcomed the progress made but requested that future reports 
should include a broader approach to diversity and inclusion including people 
with disabilities and those from the LGBTQ+ community. 
 

413 Budget Monitoring Report (April - Sept 2021) 
 
The Panel was updated on the half year position in relation to the West Mercia 
Police 2021/22 budget. 
 
In the course of the discussion, the following main points were raised: 
 

 In response to a question about the current level of backlog and the 
plan of action with respect to estates management, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner reminded the Panel that all public bodies had a 
form of backlog in estates management.  West Mercia Police had been 
dealing with the recent move away from Place Partnership and the 
current backlog was manageable and was being addressed. 

 A Member noted the concern expressed in the report about the number 
of employees in the organisation who had elected not to join the 
pension scheme and informed the Panel that he shared this concern. 

Page 6

Page 10



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 7 
 

 With reference to the slippage in the delivery of the Change 
programme, the Police and Crime Commissioner suggested that this 
was due to the impact of the pandemic and the lack of progress of the 
former alliance partner.  Although the force wanted to aspire to better, 
there was a need to be realistic about what was achievable.  The 
ultimate aim was to deliver a fit for purpose system for police officers. 

 

414 Police & Crime Plan Activity and Performance Monitoring 
Report 
 
The Panel was provided with an overview of activity undertaken by the Police 
and Crime Commissioner in support of the Safer West Mercia Plan and an 
update on police performance. 
 
By way of introduction, the PCC made the following points: 
 

 The PCC had been pleased to see the force-wide impact of the new 
Chief Constable and her appointment had been positively received 
across the workforce. 

 There had been significant success in securing Government funding, 
including the Safer Streets bid which had a particular focus on reducing 
violence against women and girls and was the highest per population in 
the country.  The PCC was grateful for the work done by his office and 
partners. 

 The latest position in relation to the Alliance split and ongoing provision 
of IT services was noted. 

 The PCC had not been impressed by the level of response to the latest 
Annual Town and Parish Council Survey and recognised the need to 
improve the level of engagement.  He acknowledged that it was not 
possible to get any closer to local communities than the Parish Council 
and would welcome any ideas from Panel Members on how 
engagement could be improved. 

 
Members were given an opportunity to ask questions and the following main 
points were raised: 
 

 The Chairman congratulated the PCC on the external funding that had 
been obtained and recognised that it was a significant sum. 

 However, he was disappointed that the split from the Alliance with 
Warwickshire was still ongoing and expressed concern that money 
provided by the taxpayers of West Mercia was still being used in this 
way, especially when the West Mercia Force had its own IT problems.  
In response, the PCC reminded Members that West Mercia was now 
providing a service to Warwickshire rather than being in partnership.  
West Mercia had supported Warwickshire as needed and this was felt 
to be the right thing to do and was appreciated by the PCC of 
Warwickshire.  The Chairman acknowledged the reassurance. 

 In response to a question about investment in IT, the PCC reminded the 
Panel that there was a broad ICT transformation programme.  Running 
a large ICT system was a complex operation and, now that the force 

Page 7

Page 11



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 8 
 

had sovereignty, it could quickly move to deliver the benefits of the 
programme. 

 When asked about the benefits to residents of West Mercia of providing 
services to Warwickshire, the PCC reminded the Panel about overhead 
sharing and joint investment opportunities.  The current arrangement 
was on the basis of full cost recovery and supported a consensual and 
planned separation of business. 

 The Chairman noted that it had been an active decision to have an 
agreement on West Mercia’s terms to continue IT support for 
Warwickshire and asked whether support would conclude by March 
2023 as planned.  In response, the PCC reminded the Panel that the 
discussion covered a commercially sensitive live contract.  He felt he 
had made the best decision to support the public and was as confident 
as he could be that the arrangement would end in March 2023. 

 A Member suggested that it would be useful for the Panel to receive a 
report on progress on the ICT improvement programme at a future 
meeting. 

 A Panel Member welcomed the ongoing commitment to victims of 
modern slavery and the extension of the funding scheme.  He went on 
to ask about how work on the prevention of modern slavery could be 
embedded into relationships with partner organisations and members of 
the public.  The PCC agreed that, although the work mentioned in the 
agenda report referred to support for victims, work to ensure vulnerable 
people did not become victims was also essential.  The Police and 
Crime Plan saw a shift towards a greater proportion of the police budget 
being focused on crime prevention.  He was keen to get the prevention 
agenda moving forward and any assistance from local councils would 
be welcomed. 

 A question was asked about West Mercia’s stance on refusing Traffic 
Regulation Orders (TROs) when the police felt the rules could not be 
enforced.  The Chief Constable agreed to provide a response outside of 
the meeting. 

 It was agreed that an update on progress with the Estates programme 
would be provided at a future meeting. 

 With reference to the autumn roadshows, the PCC acknowledged that 
some had been more successful than others.  For example, the 
Shrewsbury Food Festival had been successful as a large number of 
the visitors lived in the West Mercia area.  The Malvern Show had been 
less successful as many of those attending had travelled from outside 
West Mercia.  The ability to hold a conversation with members of the 
public was important but attendance at local shows needed to be part of 
a suite of activity. 

 In response to a question about the role of the Assistant Police and 
Crime Commissioner, the PCC reminded the Panel that there were 
legal restrictions on what he could delegate.  However, the APCC could 
assist in maximising engagement.  In terms of the financial impact, the 
PCC confirmed that this was consistent with the previous ambassadors 
scheme. 

 With reference to the disappointing response to the Town and Parish 
Council survey, the Chairman suggested that this may reflect a lack of 
engagement by the police, noting that parish council meetings in his 

Page 8

Page 12



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 9 
 

local area had not been attended by a police officer for some time.  The 
PCC recognised that this may be the case if parish councils felt they 
had not seen a police officer for some time and noted that different 
parish councils had different relationships with the police.  He 
acknowledged that, although a police presence was not needed at 
every meeting, there was a lack of consistency in the overall approach. 

 It was noted that only 10% of respondents to the 2021 Town and Parish 
Council survey felt that the visibility of the police was Excellent or Good.  
The PCC acknowledged that this was not good but reminded Members 
that this was not the only measure and others gave a more positive 
picture.  The PCC stated that his commitment was clear.  He wanted 
the community to have confidence in the police and would use these 
responses to measure this.  To this end, increasing the level of 
response was important and he would appreciate any help from local 
authorities to achieve this. 

 With reference to the Community Policing Charter, the PCC suggested 
that it was important to be flexible to local circumstances across what 
was a very diverse community. 

 The Chief Constable informed the Panel that she had met many 
committed staff since she had taken up the post, including in the Safer 
Neighbourhood Teams.  She felt that the visibility of staff was important, 
not simply when they were carrying out a specific task. 

 A Panel Member suggested that the diminishing involvement of the 
police with parish councils and local schools may have an impact on the 
positive view of the police. 

 The PCC confirmed that he aspired to solve the issue of fly tipping 
through a partnership approach and had received good applications 
from the Community Safety Partnerships in Worcestershire but not 
Herefordshire or Shropshire.  The Chairman hoped that Panel Members 
would feed this back to their Councils. 

 

415 National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panels 
 
The Democratic Governance and Scrutiny Manager reminded the Panel that 
the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels had been set up to 
share ideas and experiences nationally.  The Association was free to join and 
was not allowed to spend any money on lobbying. 
 
The Panel was invited to appoint a voting representative to join the 
Association. 
 
It was agreed that Councillor Luckman would be appointed as the Panel’s 
representative on the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels. 
 

416 Work Programme 
 
The Panel’s Work Programme was discussed.  Members noted that the 
process to appoint an Independent Member of the Panel was underway and 
the outcome would be discussed on 4 February.  Members also agreed to add 
road safety to the work programme for February.  
 

Page 9

Page 13



 
West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Thursday, 25 November 2021 

Page No | 10 
 

The Panel agreed that the following items would be added to its work 
programme for future meetings: 
 

 Update on progress with the Estates programme 

 Update on progress with the ICT improvement programme 

 Update on the PEEL report (due in February 2022) 
 
The Panel also agreed to add a visit to the Operations and Communications 
Centre (OCC) to its work programme and potentially hold a meeting at West 
Mercia Police Headquarters at Hindlip. 
 
 

 
The meeting ended at 1.18 pm 

 

 

Chairman ……………………………………………. 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

Page 14



 
  

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 

 

 

 
WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  
4 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
APPOINTMENT OF A LAY INDEPENDENT CO-OPTED 
MEMBER  
 

 
Summary 
 

1. Members of the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel (the Panel) will be provided 
with an update on the process for the appointment of a Lay Independent Co-opted 
Member of the Panel. 

 
Background 
 

2. The Panel is required to appoint two independent (non-councillor) co-opted 
members.  At its meeting on 13 July 2021, it was noted that one of the two 
Independent Lay Members on the Panel had resigned.  
 
3. The Agreement for Panel Arrangements requires the Panel to ensure there are 
two serving Lay Members and accordingly, it was agreed that Councillors Luckman, 
Durkin and Bowen would be appointed to an Appointments Panel to conduct the 
recruitment process and appoint to the vacancy. 

 
4. In making this co-option, The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
requires that the Panel must ensure the overall Panel membership meets the 
balanced objective in skills, knowledge and experience necessary to discharge its 
functions effectively. 
 

Recruitment 
 

5. The Appointments Panel carried out the shortlisting process on 13 December 
2021 and the interview process on 10 January 2022 and appointed Ms B McDowall 
to the position.  

 
Specific Contact Points for this Report 
 
Sheena Jones, Democratic Governance and Scrutiny Manager  
Tel: 01905 844871 Email: sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk 

Page 11

AGENDA ITEM 6Page 15

mailto:sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk


 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 
 

 

Background Papers 
 
In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Assistant Director for Legal and 
Governance)  the background papers relating to the subject matter of this report are: 
 
Agenda and Minutes West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 13 July 2021 
Agenda and Minutes West Mercia Police and Crime Panel - Independent Member 
Appointment Panel –  13 December 2021 and 10 January 2022  
 
All agendas and minutes are available on the Council's website here 
 

Page 12

Page 16

http://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=147


 
WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
4 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
CONFIRMATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (TREASURER) 

 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to enable members of the West Mercia Police and Crime 

Panel (PCP) to consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC) proposed 
permanent appointment of a Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer).  

 
1.2. In doing so, the Panel must satisfy itself that the preferred candidate selected by the 

PCC has the professional competence to undertake the role and has significant 
personal independence to be able to act operationally independent of the PCC.  

 
1.3. The report provides an overview of the appointment process that was undertaken from 

July 2021 to January 2022 by the PCC to select the preferred candidate.  
 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 The previous Treasurer retired with effect from 30th November 2021. She had held the 

post part-time, providing services 3 days per week.   
 

2.2 The Finance Manager supported the previous Treasurer as Deputy s151 Officer from 
November 2020, and as acting Treasurer in her absence from September 2021. 

 
2.3 Experience over the last few years has shown that the PCC requires sound financial 

advice for all significant decisions, and these cannot always wait for a part-time post-
holder to be available. The previous post-holder had at certain times of the year worked 
5 days per week in order to meet the demands required of the role.  

 

2.4 There is the additional complexity of the Chief Constable being required in law to have 
a Chief Finance Officer of their own, which could be shared between the PCC and Chief 
Constable. Consequently the capability could be provided by: 

 

2.4.1 sharing the services of an existing local authority director of finance, separate to 
the force’s Chief Finance Officer 
 

2.4.2 having a shared treasurer between the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Chief Constable 

 

2.4.3 having a Treasurer for the Police and Crime Commissioner, separate to the 
force’s Chief Finance Officer 

 

2.5 Each option was considered: 
 
2.5.1 Sharing the services of an existing local authority director of finance: this 

arrangement would draw in the services of a local authority director of finance to 
provide the treasurer expertise required by the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
All local authorities within the West Mercia area have been approached and none 
of them are in a position to provide such an arrangement.  

Page 13

AGENDA ITEM 7Page 17



 
2.5.2 Sharing a Treasurer between the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable: both the ‘Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA) statement on the role of the Chief Finance Officer of the PCC and the 
Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable’ and the ‘Financial Management 
code of practice for Police Forces of England and Wales’ requires that both the 
PCC and the Chief Constable should have their own CFO. The Statement 
requires that both the PCC and Chief Constable should appoint separate CFOs 
and when a joint CFO is appointed the reasons should be explained publically in 
the PCC’s Annual Governance Report, together with an explanation of how the 
arrangement will deliver the same impact. A joint Treasurer/Director of Finance 
would be a full-time post, and, as such, would be available at all times. It could 
be argued that a joint post would improve the PCC’s influence over the approach 
to financial management adopted within the Force. However, it wouldn’t give the 
PCC control of this, as that legitimately sits with the Chief Constable. This would 
require closer integration of the Force Finance team and the PCC finance 
function. The PCC would lose a significant level of independence from the Force. 
There would be the potential for conflicts of interest and split loyalties between 
the two corporations sole. The PCC determined to retain a separate CFO 
(Treasurer) from the Force to ensure independence of financial advice and 
scrutiny. 
 

2.5.3 Having a Treasurer for the Police and Crime Commissioner, separate to the 
force’s Chief Finance Officer: this is the current situation and remains the 
preferred approach. 

 

2.6 The PCC must under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (Act) notify 
the PCP of the preferred candidate for appointment as Treasurer. Schedule 8 of the Act 
states that the PCC must provide the following information:  
a) The name of the person whom the PCC is proposing to appoint;  
b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate and how the candidate 

satisfies these criteria; and  
c) The terms and conditions under which the candidate is to be appointed.  

 
2.7 Also provided for the PCP’s consideration are:  

i) The recruitment, application and interview process; 
ii) Role profile and person specification; 
iii) The criteria used for assessment; 
iv) CV of the preferred candidate.  

 
3. Issues for Consideration 
 
3.1 Advertisement  
 
3.1.1 The Advertisement for a part-time role of CFO identical to the previous role was 

advertised between the 7th September 2021 and the 4th October 2021 on both the West 
Mercia Police and PCC websites; on Total Jobs where it was promoted as a Regional 
Job and Top Job; Indeed, Jora and Glass Door which are all free job websites that pick 
up adverts from elsewhere. 
 

3.1.2 After no suitable applications were received, the post was promoted through the CIPFA 
recruitment service Penna from 11th to 30th November, both for permanent and interim 
applicants. Again, no suitable applications were received. 

 
 

Page 14

Page 18



3.2 Role Profile and Person Specification  
 
3.2.1 The role profile is a key document in the appointment process. It sets out clearly the 

expectations and requirements of the role. This was drafted for the process and 
approved by the PCC, and is attached at Appendix A.  

 
3.3 Selection Process 
 
3.3.1 Attempts to recruit a Treasurer at the current grade part time were not successful, both 

on permanent and interim bases. The PCC therefore determined to restructure the 
Office finance team, delete the supporting Finance Manager post, and create a less-
experienced but full time Treasurer post with commensurate salary. The PCC (and 
Force) Management of Change Policy was followed, so that the Finance Manager was 
notified their post was proposed to be made redundant and that they would be ring-
fenced and invited to apply for the new Treasurer post. 

 
3.3.2 The selection process used was a competitive interview. The interview took place at 

Hindlip Hall, Worcester, on Monday 24th January 2022 and lasted one hour. The 
Interview panel consisted of:  

 John Campion (PCC for West Mercia) 

 Andy Champness (Chief Executive)  

 Bal Kumar-Pearce (West Mercia Police HR Recruitment Specialist) 
 
3.4 Criteria used for selection:  
 
3.4.1 The candidate was asked a set of agreed questions. The questions asked probed the 

candidates’ technical capabilities in the following areas: 

 An awareness of current and future funding issues (Question 1)  

 Experience of Financial Planning (Question 2) 

 Experience of Governance and financial control (Questions 3,6) 

 Experience of Audit (Question 4)  

 Delivering value for money (Questions 5 and 6)  
 
3.4.2 Attached (Appendix B) are the questions asked of the candidates.  
 
3.4.3 Each question was scored against the standard scale used across policing. The 

candidate had to meet or exceed an acceptable standard (at least 3 out of 5 on that 
standard scale on each question).  

 
3.4.4 At the end of this process the Paul Benfield was selected as the preferred candidate. 

References had been obtained for his original appointment as Finance Manager in 2020. 
As he is an internal appointment further references have not been obtained. Please refer 
to Appendix C for his CV. Please note this is a Closed item and not for publication. 

 
3.5 Preferred Candidate – Paul Benfield  
 
3.5.1 As is apparent from his CV, Paul has extensive experience as in the public sector and 

local government. He is a qualified Accountant and member of CIPFA. Whilst he has 
limited experience at the most senior level, he has demonstrated both at interview and 
whilst covering for the vacant Treasurer post over recent months that he is capable of 
fulfilling the role. 

 
 
 
 

Page 15

Page 19



3.6 Terms and Conditions of appointment  
 
3.6.1 The permanent appointment will commence on 7th February 2022.  

 
3.6.2 The Treasurer post is at Grade L (Police Staff Pay Grade). This pay scale starts at 

£68,133 per annum.  
 

3.6.3 The post holder will be eligible to enrol in the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
Expenses and business mileage costs incurred in connection with the role will be 
reimbursed.  

 
4. Supplementary Information 
 
Appendix A – Job description and Person specification  

Appendix B – Interview Questions 

Appendix C – Paul Benfield CV (Exempt Document) 

 

5. Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the PCP considers the PCC’s preferred candidate Mr Paul Benfield for 
the role of Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer) to the PCC. 
 
Contact Points for this report 
 
For the PCC’s office: Andy Champness, Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executive 
andrewchampness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk  
 
For Panel support: Sheena Jones, Democratic Governance and Scrutiny Manager, 
Worcestershire County Council 
Tel: 01905 846011 Sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk 
  

Page 16

Page 20

mailto:andrewchampness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk


 

Appendix A Job Profile and Person Specification 

 

POST TITLE:  

 

Treasurer 

 

GRADE: 

 

L 

DIRECTORATE: 

 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, West Mercia 

 

RESPONSIBLE TO:  

 

Chief Executive 

RESPONSIBLE FOR:  

 

Finance Officers 

 

LOCATION:  

 

Hindlip Hall, Worcester 

 

JOB PURPOSE:  

 

To be the principal advisor to the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) on the preparation of financial strategies to achieve the 
commissioner’s objectives. 
 
To work with the Chief Constable and the Force chief finance 
officer to ensure that the PCC’s strategies are resourced and 
implemented in a timely and cost-effective way. 
 
To ensure that high standards of financial governance and control 
are maintained for all aspects of the Commissioner’s activities. 
 
This is a statutory role and the statutory responsibilities of the 
Treasurer are set out in the following legislation: 

 Paragraph 6 of Schedule 1 Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 

 Sections 112 and 114 Local Government Finance Act 1988. 
 
This role is the Section 151 officer for the PCC. 
 

 

MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES: 

The Treasurer will provide professional advice on financial matters to the PCC, and will: 

1. Be a key member of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Senior Management 
Team, working flexibly as directed by the Chief Executive to implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the PCC’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the public 
interest 

2. Lead on the development of the PCC’s medium term financial plan 

3. Be actively involved in, and able to influence, all strategic business decisions of the 
PCC, ensuring that all the financial implications, opportunities and risks are fully 
considered and align with the PCC’s financial strategy 

4. Ensure sound financial governance in the PCC’s Office (OPCC) and Force, through 
the development of sound financial reporting frameworks and the OPCC risk 
management strategy 

5. Provide advice on the levels of reserves and balances that is in line with good practice 
guidance 

6. Lead the promotion and delivery by the PCC of good financial management so that 
public money is safeguarded and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and 

Page 17

Page 21



effectively, and ensure that the finance function of the OPCC is resourced and fit for 
purpose 

7. Liaise with the force chief finance officer to advise the PCC and Chief Constable on 
value for money in relation to all aspects of PCC and Chief Constable / Force 
expenditure 

8. Ensure that effective monitoring arrangements are in place to retain a clear view on 
how Force budgets are being spent and adhered to throughout the financial year 

9. Ensure publication of the statement of accounts and other external reporting 
requirements of the PCC 

10. Lead on the development of the Treasury Management Strategy 

11. Closely scrutinise force saving plans to ensure that they are delivered 

12. Jointly, with the Force chief finance officer, manage the Internal Audit function and 
support the audit committee; and 

13. Any other responsibilities as required by the Chief Executive 
 

The Treasurer of the PCC is responsible for: 

14. Ensuring that the financial affairs of the PCC are properly administered and all 
financial regulations are observed and kept up to date 

15. Ensuring regularity, propriety, and value for money in the use of public funds 

16. Ensuring that the funding required to finance agreed programmes is available from 
government funding, precept, other contributions and recharges 

17. Reports to the PCC, the Police and Crime Panel, and to the external auditors any 
unlawful, or potentially unlawful, expenditure by the PCC or officers of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 

18. Reporting to the PCC, the Police and Crime Panel, and to the external auditor when it 
appears that expenditure is likely to exceed the resources available to meet that 
expenditure 

19. Advising the PCC on the robustness of the budget and adequacy of financial reserves 

20. Ensuring production of the statements of accounts of the PCC 

21. Ensuring receipt and scrutiny of the statements of accounts of the Chief Constable 
and ensuring production of the group accounts 

22. Liaising with the external auditor 

23. Advising the PCC on the application of value for money principles by the police force 
to support the PCC in holding the Chief Constable to account for efficient and effective 
financial management; and 

24. Advising, in consultation with the Chief Executive, on the safeguarding of assets, 
including risk management and insurance 

 

N.B. The Treasurer of the PCC has certain statutory duties which cannot be delegated, 
namely: reporting any potentially unlawful decisions by the PCC on expenditure, and 
preparing each year, in accordance with proper practices in relation to accounts, a statement 
of the PCC's accounts, including group accounts. The Treasurer is the PCC’s professional 
adviser on financial matters. 

 

Special Conditions:  

 

 This post is politically restricted under the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 (as amended). 

 Travel throughout the West Mercia area and occasional travel 
across England and Wales 
 

Security level:  Management Vetting  

 

  

Page 18

Page 22



PERSON SPECIFICATION  

Knowledge:  

 

Essential: 

 Member of an accountancy body recognised by the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC), qualified through examination.  

 Degree level or equivalent in an area related to public sector policy making or the 
management of resources 

 

Desirable: 

 Knowledge and experience of modern processes for the effective allocation of 
resources 

 

Experience: 

 

Essential: 

 Experience of managing large scale budgets in the public sector 

 Proven negotiation and influencing skills within complex stakeholder relationships 

 Recent direct experience of being involved in designing and monitoring sound and 
effective corporate governance arrangements 

 Experience decision making on complex projects 
 

Desirable: 

 Recent experience within the Policing and Community Safety sector 

 Proven experience of operating at a strategic level in a political and high profile public 
environment 

 Recent experience of working at a strategic level with partner organisations to plan 
and deliver effective services 

 Proven negotiation and influencing skills at a senior level within complex stakeholder 
relationships 

 Experience of large scale financial appraisals  
 

Key Skills:  

 Adhere to international standards set by IFAC on ethics and Continuing Professional 
Development 
 

Author:  Andy Champness, Chief Executive 

Date:  January 7th 2022 

 

  

Page 19

Page 23



Appendix B Selection Interview Questions 
 
 
INTERVIEW QUESTIONS – ISSUES WHICH MAY BE RAISED  
 
Q1: What are the opportunities, challenges and threats to West Mercia from a 
funding formula review?  

 Proposals could have implications, eg a formula which tended to shift resources 
towards urban areas or to increase funding for national or regional entities 

 The Home Office proposals could introduce new methods of needs assessment. 
It is inevitable that this will result in variations compared to what individual PCCs 
receive now.  

 Will there be any transitional arrangements or damping as under the existing 
arrangement?  

 
(supplementary question: What are the features of a good grant system?)  
 
Q2: Explain the approaches you have used for medium term financial planning, 
including any particular good practice 

 Look at least 3 years ahead (preferably 5) 

 Rolling process- years1/2 in detail, years 3+ more flexible  

 Build year 1 directly into the annual budget  

 Review assumptions regularly – not a once a year process  

 Ensure that the financial strategies link to corporate and Police and Crime Plan 
strategies  

 Focus on key variables – grant/pay levels/establishments/turnover/Council tax  

 Sensitivity testing  

 Consult partners and public on priorities  

 Risk assessment and building in contingencies  

 Reserves strategies  

 Summarise results in a form that can be used as the basis for engaging with staff 
and partners in order to update/refine the strategies  

 
Q3: The PCC is committed to improving the quality of delegated financial 
management. What do you see as the key elements of an effective system of cost 
centre management?  

 Cost centres which are relevant to the way that the Force is organised and 
operated  

 Clarity on allocation of direct costs and overheads  

 Good ICT support systems, to enable access to data and interrogation of reports  

 Regular monitoring, with reports tailored for different users  

 Clear rules on delegated authority, freedom to move funds between cost centres, 
and carry forwards  

 Accountability - responsibility for individual cost centres and overall performance  

 Availability of both objective and subjective information  

 
(supplementary question: What are the opportunities, challenges and threats in 
delegated financial management?)  
 

Page 20

Page 24



 
Q4: The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable in West Mercia 
share an Audit Committee. How would you maximise the benefit of that Committee 
to the organisations?  

 Scrutiny and oversight of shared financial controls, being clear about who is 
responsible for what aspects 

 Ensuring both organisations learn from their different approaches to risk 
management 

 Maintaining oversight of standards, recognising the different roles the PCC and 
Chief Constable have 

 
Q5: In line with many Forces, West Mercia has ambitious IT investment plans to 
upgrade and improve IT systems and infrastructure. What are the issues involved 
in tracking and realising the benefits of this investment?  

 Importance of preparing a comprehensive business case  

 What is the improvement designed to achieve? (avoid ICT for ICT’s sake....)  

 What are the alternatives - could existing systems be modified? Does another 
Force already have a system which will do the job?  

 Beware of replicating exactly what existing systems do – specific local features 
may be costly and not essential  

 Establish a base position (financial costs; quality of output) to compare 
alternatives against and to monitor against)  

 Be clear on the quality improvements which are aimed for  

 Identify all upfront costs – staff; consultancy; hardware and software; cost of 
modifying other linked systems  

 Establish a tightly controlled implementation arrangement  

 Ensure regular monitoring of costs and progress  

 Challenge any changes to the specification  

 Challenge extensions to the proposal, or secondary proposals emanating from 
the original which may have costs or other consequences  

 To be in a position to track benefits, the Force must collect information on ‘before 
and after’ positions on running costs (especially staff savings) and quality/output 
measures - increased costs could be more than outweighed by quality 
improvement  

 
Q6: The reason we have good governance is to promote good outcomes for the 
public. Decision making in the PCC/ CC context can be complicated. Set out your 
approach to being effective in this environment. 

 Clarity on the objectives for West Mercia  

o which are regularly updated  

o so that financial decisions are always framed in the current strategic 
context  

 Medium Term Financial Strategies which set out the revenue and capital plans 
for achieving the objectives  

 Clarity in the annual budget on the key components of the strategy 
(establishment levels, major investments etc)  

 Robust financial regulations and protocols designed to give clarity on delegated 
responsibilities, variations, reallocations within budgets, reporting requirements 
etc  

Page 21

Page 25



 Strategic management structures involving the leaderships of the partners (PCC, 
CC, Chief Exec, Treasurer) which provide a permanent and regular basis for 
agreeing objectives, financial plans and individual proposals  

 

Page 22

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



  

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 

 

 

WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
4 FEBRUARY 2022 
 

WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER’S 
PROPOSED PRECEPT AND BUDGET 2022/23 
 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel (PCP) considers the: 
 

(i) West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC’s) Proposed Budget 
2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26; and 

(ii) provides a report to the PCC on the proposed precept, including any 
recommendations, outlining whether it vetoes the precept or not. 

 
Background 

 
1. Each police force area raises extra money to pay for policing activity through 
council tax. This is called the police precept and is included in every council tax bill. 
The level of police precept is set locally every year (in February) by the PCC.  
 
2. Under the provisions of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the 
PCP has a statutory role to review the PCC’s proposed precept level and formally 
respond to it. The Panel is required to submit a formal response to the PCC no later 
than 8 February 2022.  

 
3. The legislation only requires that the Panel ‘respond’ to the proposed precept – 
there is no requirement that the Panel has to either support the precept or veto it; 
therefore, the Panel can choose to only comment on the proposal if it wishes. 
Guidance related to the scrutiny of the precept by Police and Crime Panels is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 
Budget Scrutiny  

 
4. At its meeting on 25 November 2021, the Panel received a Budget Monitoring 
Report from April – September 2021.  The detail of which can be found in the Agenda 
and Minutes. 

 

West Mercia PCC proposed Budget 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022/23 – 2025/26 
 

5. The West Mercia PCC Proposed Budget 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

Consultation  
 
6. The PCC ran a budget consultation as a two stage process. 
 

Page 27

AGENDA ITEM 8Page 29

https://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=3860&Ver=4
https://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=3860&Ver=4


 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 
 

 

7. The first survey ran from 3 December 2021 until 3 January 2022. The purpose of 
this survey was to understand the views of the public on a number of policing issues 
and possible precept scenarios to inform the PCC prior to firming up his draft budget 
proposals for 2022/23. 
 
8. The PCC followed this up by carrying out a second survey, specifically on the 
draft precept and budget proposals. This consultation launched on 7 January 2022 
and ended at 9am on 24 January 2022. A precept proposal, the Proposed Budget 
2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 was published as part 
of the consultation process, along with a short online survey to enable people to 
comment on the proposals being put forward. The Budget Consultation Summary is 
attached at Appendix 3. 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendix 1 - Guidance related to the Scrutiny of the Precept by Police and Crime 
Panels 
Appendix 2 – West Mercia PCC proposed Budget 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 
Appendix 3 - Budget Consultation Summary 2022/23 
 
Contact Points for the Report 
 
Sheena Jones, Democratic, Governance and Scrutiny Manager, Worcestershire County 
Council  
Tel: 01905 844871 
Email: sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Andy Champness, Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executive 
andrew.champness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk 
 

Background Papers 
 
In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Assistant Director for Legal & 
Governance) there are no background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report. 
 
All agendas and minutes are available on the Council's website here. 

Page 28

Page 30

mailto:sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.champness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/democratic-services/minutes-and-agendas.aspx


1 
 

Police and Crime Panels – Scrutiny of Precepts 
 
 
This guidance note explains the process for the police and crime panel’s (PCP) scrutiny 
of the police and crime commissioner’s (PCC) proposed precept and should be read 
alongside: 

 Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”)  

 Part 2 of the Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable 
Appointments) Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”) 

 
A separate guidance note setting out the scrutiny of chief constable appointments has 
been published alongside this guidance note. 
 
Background 
Schedule 5 of the Act sets out the process for issuing a precept, including the panel’s 
role in reviewing the proposed precept, their power to veto the precept and the steps to 
be taken if they do veto the proposed precept.  
 
The Regulations provide greater detail to the Act, including time limits applicable to the 
stages of the process and the process for reviewing and issuing a revised precept.  
 
Schedule 5 requires:  
 the PCC to notify the panel of his/her proposed precept; 
 the panel to review the proposed precept; 
 the panel to make a report to the PCC on the proposed precept (this may include 

recommendations); 
 the panel’s report (if they veto the proposed precept) to include a statement that 

they have vetoed it;  
 a decision of veto to be agreed by two-thirds of the panel members; 
 the PCC to have regard to the report made by the panel (including any 

recommendations in the report);  
 the PCC to give the panel a response to their report (and any such 

recommendations); 
 the PCC to publish the response.  

 
It is for the panel to determine how a response to a report or recommendations is to be 
published.  
 
If there is no veto and the PCC has published his/her response to the panel’s report, the 
PCC may then issue the proposed precept - or a different precept (but only if in 
accordance with a recommendation in the panel’s report to do so). 
 
The Regulations require: 
 the PCC to notify the panel of his/her proposed precept by 1 February;  
 the panel to review and make a report to the PCC on the proposed precept 

(whether it vetoes the precept or not) by 8 February;    
 where the panel vetoes the precept, the PCC to have regard to and respond to 

the Panel’s report, and publish his/her response, including the revised precept, 
by 15 February; 

Page 29

Page 31

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2271/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2271/contents/made
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/police/pcc/pcp-chief-constable-scrutiny


2 
 

The PCP may only veto the first proposed precept. Such a veto must be agreed 

by two-thirds of PCP members (the full membership rather than those present at 

a meeting). Where a veto occurs, the report to the PCC must include a 

statement to that effect. 

 the panel, on receipt of a response from the PCC notifying them of his/her 
revised precept, to review the revised precept and make a second report to the 
PCC by 22 February;   

 the PCC to have regard to and respond to the Panel’s second report and publish 
his/her response, by 1 March.   
 

Panel’s report on the proposed precept 
If the panel fails to report to the PCC by 8 February the scrutiny process comes to an 
end, even if the panel have voted to veto the proposed precept, and the PCC may issue 
the proposed precept.  
 
PCC’s response to a veto 
Where the panel vetoes the proposed precept, the PCC must have regard to the report 
made by the panel, give the panel a response to the report and publish the response, 
by 15 February. In his/her response, the PCC must notify the panel of the revised 
precept that he intends to issue.  
 
Where the panel’s report indicates that they vetoed the precept because it was: 
 too high, the revised precept must be lower than the previously proposed 

precept.  
 too low, the revised precept must be higher than the previously proposed 

precept.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Panel’s review of the revised precept 
On receipt of a response from the PCC notifying them of the revised precept proposal, 
the panel must review the revised precept proposal and make a second report to the 
PCC on the revised precept by 22 February. This report may: 

 indicate whether the panel accepts or rejects the revised precept (although 
rejection does not prevent the PCC from issuing the revised precept); and  

 make recommendations, including recommendations on the precept that should 
be issued.  

 
If the panel fails to make a second report to the PCC by 22 February, the PCC may 
issue the revised precept.  
 
Issuing the precept 
Excluding where the panel fails to report on the proposed precept by 8 February or 
make a second report on the revised precept by 22 February, the scrutiny process ends 
when the PCC gives the panel his/her response to their second report.  
 
The PCC may then: 

 issue the revised precept; or  
 issue a different precept, although: 

Page 30

Page 32



3 
 

 they must not issue a precept that is higher than the revised precept if the 
revised precept was lowered following the panel’s initial report on the first 
proposed precept indicating it was vetoed because it was too high;  

 they must not issue a precept which is lower than the revised precept if 
the revised precept was raised following the panel’s initial report on the 
first proposed precept indicating it was vetoed because it was too low.  
 

Process for PCP scrutiny of PCC’s proposed precept  
 
 
 PCC notifies PCP of 

proposed precept 

PCP reviews precept and 

makes report to PCC  

Veto 

used? 

PCC responds to 

PCP’s report and 

publishes this 

response 

PCC must not issue the 

proposed precept 

PCC responds to 

PCP’s report, including 

his revised precept, 

and publishes this 

PCP makes second 

report to PCC 

PCC responds to PCP’s 

second report and 

publishes this response  

 

PCC issues 

proposed precept or 

different precept 

PCC issues revised 

precept or different 

precept  

By 1       

February  

By 8 

February  

By 15 

February 

By 22 

February  

By 1   

March  

NO  YES  

Page 31

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Budget 2022/23 
 

and  
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26 
  

Page 33

Page 35



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Foreword from the PCC: 
 
This year’s budget delivers on the pledges I made to communities before my re-election in May 

2021, and continues the journey to deliver a Safer West Mercia.  

This budget makes our police more visible and accessible in our communities, gives our police 

the resources they need to focus on key priority crime areas, enables quality investigations to 

bring more offenders to justice, keeps vulnerable people safe, and builds on previous 

investments to stop crime happening in the first place. This will be delivered alongside continual 

reform that will ensure ever greater value for public money. 

Having already invested in almost 400 additional police officers for West Mercia, my budget 

makes good my promise to further increase that figure. 2022/23 will see a further 125 officers 

taken on in West Mercia, taking the force to a total of 2,456. This is the highest establishment 

the force has seen since 2009 and is close to the highest level on record, enabled by what is by 

far the highest budget our area has seen for policing and crime. 

With your investment his year’s budget of £260.5m represents an increase of £15.6m compared 

to last year and is almost £60m more than the budget I first inherited in 2016. That investment 

has been focused to where the public need it most: Frontline policing services that make the 

biggest difference in our communities. 

My mission is to make sure every pound in policing counts. The largest share of this year’s 

investment will ensure more victims get the outcomes they deserve and a greater number of 

offenders are brought to justice. This will have two key benefits. Firstly, safer neighbourhood 

teams will have more time to dedicate to the highly visible and accessible local, community 

policing that is so important to people in West Mercia. Secondly, this extra resource will mean 

more people who fall victim to crimes like domestic abuse or sexual violence receive the 

specialist support they need, when they need it, throughout their experience with the police. It is 

vital that the public have access to the right support, skills and resources from their police force 

to investigate crimes quickly and effectively, with a view to bringing offenders to justice and 

enabling victims to cope and recover. This budget significantly reinforces West Mercia Police’s 

ability to do just that, particularly for those most vulnerable in our communities. 

This year will see a sharpened focus from both myself as Police and Crime Commissioner and 

West Mercia Police on preventing crime from occurring in the first place. I will ensure West 

Mercia Police prioritises more resources towards prevention. I will also directly commission 

more services to provide effective community based prevention programmes, aimed at tackling 

Page 34

Page 36



3 
 

the root causes of crime. Whilst the role of the police will always be to respond to emergencies, 

the clear focus should be to prevent offending and victimisation in the first place. The more this 

can be achieved, the safer our communities will be, and the more demand on our police can be 

reduced. Additional investment this year will focus on additional police officers around county 

lines offending and identifying people with increased vulnerabilities as soon at the earliest 

opportunity. 

Violence against women and girls has been rightly highlighted nationally in a number of 

harrowing recent examples. It is clear that as a whole society there is more work needed to 

address some of our cultural issues and attitudes. I have ensured that the voices of women and 

girls are heard and reflected within this budget. I am investing to make sure we change attitudes 

and behaviours so that everybody can be safe in West Mercia. Whether that is effective action 

to change perpetrator behaviours or additional frontline police officers focused on protecting 

people from harm and bringing offenders to justice. I am also prioritising additional resource into 

force vetting and professional standards, to provide reassurance that the right checks are being 

carried out on all officers, staff and others working with or for the police, to root out any 

individuals not suitable for such a trusted role in our community. 

The roads in Herefordshire, Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin and Worcestershire continue to be a 

significant source of death and serious injury in our communities. I hear clearly and consistently 

from the community that they share my concerns and desire to make our roads safer. I have 

already invested significant extra resource in roads policing officers. This year’s budget builds 

on that by increasing the resources dedicated to direct speeding enforcement on some of our 

area’s more dangerous roads. 

Having started the journey of reform in West Mercia I will continue that in 2022/23, with further 

improvements captured within this year’s budget. Those include new technology to support new 

platforms for reporting crime, new police stations, and new digital solutions to improve 

effectiveness and efficiency in West Mercia Police. All of which will drive best value for public 

money, while ensuring an ever increasing proportion of resources are focused on the frontline 

services communities value most. 

The public has very clearly said that in order to support all of this investment they would back a 

modest increase to their council tax. The impact of Covid-19 continues to be a key economic 

consideration, alongside rising inflation, the need to provide infrastructure for our new police 

recruits, and the costs associated with a major investigation in West Mercia. We must also 

make sure we live within our means and that the progress we make is sustainable. My track 

record as PCC demonstrates my commitment to low tax increases, and that I will always seek to 

achieve the best possible return on investment for our communities. That remains true in this 

budget, ensuring every pound in policing counts. Whilst our communities will be asked to 

contribute a little more for policing, I believe it is very clear where that resource is going, the 

difference it will make, and that the return on investment is very evident.  I will continue to work 

tirelessly to ensure the improvements our communities need and deserve are delivered through 

this year’s budget. 

 
John Campion 

Police and Crime Commissioner, West Mercia 

Page 35

Page 37



4 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 36

Page 38



 

WEST MERCIA BUDGET 2022/23 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2022/23 TO 2024/25 

1. Executive Summary 

This report sets out the proposed budget and precept for decision by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner (PCC). It is the sixth budget report for John Campion since his first election in 

May 2016 and first since his re-election in May 2021. It delivers one of his key responsibilities 

as PCC, under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  

The report sets out the: 

 Net budget requirement for 2022/23 

 Proposed precept for 2022/23 

 Proposed medium term financial plan 2022/23 to 2024/25 

 Outline capital budget 2022/23 to 2026/27 

 The community priorities and service improvements that will be delivered for the public 

as a result of this budget  

It is important to set out the issues that influence and contribute to the build of the budget for 

2022/23 and the medium term financial plan, having taken into consideration the plans of the 

PCC. This budget sets out the allocation of resources to deliver on the objectives in the Police 

and Crime Plan covering the current term of office. As the PCC has been re-elected in May 

2021, he is able to reflect on the knowledge and experience from the previous term in office 

and the outcomes from the plans and targets he set the previous year. The PCC recognises 

the events that have occurred during the year and reviews performance, both achievements 

and development areas, before setting his objectives and plans for the next year.  

In determining his budget proposals the PCC must acknowledge: 

 Priorities within the Safer West Mercia Plan  

 The past and current impact of the global pandemic and its likely effect over the coming 

years    

 National targets and objectives including the officer uplift programme and strategic 

policing requirement 

 The outcome of public consultation 

 Plans and policies of other partner agencies relating to community safety and crime 

reduction 

Page 37

Page 39



6 
 

 Government policy on public spending, as set out by the Chancellor in the Autumn 

Spending Review 2022/23 and subsequent policing provisional grant settlement which 

was issued on 16th December  

 Medium term financial obligations 

 Prudent use of the financial reserves  

 The constant drive for continuous improvement and value for money 

 The development of future collaborative arrangements and the risks involved 

 The major investigation into allegations of manslaughter and corporate manslaughter at 

Shrewsbury and Telford Hospitals NHS Trust. 

 

  

Page 38

Page 40



7 
 

Report of the Treasurer 

Recommendations 

The PCC is recommended to approve: 

a)        A Net Revenue Budget after savings of £260.485m 

b) A contribution of £1.073m is made to reserves 

c) A net budget requirement of £259.412m 

d) A Council Tax for a Band D property at £249.66 

e) A Council Tax for a Band D property calculated as follows:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

f) The consequential Council Tax for each property band will be as follows:  

Band A (6/9th) £166.440000 

Band B (7/9th) £194.180000 

Band C (8/9th) £221.920000 

Band D £249.660000 

 £’m 

Budget Requirement 259.412 

Less: Police Grant  81.292 

Less: Revenue Support Grant 52.115 

Less: Council Tax Support Grant 9.199 

Less: Council Tax Freeze Grant  

2013/14 0.800 

2011/12 1.976 

Sub Total 114.030 

Less: Collection Fund Surplus/(deficit) 0.312 

Amount to be raised by Council Tax 113.718 

Divided by Aggregate Council Tax Base 455490.72 

Basic Amount of Council Tax at Band D £249.66 

   

Page 39

Page 41



8 
 

Band E (11/9th) £305.140000 

Band F (13/9th) £360.620000 

Band G (15/9th) £416.100000 

Band H (18/9th) £499.320000 
 

g) That the Chief Executive to the Office of the PCC for West Mercia be authorised to issue 

Precepts Notices on the West Mercia billing authorities as follows: 

Bromsgrove District Council £9,365,008.74 
 

Herefordshire Council £17,539,244.14 
 

Malvern Hills District Council £8,018,857.00 
 

Redditch Borough Council £6,627,631.65 
 

Shropshire Council £28,832,067.49 
 

Telford and Wrekin Council £13,483,961.84 
 

Worcester City Council £8,120,990.41 
 

Wychavon District Council £13,186,686.68 
 

Wyre Forest Council £8,543,365.20 
 

TOTAL £113,717,813.15 
 

 

h) The reserve strategy set out in section 11. 

i)  The outline capital budget in section 12. 

j) All Officers be instructed to exercise tight budgetary control.  No over-spending of any 

2022/23 departmental budget will be authorised and caution will be exercised in 

entering into expenditure which creates additional commitments in future years.  The 

PCC will be kept fully informed of the financial position throughout the year. 

k) The prudential indicators at Appendix D 

l) In approving the budget, the PCC notes the Treasurer’s comments in section 13 in 

respect of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves. 

m) That the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) be reviewed and revised by 30th 

September 2022. As part of this, the business planning and budget setting process will 

be reviewed and improved. 

n)  Prior to April 2022, the Chief Constable will produce a detailed plan for approval by the 

PCC to deliver the savings set out in this plan  

Page 40

Page 42



9 
 

2. Priorities & challenges facing West Mercia 

2021/22 continued to be dominated by the impact of the global Covid-19 pandemic. At the 

start of the financial year, restrictions were only just starting to ease in areas such as leisure, 

retail, hospitality and personal care. It was not until the 21st June 2021 that all legal limits on 

social contact were removed. The police have continued to respond to changing environments 

and demand, and worked hard to keep people safe. Following a period of comparatively few 

restrictions, at the time of writing we now appear to be on a path towards new and further 

uncertainty following the development of another new, more transmissable, strain of Covid in 

the Omicron variant.  

As a result of the pandemic, the PCC elections were postponed to May 2021 when John 

Campion was re-elected. He was required to produce a Police and Crime Plan which was 

published in December 2021. The Safer West Mercia Plan retains the same central four pillars 

of his plan from his first term of office. However, the new plan has a refreshed focus on 

specific themes, such as violence against women and girls, systems leadership within criminal 

justice and ensuring a stronger voice for victims. West Mercia Police also saw the arrival of a 

new Chief Constable, who joined in September 2021. This change in leadership also brings a 

natural evolution in the direction of the police force. 

Covid-19 

West Mercia Police has continued to face challenges regarding keeping communities safe, 

particularly as over the past year society has faced a number of changes to restrictions as the 

situation surrounding the pandemic has evolved.  

The force has followed the Government’s road map out of lockdown, and played a key role in 

planning and responding to the changes that have been introduced. As restrictions eased, the 

force responded to the opening up of the night time economy in a world that was much more 

aware of violence against women and girls.   

Along with this crime type, the force recognised that, as a result of the country re-emerging 

from lockdown restrictions, general demand would surge with a potential increase in disorder 

and alcohol related anti-social behaviour. The force, in response, implemented Operation 

Navigator in March 2021 across each local policing area and operational policing unit. 

Covid-19 – Organisational and Financial Challenges 

By the start of the financial year in April 2021 communities had been dealing with the impact of 

the pandemic for over 12 months. There was a requirement and expectation for the public 

sector to adjust and plan for the ongoing impact of the pandemic on the delivery of services. 

Certainly new ways of working had been embraced and embedded within the day to day 

workings of West Mercia. As part of the budget setting for 2021/22 there was a recognition 

that cost increases were likely to continue, such as the purchase of standard PPE equipment, 

and investment in laptops and other mobile devices to allow for flexible working models.  

Crime patterns and demand 

Page 41

Page 43



10 
 

Partially as a result of Covid, there was a significant reduction in recorded crime in 2020/21 – 

both in West Mercia and nationally. However, as anticipated, total recorded crime increased 

by 14% year-to-month (April to November) compared to the same period in the previous year. 

Despite the increase, total recorded crime this year remains below volumes seen before the 

pandemic. 

Volumes of traditional, acquisitive crime, such as robbery, theft from person, vehicle offences 

and shoplifting, remain considerably lower than before the pandemic. Significant reductions 

were also seen for residential and business burglaries this year compared to the previous 

year. 

In contrast, a smaller number of crimes have seen significant increases following the easing of 

lockdown restrictions. Violence without injury, rape, other sexual offences and public order all 

exceeded the volumes recorded in 2019/20. Demand around these is replicated nationally, 

indicating these are societal factors, rather than issues that are unique to West Mercia. 

There was a 58% increase in homicide offences in West Mercia last year. While that increase 

was starting from a low base, the rate of homicides per 1,000 population in West Mercia 

exceeded rates across most similar forces and nationally. Domestic abuse accounted for a 

significant proportion of these offences. 

Whilst the force continues to tackle the issues of serious violence across a number of 

strategies, the increase in homicides has been sustained with 11 offences reported between 

April – November 2021.  The PCC continues to focus resources, and scrutiny, to ensure this 

highly impactive crime is reduced. 

As a result of the volume and complexity of major investigations (including homicides) across 

the force, the level of demand placed across the whole of West Mercia Police is significant. 

Through Operation Navigator, the force set local policing areas with the task of providing a 

bespoke lockdown easing plan that took into account the demographics of their areas. These 

plans also needed to consider wider concerns such as the safety of women and girls in public 

spaces. 

Operation Lincoln 

To ensure justice and answers for victims and their families, the PCC allocated significant 

resources to support the investigation into the standards of maternity care at Shrewsbury and 

Telford Hospitals Trust. By its nature, it is a complex investigation that will need to consider 

large volumes of material over many years. Therefore it will be of significant size and longevity 

and, whilst a special grant from the Government has been secured, this will not cover all the 

costs that will have to be met. Builiding on the current budget, a considerable sum will be 

required from local budgets over a number of years in order to ensure the investigation that 

our community requires.  

Alliance – further support to Warwickshire Police 

From 1st October 2021, the arrangements for providing IT support to Warwickshire Police were 

finalised. West Mercia now hosts a range of IT services for Warwickshire on a temporary 

Page 42

Page 44



11 
 

basis, with this expecting to run until 2023. This is to ensure key services in Warwickshire are 

maintained until the transition is completed. All of the services are being paid for by 

Warwickshire in full, with all of other central aspects of the old alliance arrangements now 

concluded. 

Plans that West Mercia has in place around improving digital services for its police officers and 

the communities they serve have been frustrated to an extent by this continued requirement to 

support the neighbouring force, but doing so was deemed the right thing to do for wider public 

service, on the basis that both parties have clearly stated their intent to migrate to fully 

standalone services as soon as possible. 

Delivery of 2021/22 objectives – what has been achieved 

The PCC has prioritied investment to ensure West Mercia Police has the resources it needs to 

effectively respond to the demands and challenges our community continues to face.  The 

central tenet of this work is to modernise West Mercia Police, backing them with the tools they 

need to keep us safe, whilst allocating further resources to enhance victim services and 

preventative work. 

As a result of working with the Chief Constable, the PCC has delivered the following in support 

of his Safer West Mercia Plan:  

 The Local Policing Community Charter was launched in March 2021, a document that 

outlines the force’s ongoing commitment to improving local policing and the concerns of 

communities. The Charter sets out six key themes: visibility and accessibility of 

neighbourhood policing teams; responding to our communities; prevention; vulnerability; 

relationships; and partnerships.  

 The addition of 91 extra police officer posts in the 2021/22 budget to meet the challenges 

of increasing demand and the changing nature of crime giving greater visibility, capacity 

and resilience. This took the total uplift since the PCC’s election to almost 400. 

 Neighbourhood Matters, the new online communication tool, launched in July with the aim 

of local policing areas using it to communicate with their respective residents. 

Approximately 20-30 messages are sent out daily with relevant community information.  

 Major investments have been made in modernising West Mercia Police, enabling it to be a 

more effective and efficient digital organisation. Much of this work continues behind the 

scenes, improving the infrastructure and systems that police rely on daily to carry out their 

vital work. This is part of a long term plan to enable the police force to provide even better 

services to local communities.  

 As part of the commitment to use alternative channels to report non-emergency incidents, 

and increase the accessibility for communities, the force launched the Digital Desk. In 

November 2021 it was reported that the Public Contact team had assessed over 12,000 

social media interactions and engaged in nearly 3,000 conversations.  The PCC remains 

committed to ensuring the public have access to their police force, including via 

innovations such as digital front counters. 

Page 43

Page 45



12 
 

 Over 1,000 frontline officers and staff received specialist domestic abuse training, with the 

training being mandatory for student officers.  

 The Digital Forensics Transformation, whilst in the early phase of the three year 

programme, has already delivered 50% of the ‘on-scene’ team which includes a focus on 

child abuse and child sexual exploitation. The project delivers improved services for 

victims and communities.   

 The good working relationships with voluntary and charitable bodies that provide 

commissioned services, funded by the PCC, enabled him to swiftly identify those 

organisations requiring additional financial support to maintain services to the vulnerable. 

The PCC was also able to submit successful bids for additional funds to central 

government to expand these key services, as a result of this £2.137m was secured. 

These developments gave West Mercia Police not just the resilience to continue to provide 

services to their residents and communities, but the ability to respond effectively to dynamic 

threats and challenges that affected the communities of West Mercia.  

It is recognised that there are a number of key areas where maximising efficiency and 

effectiveness is still required. This includes the police estate, vehicle fleet, digital services, 

public contact and quality of investigations – hence some of the investments set out in this 

budget.  

3. The 2022/23 Budget - Listening to and Representing Community Voices 

As part of the PCC’s ongoing commitment to seek feedback from communities and use it to 

shape his decision making, he sought views from the public to ensure that policing in West 

Mercia continues to meet the needs of residents, businesses and communities. 

The consultation on this year’s budget took place ahead of the official budget setting, in order 

to understand where concerns lie. The first consultation period ran from 3rd December 2021 to 

3rd January 2022. This was the largest single programme of engagement this year, alongside 

the quarterly confidence survey. 

The PCC wanted to understand what the key areas of concerns were where people live, if 

people were willing to pay more in council tax, and if so where would they like the focus, as 

well as general views towards the council tax precept.  

In total, 1,412 responses were received from the consultation, giving a 95% confidence level 

with a 3% confidence interval. 

The key findings are shown below: 

Top issues 

 The top three issues/priorities selected were: anti-social behaviour, visibility and 

accessibility of police officers and road safety (including speeding) 

Page 44

Page 46



13 
 

 If asked to pay more for policing, respondents said they would like to see the focus 

on directing additional police officers to the frontline and investigating and resolving 

crime 

 When asked how accessible West Mercia Police are, 50% respondents think they 

are somewhat accessible 

 The majority of respondents think that West Mercia Police are rarely visible (45%) 

 The majority of respondents supported an increase in resources dedicated to 

investigating crime (95%) 

Council tax 

 69% of respondents said they would be willing to pay more council tax if it were 

targeted to delivering a better service for communities. Of those that said yes, 52% 

supported an increase of £8-10 per year 

The feedback above was used and incorporated into the draft budget prepared by the PCC in 

January 2022.  

 

A further round of consultation was undertaken across two weeks in January. This received a 

much lower level of engagement (246 responses). The majority of respondents were against 

the PCC’s specific budget proposals. 

4. Funding The Safer West Mercia Plan 2021 - 2025 

Following his re-election in May 2021, the PCC set out a new Police and Crime Plan. His plan 

was subject to extensive consultation with the public and partners, and has now been finalised 

and implemented. 

It is an evolution of the PCC’s previous Safer West Mercia Plan, and follows the same core 

pillars as its predecessor: 

 Putting victims and survivors first 

 Building a more secure West Mercia 

 Reforming West Mercia 

 Reassuring West Mercia’s communities 

 

Page 45

Page 47



14 
 

 
 

 

 

To help achieve these objectives, the PCC’s budget for 2022/23 and medium term financial 

plan will enable and support the following improvements: 

 

Putting Victims and Survivors First 

 The introduction of a new vulnerability desk, to identify people with significant 

vulnerabilities at the earliest possible opportunity, and ensure they get the 

support they need from the police force and other partners 

 Ensure an improved journey for victims, with greater continuity and support 

through the uplift of dedicated, specialist investigative resources 

 Further increases to budgets to provide services in support of victims and 

survivors 

 

Page 46

Page 48



15 
 

Build a More Secure West Mercia 

 Increase West Mercia’s establishment officers to 2,456, to improve community 

visibility and responses to crime 

 Additional resources dedicated to investigating the crimes that cause the most 

harm in society, such as homicide, sexual violence and domestic abuse, and 

achieving the best possible outcomes 

 Backing the force with the resources needed in order to bring criminals to 

justice 

 Commit further resources to safeguarding the most vulnerable people in our 

communities through the police force’s Public Protection function 

 More police officers dedicated to tackling county lines drug dealing, with a focus 

on protecting young people from criminal exploitation. 

 Additional officers in the Economic Crime Unit, to improve the response to fraud 

and financial crime, and deliver better services for victims 

 

Reform West Mercia 

 Deliver a further increase in the proportion of total resources dedicated to 

frontline policing in West Mercia’s communities, making sure every penny 

counts 

 West Mercia will adopt a renewed and enhanced focus on preventing crime 

from occurring in the first place. This will include new police resources and 

enhanced capacity for community policing in Safer Neighbourhood Teams. 

 Further £1 million investment in effective crime prevention  

 Increased investment in alternative and more convenient digital crime reporting 

methods. Providing more contact options that reflect 21st century life including 

digital front counters - making the police force more accessible to the 

community it serves 

 Supporting West Mercia’s officers with improved training and development to 

deliver the best possible services to the public 

 Delivery of a new West Mercia estates strategy. Ensuring police buildings are 

environmentally friendly, fit for purpose and deliver for both the police force and 

the community. This is to include a new fit-for-purpose joint police and fire 

station in Redditch 

 Driving further value and efficiency from West Mercia’s fleet. Including the 

continued investment in electrification where appropriate, to reduce the carbon 

footprint from policing. 

 Deliver new digital infrastructure to support more effective and efficient working 

practices across policing. 

 

Reassure West Mercia’s Communities 

 Ensure the addtional officer uplift delivers enhanced police visibility and 

accessibility, ensuring community priorities are heard and addressed 

Page 47

Page 49



16 
 

 Continue to monitor delivery of improvements for the community, via West 

Mercia’s Local Policing Community Charter 

 Increase resources dedicated to tackling speeding amd high harm routes and in 

areas of key community concern, with the intent of reducing the number of 

people killed or seriously injured. 

 Further investment will be made in tackling violence against women and girls 

from within policing, through West Mercia’s Professional Standards 

Department. This will provide reassurance that all police officers and staff have 

the integrity, legitimacy and levels of conduct that the public expect from such a 

trusted role 

 

The PCC has continued to spearhead reform within West Mercia Police to ensure it is a 

modern, fit for purpose organisation, delivering high quality policing services. He has 

prioritised the best use of the funds available to him and focused on implementing efficiency 

programmes and maximising the benefit to the public. In a review undertaken in May 2016, 

budget efficiencies of £10.7m were identified following significant underspends which occurred 

in 2015/16 and previous years. In 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 recurring efficiencies of 

£14.3m have been achieved. In 2021/22 the Force developed a detailed savings plan to 

achieve savings of £4.2m and is monitoring this closely. As a result of this focus West Mercia 

Police now sets a balanced budget, and is not reliant on reserves to balance its books 

ensuring its sustainability into the future. 

Further efficiencies will need to be identified by West Mercia Police to ensure ever greater 

value for money, maintaining a balanced budget and the most efficient and effective policing. 

5. The Economic Context 

The Economic Environment 

On 27 October 2021, Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the outcome of the 2021 

comprehensive spending review (SR21) alongside his Autumn Budget 2021 (AB21).  The 

SR21 is a 3 year spending review and sets out public spending totals for the financial years 

2022/23 to 2024/25. In previous years economic uncertainty due to Brexit and then the impact 

of Covid-19 meant that the government opted for single year ‘roll-over’ settlements. This 

Spending review marks a return to Treasury planning over the medium term and sets out 

resource (revenue) and capital Departmental Expenditure Limits (DELs) for each Government 

department.  

The pandemic has prompted an unprecedented peacetime fiscal expansion. Relative to pre-

pandemic plans, £229bn of public spending was added in 2020/21 alone, as the Government 

responded to the increased pressures on the health services and provided support to 

households and businesses while activity was constrained. As of July 2021, the UK had 

offered higher levels of discretionary fiscal support than 14 of 20 other advanced economies.  

Alongside the SR21 and AB21, the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) released its 

Economic and Fiscal Outlook at the end of November 2021. GDP fell by 9.9% in 2020, the 

Page 48

Page 50



17 
 

largest annual fall since 1709 due to the impact of Covid. Amid unusually high levels of 

uncertainty, the OBR forecasts that GDP will rise by 6.5% in 2021. As the economy has 

ramped up, forecasts for CPI have risen in the short term to a 2022 peak of 4.0%. There have 

been significant increases in prices in energy, shortages of resources and materials as well 

impact of labour availability which have all contributed to increased prices for households. CPI 

is expected to settle to around 2% (the government’s target) by 2024, with predictions that in 

the medium term rising prices will continue to be a pressure for household budgets. 

The OBR’s prediction is that national wages and salaries are expected to recover significantly 

in 2021 and 2022 with 5.2% and 4.6% increases. 

Due to the pandemic, Public Sector Net Debt (PSND) was expected to be greater than GDP in 

2020-21 (100.2%) however these figures have been revised down to 96.6% in 2020/21 and a 

peak of 98.2% of GDP in 2021/22. Borrowing in the first half of 2020/21 was lower than 

expected and could be £50bn lower this year due to lower furlough costs and higher tax 

receipts. Updated forecasts suggest that Public Sector Net Borrowing (PSNB) will fall to less 

than 2% of GDP by 2024/25. 

The 2021 Spending Review announcements 

During his speech, the Chancellor said that the Budget “delivers a stronger economy for the 
British people, stronger growth with the UK recovering faster than our major competitors, 
stronger public finances with our debt under control, stronger employment with fewer people 
out of work”.  

The public sector pay freeze will end in 2022 and will return to a negotiated pay award. 
However there are increases in the minimum wage that can be paid by employers from the 1st 
April 2022 

Wage    Increase Amount Age group 
National Living Wage 6.6%   £9.50   23 and over 
Minimum Wage  9.8%  £9.18  21 – 22 
Minimum Wage  4.1%  £6.83   18 – 20 
Minimum Wage  4.1%  £4.81  16 - 17 
Apprentice rate  11.9%  £4.81  apprentices 

 

As announced at Spending Review 20, in April 2021, the personal allowance was increased to 
£12,570 and the higher rate threshold was increased to £50,270. It was intended to stay at 
these rates until April 2026, a measure in place to help reduce the national debt.  

On 7 September, Boris Johnson unveiled the Government’s plans to “fix” the ailing social care 
system. Primarily, this included a 1.25% increase in national insurance, from April 2022 ring-
fenced for health and social care. 

The Headlines from the Chancellors SR21 impacting on Policing and Crime are 

 The Home Office settlement provides £4.2bn additional resources over the Parliament 
term from 2019/20 (£12.3bn) to 2024/25 (£16.5bn). In total the Home Office has a 
budget of £14.6bn for 2021/22. This is equivalent to a real-terms growth rate of 1.9% a 
year on average over the SR21 period.  

Page 49

Page 51



18 
 

 An additional sum of £540m will be given to police to complete the recruitment of the 
final 8,000 officers of the additional 20,000 officers target by March 2023. This would 
bring the total number of officers to a total of 148,000. 

 An additional £42m will be given to the police for new programmes that reduce crime 
and drugs misuse. This is expected to be in addition to the £108m for existing 
programmes such as the Safer Street Fund and more enforcement to tackle drug 
misuse through the County Lines Programme 

 £125m resource funding in 2022/23 as well as £121m capital funding for the 
Emergency Service Mobile Communications Programme.  

There were also announcements for the Justice department, which impacts on policing.  

 An additional £644m a year by 2024/25 will be made available for courts, prisons and 
probation services to “manage more offenders being brought to justice” 

 £477m will be made available to fund the justice system’s recovery from COVID-19. A 
further £324m will be made available to increase the capacity in the civil, family and 
tribunal jurisdictions to continue tackling the backlogs 

 Money for victim’s support services will be increasing to over £185m by 2024/25, an 
uplift of 85% from 2019/20 

 An extra £80m cash increase by 2024/25 to ensure that the CPS can continue to 
support the work of the 20,000 additional police officers 

Setting of Council Tax 

The settlement provides PCCs in England and Wales with the flexibility to increase funding in 
each year of the SR21 period with a £10.00 council tax referendum limit. If all PCCs in 
England and Wales were to take full advantage of this flexibility, this would raise up to an 
additional £774m by 2024/25 based on current forecasts.  

In regard to the tax base, the Treasury prediction is that there will be a 1.1% increase in 

2022/23 in England, peaking at an additional 1.5% increase in 2023/34 before falling to zero 

by 2026/27. 

West Mercia Within the Wider Economic Environment 

It was generally accepted that the Chancellor faced a difficult balancing act of dealing with the 

pressures on public finances while also supporting families and businesses that were hit hard 

by the coronavirus pandemic. The announcements in the SR21 have provided a more 

optimistic financial environment than expected and the increases in departmental funding are 

welcomed, however significant budget pressures exist within West Mercia from pay and non-

pay inflation combined with the need to invest in services so that they are fit for purpose.  

The 2022/23 budget, the Medium Term Financial Plan and the Capital Programme aims to 

balance out the investment the Chancellor has made in more Police officers and in 

programmes such as safer streets, against the pressures of inflation and the need to invest in 

our infrastructure to provide policing services. The PCC is conscious that any council tax 

increases must be justified and provide assurance to households, which are facing squeeze 

on their own finances, that they are receiving a better service.  

Page 50

Page 52



19 
 

To achieve this the Chief Constable has undertaken a detailed review of all budgets and 

followed a Priority Based Planning (PBP) process. The process undertakes an extensive 

review of all the force’s services and the resources applied to delivering those services. This 

review has used a tried and tested methodology involving managers, officers and staff at all 

levels of the organisation, directed by a Chief Officer. The process enables a balanced budget 

to be set within the resources available. It sets out the service levels to be optimised and 

invested in, sets out the expected increases in demand in services and the provides a clear 

options appraisals of efficiencies that are available to ensure the budget is balanced.The Chief 

Constable’s detailed plan to deliver a balanced budget will be finalised over the coming weeks 

and presented to the PCC for his consideration. The agreed plan will be monitored closely and 

regularly throughout the year. It should be noted that any future unexpected pressures (not 

included in the budget) will need to be accommodated within the existing budgets (i.e. from 

underspends or efficiencies). In addition there is the risk that future pay and price inflation may 

prove higher than estimated. The PCC is clear that he expects the force to continue its 

transformation journey, with a focus on improving efficiency and effectiveness, and providing 

the very best service possible to local communities. 

Other policing and community safety partners also face the challenge of delivering significant 

efficiencies over the coming years. Given the issues already outlined regarding demand, it is 

clear that services can only be improved or maintained if that demand reduces. This is a key 

focus of the PCC. The impact and potential benefit of additional investments in diversionary, or 

intervention projects will continue to be explored. As a minimum, existing investments in 

evidence-led initiatives to tackle the root causes of crime and anti-social behaviour will be 

protected. As part of this commitment, the PCC will be allocating funding for commissioning 

projects that work to divert people away from crime or prevent crime from happening in the 

first place. Investing in initiatives that could be seen to be linked to crime going down are key, 

and provide a much cheaper option than dealing with the crime after it has happened.  

This preventative work, coupled with the continued investment in the transformation 

programme and the benefits it will generate, will enable the PCC to keep council tax increases 

to the minimum necessary to deliver a safer West Mercia. However, there is pressure on 

council tax to continue to rise in future years because of the unavoidable pressures police 

forces face. These include inflation, the changing nature of crime and increasing costs.  

6. The Priorities and challenges in 2022/23 

The PCC moved West Mercia to a sustainable, balanced budget in his previous term, which 

means the force is now living within its means, with reserves only being used on non-recurring 

expenditure. 

This financial discipline is important as it brings stability and places West Mercia Police in a 

strong position to deal with financial challenges in 2022/23 and beyond. These will include 

budget pressures through increased price and pay inflation, and the ongoing costs of 

transforming and modernising policing. This budget continues the PCC’s commitment of 

strong financial stewardship on behalf of the public of West Mercia ensuring every penny 

counts in policing.  

Page 51

Page 53



20 
 

In the coming year, existing policing capabilities and capacity will be further developed in 

response to the challenges set out previously, both in respect of operational policing and 

transformation. The PCC will continue to hold the Chief Constable to account to ensure the 

officers, staff and resources she has at her disposal are used effectively to fight crime, 

respond to emerging threats and pressures, and ensure communities both are safe and feel 

safe. 

The PCC is clear and consistent in his commitment to the public around prioritising investment 

towards the frontline policing services communities value most. To ensure that people have 

access to and visibility of policing when they need it and to ensure crimes are investigated and 

resolved.  

Increase in Police Officers  

The PCC’s 2022/23 budget includes the provision to increase West Mercia’s establishment by 

an additional 125 officers, which will take the establishment up to 2,456 police officers. This 

represents the highest number of officers the force has seen since 2009 and is very close to 

the highest level seen on record in West Mercia.  

The table below demonstrates where those additional officers will be allocated across policing 

services in West Mercia based on the operational view of the Chief Constable, having had due 

regard to the Safer West Mercia Plan and to meet the demands of the Force Operating Model. 

 

Policing Activity 
Additional Officer 

Allocation 
2022/23 

Local Investigations 55 

Safer Neighbourhood Teams 15 

Major Investigations 13 

Regional Organised Crime 7 

Safeguarding  5 

Public Contact 3 

Vulnerability 6 

Learning & Development 12 

Professional Standards 
Department 

5 

Other allocations 4 

Total 125 

 

The largest single additional investment in this budget is on an additional 55 officers in Local 

Investigations. 40 of which are to directly increase the capacity of the team and to reinforce 

police investigations at a cost of £1.043m in 2022/23. This investment is intended to ensure 

that specialist resources maintain and retain ownership of more local investigations, ensuring 

the best possible service to victims of crime and freeing up Safer Neighbourhood Teams to 

Page 52

Page 54



21 
 

spend more time on the most visible, accessible community policing that the public value so 

much. The investment in specific resource for investigation of crime will mean more people 

who fall victim to crimes like domestic or sexual violence receive the specialist support they 

need, when they need it, throughout their experience with the police. It is vital that the public 

have access to the right support, skills and resources from their police force to investigate 

crimes quickly and effectively, with a view to bringing offenders to justice and enabling victims 

to cope and recover. 

Whilst this is the largest individual investment the PCC is making for 2022/23, it is part of a 

wider strategy to deliver a budget that supports the commitments made in the Safer West 

Mercia Plan, whilst also ensuring the Chief Constable has the resources to ensure that the 

police force is operationally effective.  

The core of this budget delivers on the PCC’s key priorities around accessibility & visibility, 

crime prevention & supporting victims and crime reduction. 

The PCC will closely monitor and support the force during 2022/23 to ensure the further uplift 

in officers is achieved and the enhanced benefits to the community start to be delivered at the 

earliest opportunity. 

Accessibility and Visibility  

Since the PCC’s first election in 2016, he has arrested and reversed the trajectory of declining 

officer numbers, and added around 400 additional police officer posts to West Mercia’s 

establishment.  

As already highlighted the investment in Local Investigations will ensure that the Safer 

Neighbourhood Teams will be able to focus more time on community policing. This will be 

reinforced by a direct increase to dedicated safer neighbourhood policing numbers. Also as 

the training of additional officers, recruited since 2019, is completed they will be spending an 

increasing amount of their time resourced into their roles out in the community. This will 

ensure that Safer Neighbourhood Teams are subject to fewer abstractions, and able to 

provide more of the visible, accessible community policing the public want to see. In addition 

to these officers, the Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) will continue to play a 

prominent role in supporting neighbourhood policing. The PCC has continued to prioritise 

these posts throughout a number of years when challenging decisions have had to be made in 

delivering a balanced budget.  

The safer neighbourhood teams have been set up to deliver on West Mercia’s Local Policing 

Charter. This charter is a commitment by the Chief Constable as to how the force will deliver 

against key community priorities such as anti-social behaviour, road safety and police visibility. 

Launched in April 2021, it provides a framework and metrics for the PCC to be able to hold the 

police to account going forward to ensure these improvements are delivered on behalf of the 

public. It provides transparency and reassurance for local communities who will be able to see 

progress against these commitments.  This charter is now in its second year and the PCC has 

clearly set out his expectation that improvements against the metrics in the charter are 

delivered, proportionate to the further uplift in police resources. The principles in the Local 

Policing Community Charter are: 

Page 53

Page 55



22 
 

 

 Visibility and Accessibility: Ensuring West Mercia’s communities get the visibility and 
accessibility that they need and reasonably expect from their police force. West Mercia 
Police will, both as a force and within local policing teams, build and maintain excellent 
relationships with the communities it serves through positive, pro-active engagement.  
Precise methods of visibility and accessibility will always be aligned to community 
needs, priorities and expectations, and will be effective in increasing public confidence. 

 Response:  West Mercia Police will constantly seek and be demonstrably responsive 
to community feedback and intelligence. The police force will make best possible use of 
all available resources to understand communities and the issues affecting them, and 
ensure activity is aligned to most effectively addressing these issues, both pro-actively 
and on a reactive basis. The police will make sure local communities are informed 
about and understand the work they are doing on their behalf. 

 Prevention: The prevention of crime and harm will be embedded in everything West 
Mercia Police do. Our local teams will work with communities to prevent harm through 
consistent collaborative problem solving approach.  

 Vulnerability:  West Mercia Police will focus on vulnerability, targeting our response 
and resources at communities where the risk of harm is greatest which will be 
enhanced by the recent investment in ‘Early Help and Problem Solving officer. We will 
facilitate the early identification of and intervention to mitigate harm for the most 
vulnerable people in West Mercia.  

 Relationships: All police officers and staff will work to build strong relationships with 
communities and increase public confidence, drawing on the collective strengths to 
prevent and address problems. West Mercia Police will capitalise on the strength in our 
communities and involve citizens to make communities safer and stronger (Volunteers; 
Special Constabulary; Street Safe; Community Speed Watch, etc. 

 Partnerships: West Mercia Police will work with other local agencies to understand 
communities, the issues they face and develop effective and collective problem solving 
interventions. West Mercia Police will be able to demonstrate the values of its effective 
partnerships and the benefits realised for the community. 

There is also a recognition that more needs to be done to improve contact with the public. A 

new vulnerability desk is being set up in the Operations Communications Centre which will 

identify and support the most vulnerable people coming into contact with police, at the earliest 

possible opportunity. The skilled and experienced officers taking up these posts will be able to 

identify those that need additional support no matter what the reason that they have for 

contacting the police. By engaging with other agencies there is an expectation that recent 

examples of missed opportunities to protect vulnerable people from serious harm can be 

identified and resolved.  

The PCC will also support investment in the force’s digital channels for public contact. Building 

on his commitment to introduce digital front counters in West Mercia, he will also support 

further investments that will support reporting of crime through social media and other digital 

channels, along with the resources to monitor and respond to these reports. This change is 

intended to make the police both more accessible and more convenient for people to contact 

when they need to, by more closely reflecting the way that society is communicating and 

interacting overall. This investment will also enable the shift of demand away from the 101 call 

Page 54

Page 56



23 
 

service, enabling improvements to services for callers. The PCC is clear however that 

appropriate resources must still be committed to the non-emergency phone line to deliver the 

right levels of service to the community. 

Prevention and support for victims  

Violence against women and girls has been highlighted nationally in a number of harrowing 

recent examples. Whilst it is clear that more work needs to be done in this area of crime, it is a 

societal issue and not down to one organisation or body to solve. 

A great amount of work needs to be done to address cultural issues and attitudes, be that 

within the police force or across communities. Therefore, a large part of prevention falls to 

education. The communities of West Mercia are not immune from these issues and while 

significant investments have been made by the PCC in recent years to tackle violence and 

personal safety, this work will be further supported and enhanced by a range of additional 

investments this year. These will be focused on effectively preventing offending, changing 

perpetrator behaviours, driving greater education, directing additional resources to the 

frontline, funding safety measures, and providing greater reassurance for both the public and 

the force around police employees. 

The PCC will prioritise additional resource into force vetting and professional standards, to 

provide reassurance to all parties that the right checks are being carried out on all police 

officers and staff, and to root out any individuals not suitable for the profession. Also by 

investing resources in Learning and Development there will be the increased capacity to 

provide training to officers throughout there careers to ensure that they remain agile and able 

to respond to changing policing challenges and ensure that West Mercia are an inclusive 

organisation with strong focus on equality and fairness.  

The safety of women and girls within the wider community is not just a policing issue. More 

engagement will be carried out with both partners and communities to make sure the issues 

are better understood and get the focus they require. This engagement will also help ensure 

the right skills and training for police in dealing with incidents, as well as the availability of the 

right sort of support services for victims. There is a shared intent between the PCC and the 

Chief Constable to develop a joint approach to affect fundamental change. 

Crime Reduction  

The investment already identified in local investigations will have a significant impact on the 

ability of the force to identify those that commit crime and bring them to justice.  

The PCC is also supporting investment in additional officers into the Major Investigation and 

Economic Crime Units. This additional investment 2022/23 will ensure that the resources are 

in place to effectively deal with those most serious crime. While we are fortunate that these 

incidents are not as prevalent in West Mercia as other areas of the country, it is vital that when 

these offences do happen locally, that the police have the right level of skills, experience and 

resources to call upon and keep people safe.  

Further officers will also be prioritised towards county lines drug dealing, particularly around 

young people caught up in and exploited by this sort of criminality. Again, whilst West Mercia 

Page 55

Page 57



24 
 

remains a comparatively safe place to live, it is clear that county lines is an issue here, the 

same as every other part of the country. This additional investment will focus on identifying 

and diverting vulnerable young people away from this sort of offending and starting a life of 

crime. This in turn will frustrate and thwart the drug dealers, whose operations so frequently 

rely on the use of vulnerable young people.  

Community policing will continue to be led by dedicated and reinforced local policing teams in 

each of the force’s five local policing areas. These teams undertake a wide range of 

community policing functions and account for approx. 40% of West Mercia’s total policing 

spend in 2022/23. This is a significantly higher proportion of spend than five years ago, 

demonstrating the PCC’s commitment to visible, effective neighbourhood policing. It gives the 

Force the resources to work with communities to tackle the issues that the public have said 

matter most to them, such as anti-social behaviour and speeding.  

The force’s Operations Communications Centre, which is so often the first point of access into 

the police force for the public is also included within the local policing portfolio. 

Reducing Harm on our Roads 

The biggest single issue around death and serious injury in West Mercia’s communities 

continues to be our road network. As a predominantly rural area we continue to see a 

disproportionately large amount of harm caused on our roads. It is clear that communities 

share the PCC’s concerns about this, as well as his appetite to improve the situation and keep 

people safe. Whilst other partners will also have to play their parts in delivering improvements, 

this budget supports the ongoing commitment from the PCC, who added a further 19 roads 

policing officers last year, with further resources to directly tackle speeding in communities . 

Additional money for this work is provisionally allocated in this budget, with final confirmation 

subject to business case from West Mercia Police and approval by the PCC. Money raised 

from enforcement is ringfenced for reinvestment into road safety. 

Investing in Frontline Policing 

Having started the journey of reform in West Mercia in 2016, the PCC will continue this 

ongoing commitment in 2022/23, with further improvements captured within this year’s budget. 

These include new digital reporting technology previously set out, new police stations, and 

new digital solutions to improve effectiveness and efficiency in the police force. These include 

the rollout of new office systems to enable more options and better efficiency around 

engagement, both within the organisation and externally. All of which will drive best value for 

public money, while ensuring an ever increasing proportion of resources can be focused on 

the frontline services communities value most.  

The addition of further officers as part of commitments from both the Government and the 

PCC comes with additional organisational challenges for West Mercia Police. While the 

increased establishment is clearly welcome and beneficial, the infrastructure requirements that 

come with more officers need to be paid for and are reflected in this budget. These include 

associated kit and technology such as radios, body cams, laptops, uniforms and phones. It 

also includes ensuring a fit for purpose police estate and fleet of vehicles, which enable the 

Page 56

Page 58



25 
 

force to deliver the best possible services to the public, whilst simultaneously being delivered 

in a sustainable way and achieving best value to the public.  

Additional investment in learning and development is intended to ensure the best possible 

training and ongoing development for the police force. West Mercia’s officers and staff, new 

and old alike, need to be appropriately trained and skilled to deliver the most effective service 

to the public.  

Fit for purpose police estate 

West Mercia’s estates service has been successfully remodelled and moved back to an in-

house provision within the Office of the PCC. The service is now in a position to drive progress 

and offer the right support to the police force in the coming years to enable and complement 

the force’s strategies and operating models. This budget reflects that, with further significant 

capital investment in police estates, both in 2022/23 and beyond. Plans for a new joint Police 

& Fire station in Redditch are well developed with expectation that it will be open in April 2024. 

Plans are also in development around a new Northern Hub. 

A revised Estates Strategy will be implemented during 2022/23. This new arrangement and 

strategy will also deliver financial benefits for West Mercia’s communities, which again will 

allow resources to be reprioritised towards frontline activity around policing and crime. 

Reducing the Carbon Footprint of Police Fleet 

This budget includes further investment in the electrification of West Mercia’s fleet of vehicles. 

A total of £0.750m is included for that purpose, to ensure West Mercia is doing everything 

possible to lower its own carbon emissions, while still providing the right operational services 

to the public. 

Investing in Digital Police Services 

Significant investment will continue to in the police’s Digital Services Programme. Following on 

from other multi-million pound investments by the PCC in recent years, in 2022/23 capital 

transformational ICT projects of £15.4m and revenue Digital Services programmes of £21.0m 

will be funded. This ensures continued delivery of the programme agreed and commenced in 

2020/21 as part of the PCC’s ongoing commitment to reform and modernising the service. 

This year’s investment will support the migration of the force to new, fit for purpose technology 

that enables and supports vital police work every day, giving the force a solid and up to date 

base and infrastructure from which to do their work and deliver the services communities 

need. 

As outlined above, the additional resources and police officers being made available to the 
force will enable them to deliver a better service to the communities of West Mercia, tackling 
crime and keeping our community safe.  

In addition, in 2022/23 alone a new Property Management ICT system will be implemented, 

the existing Origin HR system will be upgraded and an e-learning management system 

established. This will generate efficiencies but also create greater resilience and flexibility. 

Page 57

Page 59



26 
 

More than three years since the termination of the Alliance with Warwickshire, it is the case 

that West Mercia must continue supporting delivery of a number of Warwickshire services in 

2022/23. Whilst almost all previously shared services have now been separated, with 

improvements being made to operations in West Mercia, Warwickshire has requested 

continued support in a number of areas. These functions will however be supported on a 

different basis, which no longer comes at the detriment and expense of West Mercia’s 

communities. This is reflected in this budget, with West Mercia now much more able to 

confidently make decisions and investments to benefit its police force and communities. There 

is a clear commitment and expectation from all parties that full separation of remaining 

services will be achieved as soon as possible to enable all parties to pursue their own 

preferred strategic options. 

7. Monitoring the delivery of the Budget Investment 

The PCC has relentlessly strived to ensure every pound of public money is spent with clear 
ambition and rigour, to ensure these resources are effectively used. This has particularly been 
the case where the PCC has asked communities to contribute more in council tax to policing. 

Over his term, the PCC has worked to hold West Mercia Police to account for ensuring that if 
the public are being asked to contribute more, then they will get the best possible return on 
that investment in terms of service improvements and delivery against key priorities.   

Alongside the Safer West Mercia Plan the PCC has secured the agreement of the Chief 
Constable a range of commitments that will be measured and monitored to provide evidence 
of the delivery of service improvement. In relation to this budget the PCC is keen to 
demonstrate that the investment made from the additional money coming from residents is 
spent well. Below sets out an example of the investment that is being made, the expectation 
on what will be delivered and those key measures that will be used during the year to 
demonstrate that services to the public have improved. A full list of the monitoring that will be 
undertaken so that the PCC can hold the Chief Constable to account over the investment that 
has been made this year is included in Appendix E. 

The Investment What will the public see? Ambition 

40 additional officers in the 
Local Investigations unit  

 Better engagement with victims 
of crime and increased visibility 
of Safer Neighbouthood Teams. 

 The vicitim with have earlier 
engagement with specialist 
investigative personnel 

 Expectation that there will be an 
increase in identification of 
offenders which will result in 
more offences brought to 
justice  

 More opportunity to invest in 
education, early intervention 
and relationships with other 
partners to prevent serious 
crime in the first instance 

 Improved timeliness of investigations 

 Increase in positive action outcomes 

 Improved victim satisfaction 

 Improved public confidence 

 

Page 58

Page 60



27 
 

With the uplift in police numbers and alignment of resources with community priorities, the 

PCC continues to address the concerns of West Mercia’s communities and ensure their needs 

are at the forefront of policing.  

The PCC will continue to ensure the Chief Constable has due regard to the Safer West Mercia 

Plan and its priorities, as well as holding to account around the Local Policing Community 

Charter, to ensure the service improvements enabled by additional investment are delivered, 

and that West Mercia’s communities get the best possible return on their investment.  

8. How the PCC plans to fund this 

It is intended that the proposals contained in this document will be funded from a variety of 

sources. 

 

Government grants 

The PCC receives the majority of its funding from central Government, specifically the Home 

Office and also funding from the Ministry of Justice. The principal sources are annual revenue 

grants, including: 

 Police and Revenue Support Grant  

 Council Tax Support Grant 

 Council Tax Freeze Grants for 2011/12 and 2013/14  

 Victims Support Grants from the Ministry of Justice 

 

The Home Office Settlement follows on from the three year SR21 delivered by the Chancellor. 

As detailed earlier in the report the SR21 set out department resource allocations over a 3 

year period. The settlement was received on 16th December 2021 and includes an increase in 

central Government grants in 2022/23 of 7.181m. An important element of this increased 

funding is to fund the recruitment of an additional 8,000 police officers nationally, 125 of them 

allocated directly for West Mercia. This is the final tranche of the government’s previously 

announced policy to recruit an additional 20,000 police officers. 

Core Funding, which is defined as the sum of Police Grant, Rule 1, the Welsh Grants and Ex-

CLG funding has increased by 5.4%. The Policing Minister confirmed that there would be an 

increase of £540m for PCCs to continue to recruit officers, as announced earlier in the 

Chancellor’s Budget. This ring-fenced grant will be akin to the previous settlements and will be 

split according to funding formula allocation. Part of this funding allocation is to go to the 

recruitment of Regional Organised Crime Unit (ROCU) officers through the same mechanism. 

The Minister has confirmed the total funding of the Police Uplift Programme (PUP) funding for 

the next two years of £650m (2022/23) and £800m (2023/24). This is expected to provide 

forces with sufficient resources to fund pay rises, including incorporating the impact from the 

end of public sector pay freeze.  

Income received from Council Tax 

The tax base 

Page 59

Page 61



28 
 

The tax base is the number of properties that are available to have a Council Tax charge 

placed on them. The tax base will increase with additional houses being built. However the tax 

base is reduced by other factors such as claimants of Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

(LCTS), Single Person Discounts and empty properties. Since the start of the pandemic there 

was a reduction in the level of house building and an increase in LCTS claimants which 

resulted in the tax base for 2021/22 reducing by 0.32% compared to the previous year.  

Throughout 2021/22 financial year the recovery from COVID pandemic has continued which 

has result in the prediction of the Council Tax base returning to growth. There has been a 

reported increase of 1.98% in the tax base for 2022/23, which is worth an additional £2.123m 

of income. The prediction is that the tax base will continue to grow by 1.5% through the MTFP. 

The Precept 

The settlement provides PCCs in England and Wales with the flexibility to increase funding in 

each year of the SR21 period with the Chancellor setting a £10 council tax referendum limit on 

a Band D equivalent property. If all PCCs in England and Wales were to take full advantage of 

this flexibility, this would raise up to an additional £774m by 2024/25 based on current 

forecasts. 

The decision of the PCC is that the Council Tax charge will be increased by 3.94% or £9.47 

for a Band D property for 2022/23. This will raise an additional £4.314m. The working 

assumption is that the precept will increase at 1.99% per year through the MTFP, although the 

PCC has an additional 2% flexibility on top of this, should he believe that the investment will 

be required and the benefit to the public is clear. 

The increase in both the Tax Base and the Precept Band D charge will bring in a total of 

£113.718m of funding, which is an additional £6.437m on the previous year’s precept demand. 

The Collection Fund Surplus/Deficit 

The administration of the Council tax system is undertaken by Local Authorities through the 

Collection Fund account. This records the amount of income collected and the amount that 

has been precepted out to fund Councils, Police and Fire. For the end of 2020/21 financial 

year there was an estimated deficit on this fund of £1.219m, which was the first recorded 

deficit for a significant period of time. Central Government legislated that the deficit balance to 

be paid for by the precepting bodies to the fund, over a 3 year period. For West Mercia that 

represents a payment of £0.388m each year for period 2021/22 – 2023/24 that must be paid 

back.  

As we have continued through the 2021/22 financial year the concerns regarding the impact of 

Covid-19 on employment, particularly with the extension of the furlough scheme into the 

2021/22 financial year, meant that the estimated deficit has not been as significant as 

previously thought. It has also seen that even with the end of furlough in September 2021 the 

number of people in employment has remained steady and that income from Council Tax has 

continued to be received. The assumption is that the Collection Fund will have an in year 

surplus for 2021/22 in the region of £0.700m that will be distributed to West Mercia in 2022/23 

which will offset the payment of the prior year deficit highlighted above.  

Page 60

Page 62



29 
 

The assumption is that the annual surplus will increase through 2022/23 to approximately 

£1.000m, again to offset by the requirement to pay the last instalment of £0.388m, before 

taking the full surplus from 2023/24. 

Continued reform and efficiency 

Efficiencies of £5.993m in the 2022/23 budget have been identified and the Force is already 

putting in place a plan to deliver these. Additional savings are likely to be required over the 

course of the MTFP as the level of funding is confirmed. These will be met by further 

efficiencies resulting from the ICT Transformation Programme Business Services Programme 

and the Estates Strategy (Rationalisation Plan). The income from fees and charges will 

continue to be monitored annually to ensure that they are reasonable and proportionate 

Making best use of West Mercia’s reserves 

The PCC’s reserves are predicted to be £13.359m at the start of 2022/23. They will be 

allocated on a prudent basis to ensure the police force focuses on the needs of the residents 

of West Mercia. See Section 11 of the budget report for further detail of what the reserves will 

be used for.  

9. The Revenue Budget 

The total revenue budget for 2022/23 financial year is £260.485m which is an increase in 

expenditure of 15.647m from the previous year. 

As set out previously, the Force has used a process of Priority Based Planning (PBP) to 

review all of their budgets, to identify demand pressures and efficiencies that can be made to 

the current service levels being provided and to bring forward proposals for investment in 

services. The investment is focused around utilisation of the additional 125 officers, funded 

through the PUP grant, with the focus on the priorities set out in section 6 of this report 

The budget setting process has identified a gap of £2.113m between the resources available, 

the service levels and investment decisions that have been taken. The Force has identified 

through the PBP process an outline of how they plan to bridge this gap and deliver a balanced 

budget. It has been agreed with the PCC that the Force will continue to develop this plan and 

how it will be implemented. The PCC will consider and agree the detailed plan which will 

deliver the balanced budget set out in this paper, taking into account how they would manage 

any other risks to the budget, before the end of March 2022. 

The following table analyses the impact of changes to the base budget between 2021/22 and 

2022/23. It sets out the significant demand pressures on the budget, including pay and price 

inflation, the impact of the investment in additional police officers and efficiency plans that are 

in place. Further detail on the 2022/23 budget proposals are set out in Appendix B which 

outlines a summary of the gross expenditure by both subjective and objective analysis. 

Analysis of movement from 2021/22 to 2022/23 

 

Page 61

Page 63



30 
 

  

2021/22 
Revised 
Budget  

In year 
Transfers 

Pay and 
Prices 

Inflation  

Demand 
pressures 

Efficiencies Corporate 
movements  

2022/23    
Budget 

Total 
Movement 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m   

Income                 

Income -24.105 -1.896 -0.364 1.002 -0.104 0.564 -24.903 -0.798 

Special Grants -3.076 0.000 0.000 -0.090 0.000 0.000 -3.166 -0.090 
Contribution to/from 

Reserves 0.000 0.000 0.000 -1.075 -0.093 0.000 -1.168 -1.168 

                  

Pay                 

Police Officer Pay 128.202 -0.020 1.556 2.175 -0.248 0.381 132.046 3.844 

PCSO Pay 7.430 0.000 0.092 0.000 0.000 0.462 7.984 0.554 

Police Staff Pay 63.217 0.025 0.851 5.066 -1.752 4.261 71.668 8.451 

                  

Other Costs                 

Capital Financing 5.210 0.000 0.000 1.911 -0.176 0.000 6.945 1.735 

Other Employee Expenses 2.023 0.000 0.043 0.565 0.006 -0.001 2.636 0.613 

Police Pensions 3.776 0.000 0.113 0.100 0.000 0.000 3.989 0.213 

Premises 8.846 0.000 0.315 0.498 -0.131 0.000 9.528 0.682 

Supplies & Services 33.070 0.023 0.964 0.714 -1.289 -1.697 31.785 -1.285 

Third Party Payments 16.147 1.868 0.148 2.673 -2.035 0.000 18.801 2.654 

Transport 4.098 0.000 0.112 0.247 -0.111 -0.006 4.340 0.242 

  244.838 0.000 3.830 13.786 -5.933 3.964 260.485 15.647 

 

10. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

The key working assumptions in the MTFP are as follows: 

Funding 

 The precept will increase by 3.94% in 2022/23 and 1.99% thereafter across the 

remainder of the medium term.There is additional flexibility available to the PCC to use 

in 2023/24 (2%) and in 2024/25 (1.85%), given the announcement by the Chancellor 

that the maximum increase in each of these years will be £10.00 

 Council Tax base will increase by 1.98% in 2022/23 and then increase by 1.5% a year 

thereafter   

 The Medium Term Financial Plan assumes that the Council Tax Collection Fund will 

produce an in year surplus to be distributed back to precepting authorities of £0.700m 

in 2022/23 and £1.000m in each year after that. However there is the estimated 

statutory deficit from 2020/21 collection which is being spread over 3 years. It is 

expected that the net Collection Fund surplus distribution will be £0.312m in 2022/23, 

£0.612m in 2023/24 and £1.000m in 2024/25. 

 General revenue grants will be increased in 2022/23 to meet the costs of pay and price 

inflation, the cost of the additional 125 police officers and associated infrastructure cost. 

In future years it is assumed central government grants will continue to increase to 

meet the costs of the additional police officers and to fund inflationary pressures. 

Page 62

Page 64



31 
 

Costs 

 There is an assumption that pay will increase in 2022/23 following the announcement in 

Chancellor’s Spending Review that the Public Sector Pay freeze has ended. The 

assumption is that pay will increase by 2% in 2022/23 and then 2.5% in following years. 

 General price increases are predicted to increase by 3% over the life of the MTFP. 

Where known price increase reflect contractual commitments, or industry specific price 

inflation pressures such as in the energy sector, where the increase in 2022/23 is 

expected to be 10.3%. 

The MTFP is as follows: 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  £m £m £m 

Expenditure – Summary       

Base budget before savings 244.838 260.484 269.173 

Pay and price increases 3.830 7.453 7.726 

Capital Financing 0.735 0.672 2.328 

Additional officers funded by Grant 2.735 1.758 0.000 

Investment in Forensics 0.726 0.000 0.000 

Investment in ICT 2.319 0.000 0.000 

Other Investments 12.645 0.381 4.525 

Other Efficiencies -5.759 -1.575 0.000 

Police Officer Uplift Grant -0.546 0.000 0.000 

Non-recurring expenditure funded from Reserves 1.075 0.000 0.000 

Savings Plan -2.113 0.000 0.000 

        

Projected net expenditure after savings 260.485 269.173 283.752 

        

Funded by:       

Formula Grant and RSG 133.408 138.074 148.430 

Council Tax Support Grant 9.200 9.200 9.200 

Council Tax Freeze Grant 2.775 2.775 2.775 

Council Tax (including Collection Fund surplus) 114.029 118.161 122.651 

Contribution to Reserves 1.073 0.963 0.696 

Total funding 260.485 269.173 283.752 

        

 

It should be noted that in year budget gaps will be covered by savings targets and associated 

transformational initiatives to deliver on the PCC commitment to have a balanced budget. 

11. Reserves Strategy 

The use of a significant proportion of reserves over the life of the Medium Term Financial Plan 

is an important element of the financial strategy. The following table shows the full expected 

deployment of reserves over the life of the plan 

 
 £m 

Page 63

Page 65



32 
 

Projected reserves at 1st April 2022 13.359 

  

Increase in General Reserve to reflect increase in total budget 
2.000 

 

Utalisation of reserves to smooth the impact of the SR21 
-0.601 

 

Amount required to fund the costs of a major investigation net of an expected 
successful application for Special Grant over the life of the medium term 
financial plan 

-1.136 

Increased Provisions to meet known risks  
0.600 

 

Funds to address demand management issues, prevent crime and ensure 
public safety 

-1.258 

  

Reserves remaining at the end of the MTFP period. 12.964 

 

The table below shows the estimated reserve balances at the end of each year 

 

Total Reserves at 31/03/2022 31/03/2023 31/03/2024 31/03/2025 31/03/2026 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

            

General Reserves 7.000 7.500 8.000 8.500 9.000 

            

Earmarked Reserves           

Budget Equalisation reserve 0.601 0.601 0.400 0.000 0.000 

Investment in Infrastructure 0.372 0.372 0.372 0.372 0.372 

Major Investigation Reserve 2.136 1.136 0.000 0.500 1.000 

Road Safety Reserve 0.342 0.242 0.142 0.042 0.092 

Commissoning Reserve 1.084 0.642 0.376 0.226 0.076 

Insurance and Legal Claims 1.505 1.505 1.605 1.805 2.105 

Council Tax Collection Fund 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

YJS* 0.319 0.319 0.319 0.319 0.319 

Total Earmarked Reserves 6.359 4.817 3.214 3.264 3.964 

            

Total Reserves  13.359 12.317 11.214 11.764 12.964 

* - This is a collaborative arrangement with Local Authorities  

 

Each year the Treasurer carries out an assessment of the risks facing the PCC to determine 

the minimum level of reserves which the PCC needs to continue to hold. This year the 

assessment is that £7.000m needs to be held in general reserve at all times to provide 

adequately for these risks. Further details of the risk assessment are included in section 13. 

12. The Capital Budget 

Page 64

Page 66



33 
 

The Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2025/26 has been prepared based on bids for capital 

funding by each department across West Mercia Police. Bids have been scrutinised by the 

PCC and the Force leadership team to ensure that they reflect the priorities of West Mercia, 

and that timescales and costings are reasonable.  The existing capital programme MTFP has 

been updated to reflect the bids that have been accepted. The capital budget is an outline 

commitment to inform future planning, borrowing decisions and assessment of the revenue 

impact. Final approval of any scheme is subject to a full business case being approved by the 

PCC. The capital budget may change as a result of business cases being progressed to full 

proposals.  

The current programme reflects the priorities of the PCC to transform and reform police 

activities, services and systems as quickly and effectively as possible. In particular it 

recognises the need to modernise ICT systems and further develop the estate to ensure that 

policing responds to changes in demand and the nature of crime as efficiently and effectively 

as possible. Consequently the PCC is planning significant capital investment of £99.493m 

over the next four years. As previously mentioned, this investment is key to reforming policing 

and delivering better services to the people of West Mercia. Significant opportunities exist to 

deliver efficiencies and improvements to estates by working with partner agencies. The PCC’s 

plans will make best use of these opportunities in the coming years.  

The PCC is proposing the following Medium Term Capital Programme (MTCP) for West 

Mercia over the next five years.  

Expenditure 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Estate Strategy 8.000 8.600 16.000 8.500 1.500 42.600 

ICT replacement Programme 4.005 2.317 2.404 2.501 2.608 13.835 

Digital Transformation & 
Change 

15.377 12.843 1.426 0.626 0.626 30.898 

Vehicle Replacement 2.250 2.250 2.250 2.250 2.250 11.250 

Plant & Equipment 0.910 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.910 

Totals 30.542 26.010 22.080 13.877 6.984 99.493 

 

A full list of proposed capital projects is included in Appendix C.  

The expected funding of the programme is outlined below. The PCC has made a commitment 

to make sure that the capital programme remains affordable. The revenue budget includes the 

contribution of £1.000m to funding capital programme, to avoid the revenue impact of 

borrowing over the medium to long term.  

Funding 2022/23 
£m 

2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

2025/26 
£m 

2026/27 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Capital Receipts 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 2.500 

Capital Grants 0.757 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.757 

Revenue 
Contributions 

1.060 1.100 1.200 1.300 1.400 6.060 

Borrowing  28.225 24.410 20.380 12.077 5.084 90.176 

Page 65

Page 67



34 
 

Totals 30.542 26.010 22.080 13.877 6.984 99.493 

 

13. Treasurer’s Statement on the Soundness of the Budget and the 

Adequacy of Reserves 

In setting the MTFP, the PCC needs to consider the revenue budget, implications of the 

investment in capital and the level of reserves held. The PCC holds a General Reserve, 

Earmarked Reserves and Capital Reserves. These will, in part, be governed by known or 

likely commitments, and, in part, by the appetite for risk. As the Treasurer I have reviewed 

thoroughly the financial risks facing policing in West Mercia and reassessed the level of 

reserves required. I have also taken into account the assessment of reserves undertaken by 

CIPFA in its Financial Management Capability review of West Mercia Police.  

In doing so, I have complied with CIPFA guidance on the establishment and maintenance of 

local authority reserves and balances. 

Compliance with the 7 key principles in CIPFA’s guidance  

CIPFA Key Principles Current situation in West Mercia 

The treatment of inflation 
and interest rates 

West Mercia Police makes full and appropriate provision, based on 
agreed estimate of the future pay and price rises. The assumptions 
on what the rises will be take reference from the Spending review & 
OBR predictions, the estimates made by other bodies in the Police 
Sector and reports from PACCTs. 

An informed assessment is made of interest rate movements using 
information provided from the Spending review & OBR Predictions 
and from sector updates provided by our Treasury Management 
Advisors. 

Individual Expenditure lines in the budget are reviewed as to whether 
they are impacted by the general inflation or Interest rate changes. 
Known pressures, such as energy price increases and contractual 
obligations are included in the budget at their full cost.  

The revenue budget are prepared and published at estimated outturn 
prices. 

Estimates of the level and 
timing of capital receipts 

The PCC and West Mercia Police make a prudent assumption of 
future capital receipts. There is a rationalisation plan developed as 
part of the wider estates strategy. This has identified a number of 
surplus assets and land which can be disposed of and receipts that 
generated. There is also the medium to long term programme of 
ensuring that the estate is fit for purpose, managing the costs of older 
buildings and identifying disposals which will generate receipts to 
invest back into the rest of the estate.  

The treatment of demand 
level pressures 

The Force has implemented a Priority based budgeting (PBB) 
process to inform the budget setting for 2022/23. The process 
involves identifying Volume (Demand) and Method (Efficiency) 
changes on current service levels within each business area that are 
expected to occur in the following financial year.  

Page 66

Page 68



35 
 

The Deputy Chief Constable is the lead for this process, on behalf of 
the Chief Constable. Panels were held with each business area to 
review the proposed demand pressure and to challenge the 
assumptions behind the assessment. This ensures management 
oversight of the budget proposals. 

There is also the general balances to be used as a last resort to 
manage and fund demand-led pressures. The general fund balance is 
based on a risk assessment of factors which could potentially occur, 
rather than the known costs which are already account for in the 
revenue budget. 

The treatment of planned 
efficiency savings and 
productivity gains 

The cumulative level of budget reductions over the last 10 years will 
inevitably mean that operational budgets will come under greater 
pressure and/or risk of overspending in future years. The Force 
delivered on its annual efficiency target in 2020/21 and is predicting 
that it will deliver savings of £3.454m in 2021/22, which is £0.757m 
under against the target. 

The PBP process has provided opportunity for business areas to be 
challenged over what it spends and where further efficiencies can be 
made. This process has identified £5.993m of efficiencies to be 
delivered during 2022/23. 

The efficiencies identified on current services do not cover the wider 
budget pressures where resources are less than the total demand, 
taking into account the allocation of the majority of additional grant 
funding from central government to additional officers. A further 
exercise through the PBB process is being undertaken to develop the 
full plan to deliver the balanced budget for 2022/23. 

The financial risks inherent 
in any significant new and 
existing funding 
partnerships, collaboration, 
major outsourcing 
arrangements or major 
capital developments 

The financial consequences of partnership, collaboration working, 
outsourcing arrangements or capital investment are reported to the 
PCC as part of the medium term planning process. Where relevant 
any additional costs are incorporated in the annual revenue budget. 
These are reviewed regularly during the year in the Money Matters 
report and where necessary the MTFP is amended. 

The 4 remaining shared services arrangements that were in place 
with Warwickshire have been moved to a hosted service agreement 
during 2022/23. The agreement reduces the risks associated with the 
move towards full separation of services back to Warwickshire. It 
formalises the service level requirements and the recharge of costs to 
Warwickshire. 

The Estates Service was moved in-house from the 1st April 2021, 
following the withdrawal from Place Partnership Limited and the 
organisation being wound up. Significant contracts are in the process 
of being re-tendered for April 2022, to ensure that the service 
specifications are fit for purpose to achieve Value for Money. Also the 
project management arrangements have been reviewed to ensure 
that they are fit for purpose to deliver both capital projects and estates 
rationalisation.  

There is clearly a risk that local authority partners will continue to 
withdraw funding as a result of pressures on their own budgets. There 
is also risks related to the continued viability of charities and other 
partners with increasing demand for services. The commissioning 

Page 67

Page 69



36 
 

team are managing services and working with providers to manage 
these services.  

The availability of reserves, 
government grants and 
other funds to deal with 
major contingencies and the 
adequacy of provisions. 

The 2022/23 budget has been set to meet both the recurring revenue 
spend commitments and priorities, whilst recognising there are risks 
that need to be managed. This has taken account the level of 
government grants and other sources of income.  
The Force is being proactive in recognising that they need to be 
prudent in managing their insurance reserve through a scheme of 
self-insurance to offset revenue savings from having higher premiums 
and also how they manage the funding of capital programme. 

There has been an assessment of the adequacy of general reserves 
to meet unplanned budget impacts. This has identified the potential 
risks to the budget and provides a sensitivity analysis of what the 
financial impact might be. The overall assessment is that the 
minimum level of general fund balances should be maintained at circa 
£7.000m. The PCC has not been required to make a call on the 
general reserves in the last 2 budget cycles.  

The PCC has created a number of earmarked revenue reserves to 
meet specific expenditure items. The details of each of the reserves 
held are included in this report. The largest held are the Major 
Investigation Reserve and the Insurance & Legal Claims reserve. 

The Force is undertaking an investigation into allegations of corporate 
manslaughter at Shrewsbury and Telford Hospitals NHS Trust. The 
costs will be considerable and the PCC has been allocated a Special 
Grant from the Home Office. The criteria for special grants is that it 
will fund a proportion of the cost of the investigation based on a taper. 
This taper is expected to be 75% of costs incurred in 2022/23. The 
reserve has been build up over the last budget rounds to meet the 
additional cost that will fall onto the PCC. There is an expectation that 
the Force will manage the scope and length of the investigation. 

The general financial 
climate to which the 
authority is subject. 

In November 2021, the Chancellor announced the outcome of the 
Spending Review 2021 (SR21) which was a 3 year government 
departmental spending budget. The Chancellor confirmed that there 
would be continued increase in police grant funding to fund the  
recruitment of the last tranche of the additional 6,000 police officers. 
He also stated that the PCCs could increase the council tax (band D 
equivalent) by up to £10 per year for the next 3 years. 

The 4 year medium term financial plan (MTFP) reflects our local best 
estimate of future inflation rates, increases in government grants and 
contributions and revenues raised from Council Tax. 

General inflation in the U.K. has increased significantly over the last 6 
months with CPI currently at 4%. There is an expectation that this will 
fall back down to the 2% target but not until 2024, which will cause 
further strain on the budget through the medium term  

A provision of 2% for the pay award has been included in the MTFP 
for 2022/23 and then 2.5% p.a. thereafter. 

 

General Reserve 

Page 68

Page 70



37 
 

In recent years, the Treasurer has undertaken a review of the significant risks and pressures 

facing the PCC before setting a minimum level of reserves held in General Reserve. I have 

this year included a reduction to reflect the fact that not all risks will occur during the life of the 

Medium Term financial Plan. 

The key risks the PCC faces (and for which no specific provision in Earmarked Reserves is 

made) are:  

Provision £m Reason 

Efficiency savings have not 
being met 

0.600 £5.993m of efficiency savings have been proposed 
through the PBP process to be delivered by the force. 
This will be monitored during the year and the expectation 
is that action will be taken if they are not delivered. 
However there is a risk that some fail to be delivered and 
alternatives cannot be found. The impact of not delivering 
10% of the proposals is approximately £600k. 
 

Service Reductions are not 
met / delayed 
implementation  

0.525 The current projection is that the Force needs to identify 
£2.1m of savings in order to achieve a balanced budget 
for the 2022/23 financial year.  
There is a risk that the plan may not be delivered. In 
previous years there has been aspects of savings plans 
which have not been delivered and others have slipped in 
terms of timescales for delivery. 
The Force overspent by £0.386m in 2020/21. The savings 
target was achieved in year. 
The Force is currently predicting that it will produce an 
underspend in 2021/22. The savings plan forecast is 
£3.454m, which is £0.757m under against the target.  
After years of delivering savings and efficiencies means 
that there is an increased risk of not being able to deliver 
these. The impact of not delivering 25% of the plan is 
equivalent to £0.525m. 

Delivery of future savings 
to achieve a balanced 
budget 

2.500 There is an increasing risk of further revenue savings 
being required to balance the budget. As opportunities for 
further efficiencies to be made from existing service 
provision, these savings are more likely to require 
transformational change. The realisation of savings can 
be in the medium to long term which could leave a budget 
pressure in the short term. 

Major Investigation 
Funding  

2.500 In 2020/21 the Force became responsible for a major 
investigation into the care of mothers and babies who 
died or suffered serious harm in a maternity care setting 
at the Shrewsbury and Telford NHS Trust. 
The Force has been able to claim a Special Grant from 
the Home Office and are in received of a tapered grant 
(85% - 70%) on a budget of £4m per year. Requirement 
on West Mercia to ensure that the remaining expenditure 
is meet from within the budget. There is currently 
sufficient earmarked reserves to cover the next two years 
of cost, but not any further expenditure or ability to meet 

Page 69

Page 71



38 
 

any future new liability from reserves. 
Potential risk that there could be the need to cover the 
costs of the investigation beyond 2023/24 or that there is 
another Major Investigation which occurs in the region. 

Budget Assumptions - Risk 
of Collection Fund deficit 
from changes to tax base / 
LCTS 

0.250 The deficit of all Collection Funds at the end of 2020/21 
as a result of the impact of both the impact of Brexit and 
the pandemic was £0.444m for West Mercia.  
A similar unforeseen impact is not considered likely to 
occur again at the same time. A one off economic shock 
impacting on employment and therefore amount of people 
claiming LCTS has been calculated to be a 0.25% which 
is work £268k on current calculation of tax base.  

Budget Assumptions - Risk 
of Pay inflation being 1% 
higher than budget 

1.250 There is a risk that the pay award a made in MTFP is 
understated. Uncertainty exists as a result of the 
implications of the release of pay restraint and over CPI 
on ability to settle pay awards at 2%.  A change of 1% on 
the pay budgets is equivalent to £1.250m. 

Budget Assumptions - Risk 
of Non Pay inflation being 
1% higher than budget 

0.500 Provision for pay and contractual inflation has been made 
in MTFP. The economic uncertainty with rising energy 
bills and shortages of drivers and microchips in the global 
demand economy creates a risk to the budget. A change 
of 1% of the non-pay budgets is equivalent to £0.500m.  

Change in interest rates 0.650 Based on 1% increase in interest rates on planned 
external borrowing of £52m in 2022/23 and 2023/24. This 
reflects the increasing economic uncertainty and 
December 2021 increase in interest rates by the bank of 
England. 

Additional costs to 
establish arrangements to 
reform policing in West 
Mercia 

0.500 Refers to revenue impact of capital expenditure which 
can be cash limited. Substantial provision for both 
revenue and capital expenditure already made in the 
Medium Term Capital Programme and Medium Term 
Financial Plan.  
In the 2022/23 it is assumed that in-house project and 
programme management costs of £1.325m can be 
capitalised. There is a risk that a proportion of this 
resource may not be used on capital projects and the 
costs fall back on the revenue budget.  

Replacement of Airwaves 
Network/ESN/ESCMP 

2.000 Lack of detail and clarity on implementation from Home 
Office. Substantial provision made in the Medium Term 
financial Plan and Capital Programme but that may not be 
affordable given other budget pressures. 

Impact of review of Police 
Funding Formula 

0.000 Outcome unknown and timing of review delayed by Home 
Office. 

General Contingency 
provision for extraordinary 
events 

2.600 Based on 1% of net revenue expenditure of £258m. 

    13.875   

Reduction to reflect the 
fact all of these risks will 
not occur in the short term 

6.937 50% reduction to reflect that not all events will occur in 
this time period. 

  6.937   

Page 70

Page 72



39 
 

Proposed General Fund 
Balance 

7.000  

 

The aggregate cost of those elements which it is feasible to estimate is £13.875m. It should be 

noted that the impact of any major investigations, changes as a result of a funding review or 

increased economic and political uncertainty cannot be accurately estimated and could prove 

to be significant. The PCC does not necessarily have to provide money in reserves for each of 

these elements individually unless they are certain to occur, as one contingency can provide 

for several possible events, provided that all of the events are unlikely to occur together and 

an adjustment has been applied to reflect this. However, he does need to give realistic 

consideration to the likelihood of their occurring during the period covered by the plan.  

I therefore recommend that the minimum level of reserves be set at £7.000m. It is recognised 

that this is slightly below the 3% of the net revenue budget threshold which is generally 

considered to be best practice. However the risk assessment has been undertaken and there 

is a recognition that through the MTFP the General Fund Reserve will need to increase to 

reflect that the total revenue budget is increasing.  

This will mean a reduction in the level of General Reserve currently held from £7.351m. The 

reduction in the reserve of £0.351m will be utilised on a budget equalisation reserve to 

manage any lag between delivery of savings from future transformational change initiatives 

and future budget pressures.  

Provided that this sum is available at all times within reserves, I am satisfied that this budget is 

soundly based and adequately provides for the risks facing the PCC. 

Earmarked Reserves 

The predicted balance at 31st March 2022 for each earmarked revenue reserve, which has a 

specific purpose and particular timescale, is shown in the table below. 

Earmarked 

Reserve 

Forecast 

Balance 

at 

31/03/22 

£m 

 

 

Purpose of Reserve 

Budget 

Equalisation 

reserve 

0.601 
To provide additional resource should the pay award be higher 

than estimated or to provide initial investment in 

transformational change programme. 

Investment in 

Infrastructure 

Reserve  

0.372 

To invest in the infrastructure (ICT and Estates) including the 

unbudgeted costs of reconfiguring services following the end 

of collaborative arrangements. 

Major 

Investigation 

Reserves  2.136 

Funds held to meet costs of major investigation above the 

taper funding provided through the special grant. The 2022/23 

taper funding is expected to be 75% of the costs incurred. The 

remaining 25% will be offset by the call on this reserve.  

Page 71

Page 73



40 
 

Road Safety 

Reserve 
0.342 

Funds held to fund road safety initiatives 

Commissioning 1.084 To support spend on non-recurring PCC commissioning 

initiatives. 

Insurance and 

Legal Claims 

Reserve 

1.505 
Provides a self-insurance fund where it is cost effective to do 

so. 

YJS Reserve 0.319 Funds held on behalf of the responsible authorities to fund the 

costs of youth justice services.  

Total Earmarked 

Reserves 
6.359  

 

The tables in section 11 show the deployment of all reserves over the life of the Medium Term 

Financial Plan, and the remaining reserve balances at the end of each financial year. 

Capital Reserves and Balances 

In addition to the revenue reserves capital reserves are also maintained. These are used to 

finance the capital programme.  

There is a reserve holding Capital Grants Unapplied. This holds the capital grants from the 

Home Office that have not yet been spent. These grants are applied to fund the capital 

programme and can be carried forward without penalty until required. It is expected that all 

capital grants awarded will have been spent during 2021/22 and the balance on the reserve as 

at 1St April 2022 is expected to be £0.0m. 

There is a Capital Receipts Reserve. This holds receipts from the sale of land and buildings 

which are no longer needed for operational policing as more efficient use is made of partners’ 

and the policing estate. The funding table in section 12 above outlines the receipts expected 

from asset sales from 2022/23 to 2025/26. Currently any receipts in year have been used to 

invest in the capital programme and avoid borrowing. The balance on the reserve as at 1St 

April 2022 it is expected to be £0.00m 

Summary 

There has been a comprehensive review of all reserves held by the PCC. This report sets out 

clearly and transparently the reserves held, the purpose for which they are held, the plans for 

their use and the risks and assumptions underpinning them. 

West Mercia Police is facing the challenge of dealing effectively with the demands placed by 

both an increase in crime and changes in the nature of crime. At the same time, West Mercia 

has an ambitious programme to reconfigure its operational estates and modernise its ICT 

infrastructure, whilst ensuring value for money. However, the PCC holds adequate reserves 

and has increased the recurring revenue funds available. This combined with the strong 

financial management arrangements in place, recent investment and improvements in 

programme and project management and planned changes to corporate governance should 

Page 72

Page 74



41 
 

give the Force the ability to implement this programme successfully. The PCC will hold the 

Chief Constable to account for the use of these resources during this time. 

Sufficient provision has been made in earmarked reserves to fund expected one-off pressures, 

including a contribution towards the cost of a major investigation.  

  

Page 73

Page 75



42 
 

Appendix A 
 

Summary of West Mercia Grant Settlement 

 

The provisional Police Funding Settlement from the Home Office was received on the 16th 

December 2021.  The details are shown below: 

2021/22 Funding Stream Provisional  
2022/23 

Change 

£ m  £ m % 

77.029 Police Grant (including Community Support 
Grant 

81.292 5.53 

49.198 Revenue Support Grant  52.115 5.93 

11.975 Legacy Council Tax Grants (freeze grants and 
plus council tax support grant)  

11.975 0.00 

138.202 Total 145.382 5.20 

 

In addition to the main central Government grants shown above, the PCC also receives grant 

funding for Victims Services Commissioning and Restorative Justice from the Ministry of 

Justice.  Notification of the anticipated grant core allocation for 2022/23 hasn’t been received 

but is expected to be £1.499m in 2022/23, which is unchanged from the previous 2 financial 

years.  

  

Page 74

Page 76



43 
 

 

           Appendix B(i) 

West Mercia PCC 

Subjective analysis of income & expenditure 

 

 2021/22 
Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 

Variance 

 £m £m £m 

Government Grant (Core Funding) 138.202 145.383 7.181 

Council Tax Precept 106.837 114.030 7.193 

Total Funding / Net Budget Requirement 245.039 259.412 14.373 
    

Police Officers Pay  125.811 128.931 3.120 

Police Officer overtime 2.391 3.115 0.724 

Police Staff Pay  62.134 71.668 9.534 

PCSO Pay 7.430 7.984 0.554 

Police Staff & PCSO overtime 0.566 0.000 -0.566 

Temporary and Agency Staff 0.010 0.000 -0.010 

Injury & Ill Health Pensions 3.776 3.989 0.213 

Other Employee Expenses 2.025 2.636 0.611 

Premises 8.846 9.528 0.682 

Transport 4.136 4.340 0.204 

Supplies and Services 33.459 31.785 -1.674 

Third Party Payments 16.118 18.801 2.683 

Capital Financing 5.210 6.945 1.735 

Gross Expenditure 271.912 289.722 17.810 
    

Income -27.074 -29.237 -2.163 
    

Net Force Budget / Expenditure / Variance 244.838 260.485 15.647 
    

Budget Contribution to/(from) Reserves 0.201 -1.073 -1.274 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Page 77



44 
 

Appendix B (ii) 

West Mercia PCC 

Objective analysis of income & expenditure 

 

 2021/22 2022/23 Variance Variance 

 £m £m £m % 
Business Services     
Digital Services 17.972 21.044 3.072 17.1% 

Transport 3.270 3.274 0.004 0.1% 

Corporate Communications 0.820 0.969 0.149 18.2% 

Business Services 2.172 2.461 0.289 13.3% 

Business Operations Centre 1.520 2.316 0.796 52.4% 

HR & Occupational Health 3.509 4.490 0.981 28.0% 

Learning & Development 4.271 4.805 0.534 12.5% 

Strategy, Planning & Insight 2.887 3.051 0.164 5.7% 

Commercial Services    
 

Legal 2.578 3.190 0.612 23.7% 

Finance 1.146 0.905 -0.241 -21.0% 

Procurement & Contracts 0.497 0.172 -0.325 -65.4% 

Change 4.363 4.335 -0.028 -0.6% 

Corporate Support 
   

 

Professional Standards & Vetting 1.603 1.712 0.109 6.8% 

Chief Officers 1.622 1.742 0.120 7.4% 

Audit Risk & Compliance 0.971 1.076 0.105 10.8% 

Local Policing 
   

 

LP Directorate -2.892 -3.822 -0.930 32.2% 

Local Investigations 30.262 31.274 1.012 3.3% 

Patrol 46.638 47.530 0.892 1.9% 

Problem Solving 4.040 4.418 0.378 9.4% 

Safer Neighbourhoods 15.324 15.927 0.603 3.9% 

Custody 7.040 7.150 0.110 1.6% 

Operations Support 
   

 

Operations Support Directorate 2.029 2.069 0.040 2.0% 

Operations Planning 3.951 4.067 0.116 2.9% 

OPU 14.689 14.771 0.082 0.6% 

Road Safety 0.088 0.000 -0.088 -100.0% 

Public Contact 16.704 18.799 2.095 12.5% 

Duties 0.189 0.226 0.037 19.6% 

Dogs & Firearms 2.917 3.189 0.272 9.3% 

Crime and Vulnerability 
   

 

C&V Directorate 0.439 0.167 -0.272 -62.0% 

Criminal Justice 3.385 3.797 0.412 12.2% 

Forensics 5.949 7.531 1.582 26.6% 

Intelligence 3.992 4.195 0.203 5.1% 

Investigations & OCON 8.559 9.032 0.473 5.5% 

Regional Organised Crime Unit 4.165 4.618 0.453 10.9% 

Page 76

Page 78



45 
 

Special Branch 1.067 -0.010 -1.077 -100.9% 

Vulnerability & Safeguarding 1.701 1.885 0.184 10.8% 

Cost of Services 219.437 232.355 12.918 5.9% 

 
   

 

Corporate Budgets 9.223 8.063 -1.160 -12.6% 

Police & Crime Commissioner  16.178 20.067 3.889 24.0% 

     

Total Budget  244.838 260.485 15.647 6.4% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77

Page 79



Appendix C 

 

West Mercia Police - Capital Budgets 2022/23 to 2025/26 

 

Project 
2022/23 
Capital 

Bid 

2023/24 
Capital 

Bid 

2024/25 
Capital 

Bid 

2025/26 
Capital 

Bid 

2026/27 
Capital 

Bid 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Digital Services Transformation           

DST - End User Experience 1,500         

DST - Data & Integration 4,475 2,500       

DST  - Tech Modernisation 2,500 2,000       

DST - Future Operating Model 125 125       

DST - Programme Staffing Resources 626 626       

BSP Portfolio           

WMP Telematics 300         

Operations Portfolio           

Hindlip OCC - ICT Testing 751         

Emergency Services Network 1,520 7,520 800 0 0 

Digital Forensics Transformation 1,225 72 0 0 0 

ESN / Airwave Dispatch 
Communications Server (DCS) 

395         

People Portfolio           

Origin - Upgrades & Enhancements 1,250 0 0 0 0 

Learning Management System 75         

Currently Unallocated           

Internal Resourcing     626 626 626 

Custody CCTV & Infrastructure 
Replacement 

500         

Victim Care Replacement Database 50         

PSD Data Monitoring (ATA) 85         

Total Change Programme 15,377 12,843 1,426 626 626 

ICT Replacement Projects           

Desktop Replacement & Growth 488 280 280 280 280 

Laptops 1,770 825 825 825 825 

Mobile Phones 593 325 325 325 325 

Airwave Replacement Equipment / 
Radio's 

136         

Page 78

Page 80



47 
 

New Recruits Set-up - ICT costs 213         

ICT Equipment / Network Links for 
Estates projects 

20 22 24 26 28 

Server 600 660 725 800 880 

Software Upgrades - Core IT 
Infrastructure software 

185 205 225 245 270 

ICT Replacements Sub Total 4,005 2,317 2,404 2,501 2,608 

Estates Projects           

Local Policing Estate Transformation 
(Was SNT Relocation) 

700 700 700 700 700 

Hindlip Park Masterplan 500         

Investment in Estates Infrastructure 
(Planned Programme) 

800 800 800 800 800 

Firearms Training School / Firearms 
Range (Subject to Business Case) 

200 5,000 4,000     

New Hereford Hub (Subject to 
Business Case) 

200 1,000 3,500     

Northern Hub 200 500 7,000 7,000   

Redditch Police Station (Subject to 
Business Case) 

5,400 600       

Total Estates Projects 8,000 8,600 16,000 8,500 1,500 

Other Capital Projects           

Vehicles Purchase 1,000 1,000 750 250 0 

Vehicles additionality 500 500 500 500   

Fleet - Environmental investment 500 500 750 1,250 2,000 

EV infrastructure 250 250 250 250 250 

Road Safety - replacement vehicles 60         

Body Armour Replacement 850         

Total Other Capital Projects 3,160 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 

Total Capital Projects 30,542 26,010 22,080 13,877 6,984 

 

 

Page 79

Page 81



48 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 

1. AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22 

Original 

Estimate 

2021/22 

Forecast 

Outturn 

2022/23 

Estimate 

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital Expenditure 23,582 13,631 30,542 26,010 22,080 

      

 % % % % % 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 2.13 1.82 2.22 3.29 3.72 

      

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
In Year borrowing requirement      

 - in year borrowing requirement 18,086 12,421 28,224 24,410 20,380 

      

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
In year Capital Financing Requirement 14,106 8,843 23,517 17,137 11,886 

      

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital Financing Requirement 31 March 79,025 66,708 90,225 107,362 119,248 

      

 £ £ £ £ £ 

Affordable Borrowing Limit      

Increase per council tax payer £1.94 £1.36 £1.25 £2.96 £1.62 

 

2. TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL 

INDICATORS 

2021/22 

Original 

Estimate 

2021/22 

Forecast 

Outturn 

2022/23 

Estimate 

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Authorised limit for external debt      

 - Borrowing 90,000 77,000 105,000 120,000 130,000 

      

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Operational boundary for external debt      

 - Borrowing 80,000 67,000 95,000 110,000 120,000 

      

Upper limit for fixed rate interest exposure      

 - net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments £90m £77m £105m £120m £130m 
      

Upper limit for variable rate exposure      

 - net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments £5m £5m £5m £5m £5m 
 

 

  

Page 80

Page 82



49 
 

APPENDIX E 
 

METRICS TO MONITOR PERFORMANCE 
 

Objective Proposed metrics 

Putting victims and survivors 
first 

Victim satisfaction by crime type (inc. Domestic Abuse (DA)) 

Victim Advice Line referral rate 

Referrals to  PCC-funded victim services 

Volume / rate of repeat victimisation (inc. DA repeat victims) 

Volume of mental health incidents 

Delivery of training by Exploitation & Vulnerability trainers 

Compliance with the Victims Code (Metric under development) 

Public Contact - Vulnerability Desk (Metric requires development) 

Building a more secure West 
Mercia 

Police outcomes and timeliness 

No. of investigators and specialist investigators 

Reducing reoffending data inc. IOM re-offending data (volume / rate) 

Volume of ASB incidents 

National policing measures: 

         Homicides;

         Serious Violence (inc. knife crime /gun crime);

         Drug-related homicides / County Lines;

         Neighbourhood crimes (burglary, robbery, vehicle offences and theft 
from a person);

         Cyber crime.

Problem solving metrics 

Volume of rural crime 

Volume of business crime 

Delivery of training to support people with vulnerabilities 

Serious organised crime data (inc. no. of disruptions across 4P framework) 

Volume of DA offences / crimed incidents 

Volume of sexual violence offences (rape and OSO) 

DA police outcomes 

Sexual violence (rape and OSO) police outcomes 

DA repeat victims (volume / rate) 

Repeat DA offenders (volume / rate) 

Repeat sexual violence victims and offenders (volume / rate) 

Road traffic collision and casualty data 

Data on road campaigns / educational initiatives 

No. of community speed watch groups 

Page 81

Page 83



50 
 

Roads-related community concerns (qualitative) 

Anti-social / dangerous use of roads incidents (Metric under development) 

Criminal Child Exploitation (Metric requires development) 

Reduction in Threat & Harm due to County Lines (Metric requires 
development) 

Reduction in impact and harm from Fraud (Metric requires development) 

Working with Partners towards intervention, prevention and diversionary 
activities (Metric requires development) 

Reforming West Mercia 

Expenditure per directorate and variance to budget 

Officer numbers 

Average no. of unresourced incidents 

Measuring the force’s carbon footprint (Metric under development) 

Emergency response times (Metric under development) 

Reassuring West Mercia’s 
Communities 

Public confidence (CSEW and PCC Perceptions Survey) 

999 and 101 call handling performance 

Public perceptions of accessibility (PCC Perceptions Survey) 

Use of mobile police stations / engagement vans 

Local Policing Charter Metrics: 

         Priorities from Parish council contact contracts;

         Neighbourhood alerts metrics (e.g. no. of messages sent, people 
registered etc.);

         Data from dip sampling at police stations (e.g. A boards, posters etc.)

         Events (e.g. use of engagement vans, newsletters, social media, events, 
surgeries etc.)

         Social media engagement

No. of watch schemes 

Workforce composition, officer joiners and attrition rate by protected 
characteristics 

Volume of complaints 

Volume of public demand via new platforms and technology (Metric under 
development) 

 

Page 82

Page 84



Appendix to Budget Report 

 1 

Budget Consultation 2022/23 - Summary 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1. The budget consultation ran in a two stage process.  
 
1.2. The first survey ran from the 3rd December 2021 until the 3rd January 2022. 

The purpose of this survey was to understand the views of the public on a 
number of policing issues and possible precept scenarios to inform the PCC 
prior to firming up his draft budget proposals for 2022/23. 

 
1.3. The PCC followed this up by carrying out a second survey, specifically on the 

draft precept and budget proposals. This consultation launched on the 7th 
January 2022 and ended at 9am on the 24th January 2022. A precept 
proposal, the Proposed Budget 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022/23 – 2025/26 was published as part of the consultation process, along 
with a short online survey to enable people to comment on the proposals 
being put forward. 

 
1.4. In total, 1,659 responses were received from both surveys. 1,413 of these 

were in response to the first survey. 246 were in response to the second. 
 
2. Publicity and media coverage 
 
2.1. A range of communication tools were used to promote both consultations to 

communities across West Mercia. These included: 
 
2.2. Public meeting: Holding a Facebook Live public meeting with the Chief 

Constable following the budget launch as part of the second consultation. 
This provided the PCC with a more general understanding of public concerns 
around the police budget. 

 
2.3. Social media: Press releases and consultation links were shared via the West 

Mercia PCC Facebook and Twitter pages for both surveys on launch and 
throughout. Accompanying graphics were used to replace existing banners on 
both social media accounts. Ahead of the Facebook live session (held on 12th 
January), posts highlighted the link and the opportunity for people to get 
involved in the second consultation. It was mentioned again during the 
session. This video was watched approximately 350 times. 

 
2.4. All social media platforms are monitored and where appropriate comments on 

the precept have been responded to, however the 'instant' nature of this 
media means it is not practical to include them in this report.  

 
2.5. Press release/media: A number of press releases were issued for both 

consultations. Regularly issued PCC Newsletters highlighted that the surveys 
were open, and encouraged people to take part during the period each was 
open. This was covered by a number of different media outlets.  

 
 

Page 83

Page 85



Appendix to Budget Report 

 2 

 
3. Survey Findings 
 
3.1. Set out below are the findings from the two consultation exercises undertaken 

to inform the budget and precept setting. 
 

3.2. Table 1 below shows the % of respondents for surveys 1 and 2 within each 
area against the population estimates in West Mercia. 
 

 

 
 

3.3. Table 2 below shows how supportive respondents in each area were in both 
surveys 1 and 2, to a council tax increase. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.Budget Survey 
 
3.4. Ahead of developing the budget for 2022/23, the PCC ran a public survey to 

understand public priorities, which areas of policing respondents would 
choose to spend money on and whether they supported an increase in the 
policing portion of council tax. An online survey was used to seek these 
views. The survey included a number of multiple choice answers and a 
comments box to allow respondents to provide further comments. In total 
there were up to 12 questions.  

 
3.5. The majority of respondents (69%) were willing to pay more towards their 

council tax. The majority of those respondents supported the highest possible 
increase (£8-10). The findings from this survey were used to inform the PCC’s 
draft budget proposals. 

 
Demographics 
 

                                            
1 Office for National Statistic, Population estimates: mid 2020 - local authority based by single year of 
age, (June 2021) 

Area % of respondents 
from survey 1 

% of respondents 
from survey 2 

% of population 
in West Mercia1 

Worcestershire 53% 25% 46% 

Shropshire 20% 22% 25% 

Telford and 
Wrekin 

20% 49% 14% 

Herefordshire 8% 4% 15% 

Area % of respondents in 
support from survey 1 

% of respondents in 
support from survey 2 

Worcestershire 70% 84% 

Shropshire 69% 21% 

Telford and Wrekin 70% 6% 

Herefordshire 67% 40% 

Page 84

Page 86



Appendix to Budget Report 

 3 

3.6. In total for this survey, 1,413 responses were received. This sample size 
allows for a 95% confidence level, with a 3% margin of error.  
 

3.7. A breakdown of respondents by council tax area is shown below. 
 

53% (615) Worcestershire  
20% (228) Shropshire 
20% (232) Telford and Wrekin 
8% (93) Herefordshire 

 
3.8. Of those that responded, 98% were a resident of West Mercia with the 

remaining 2% not. Reasons given by non-residents responding included 
working in the force area or having family in the area. 

 
3.9. Around 98% of respondents were responding as a member of the public with 

the remaining 2% responding as a business owner. 
 
Consultation findings 
 
3.10. The first section in the report focused on people’s perceptions towards crime 

and antisocial behaviour in their local area. The headline findings were: 
 

 Anti-social behaviour, visibility and accessibility of police officers and road 

safety (including speeding) were identified as the top three issues or 

priorities for respondents. Areas least identified as a priority or issue 

include hate crime and preventing re-offending.  

 

 If asked to pay more for policing as part of their council tax, 62% of 

respondents would choose to direct additional police officers to the 

frontline and 52% chose a greater focus on investigating and resolving 

crime. The least common areas chosen included support for victims to 

cope and recover, more resources focussed on women and girls and 

easier access to the police service. 

 

 When asked how visible West Mercia Police are, 45% of respondents 

said that the police are ‘rarely visible’, 37% said ‘somewhat visible’, 13% 

said ‘not at all visible’ whilst the remaining 5% saying they are ‘very 

visible’. 

 

 When asked how accessible West Mercia Police are, 50% of respondents 

said that the police are ‘somewhat accessible’, 30% said ‘not very 

accessible’, 12% said ‘very accessible’ with the remaining 8% saying they 

are ‘not at all accessible’. 

 

 Around 95% of respondents agreed that they would like to see an 

increase in resources dedicated to investigating crime to bring more 

offenders to justice and ensure the best and most timely outcomes for 

victims, with the remaining 5% not.  

Page 85

Page 87



Appendix to Budget Report 

 4 

 

3.11. The second section of the survey focussed on the council tax precept. The 
majority of respondents, 69%, said that they would contribute more towards 
policing whilst the remaining 31% were opposed to doing so.  

 
3.12. The 69% of respondents that said they were willing to pay more council tax 

were given 3 options (£1-3, £4-7, £8-10), and asked how much extra they 
would be willing to pay per year. The majority answered that they would be 
prepared to pay an extra £8-10 per year, the highest amount. 

 
3.13. When asked for any further comments, 490 respondents chose to comment. 

The word cloud below provides a visualisation of the predominant words from 
all the comments received. 

 
 
 
3.14. A summary of all the comments is shown below, grouped by common theme 

or concern. It should be noted that a number of the comments referred to 
more than one theme and that there is a degree of subjectivity in the 
interpretation of each comment. 
 

Main themes 
 
3.15. The main themes arising from the comments were: 

 
3.16. Police visibility / Police Response – A large majority of comments were 

generally from those who remain concerned about a perceived lack of police 
presence, resources available to officers and officer numbers. 
 

3.17. Road safety- A number of comments were made in relation to road safety, in 
particular, speeding traffic, anti-social use of vehicles and parking on the 
pavement.  
 

3.18. Other Crime and community safety issues – Other specific issues raised 
including drugs, rural crime, ASB and CCTV. 
 

3.19. Miscellaneous comments - A number of respondents both for and against the 
proposals left a comment which does not directly fit into the above themes. 
 

Page 86

Page 88



Appendix to Budget Report 

 5 

3.20. The PCC took these findings into account and used them in the development 
of the draft budget. The budget delivers another 125 police officers for 
communities and the resources they need to be as effective as possible. 
These additional officers will ensure an even greater focus on the community 
priorities reflected in the findings from this survey. This includes greater 
visibility, greater accessibility, and more resources to prevent and investigate 
the crimes that cause harm across West Mercia.  
 

3.21. This extends to making sure funding is also focussed on commissioning 
victim services and crime prevention. The funding will be targeted at initiatives 
that prevent crimes from happening in the first place. The themes identified in 
this survey are reflected in a number of ambitions and measures that the 
Commissioner will use to ensure resources are used effectively by the force.  

 
2. Precept Consultation Survey 
 
3.22. To further support the above findings, a short online survey was launched to 

enable people to comment on the draft budget proposals put forward by the 
Commissioner, informed by the first round of consultation. The online survey 
asked 4 questions specifically around the precept and included one open 
question enabling respondents to comment on their reasons for either 
supporting or opposing the proposals.  
 

Demographics 
 
3.23. A total of 246 responses were received. This does not provide a statistically 

significant sample for West Mercia, nor any of its constituent areas. A 
breakdown of respondents by council tax area is shown below (for those that 
answered this question). 

 
48% (119) Telford and Wrekin 
22% (53) Shropshire 
14% (35) North Worcestershire 
12% (29) South Worcestershire 
4% (10) Herefordshire 

 
Consultation findings 
 
3.24. The second survey asked whether respondents supported the PCC’s 

investment in community policing, and the subsequent proposed increase in 
the policing element of the council tax by £9.47 per year (3.94%, £0.70p per 
month). The majority of respondents, 69%, did not support the proposals 
whilst the remaining 31% did. 

 
3.25. When asked if they had any further comments, 109 respondents chose to 

respond. A summary of all the comments are shown below, grouped by 
common theme or concern (please see appendix for complete list of 
comments). It should be noted that a number of the comments referred to 
more than one theme and that there is a degree of subjectivity in the 
interpretation of each comment. 

Page 87

Page 89



Appendix to Budget Report 

 6 

 
Main themes 
 
3.26. The main themes arising from the comments were: 
 
3.27. Financial concerns/increase in cost of living – a number of people made a 

finance related comment, many were concerned about other household price 
increases. How money was spent was also raised by a number of 
respondents. 

 
3.28. Police visibility / Police Response –The comments were generally from those 

who remain concerned about a perceived lack of police presence or action. 
 
3.29. General support – a number of those supporting the proposals just left a 

positive comment which did not align with any of the main themes. 
 
3.30. Miscellaneous comments – a number of respondents both for and against the 

proposals left a comment which does not directly fit into the above themes. 
 
 
4. Commissioner’s response to the comments received 
 
4.1. Within both surveys a number of people chose to comment on the proposals. 

The comments have been grouped into themes, based on the predominant 
message in each comment. A response to each of the main themes is shown 
below. 

 
4.2. Financial concerns/ increase in cost of living – I am dedicated to delivering the 

best service and have heard loud and clear from the communities of 
Herefordshire, Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and Worcestershire about 
where their concerns lie.  
 

4.3. The impact of Covid-19 continues to be a key economic consideration, 
alongside rising inflation, the need to provide infrastructure for our new police 
recruits, and the costs associated with a major investigation in West Mercia. 
We must also make sure we live within our means and that the progress we 
make is sustainable.  
 

4.4. Whilst communities will be asked to contribute a little more for policing, I 
believe it is very clear where that resource is going, the difference it will make, 
and that the return on investment is very evident. I will continue to work 
tirelessly to ensure the improvements our communities need and deserve are 
delivered through this year’s budget.  
 

4.5. Police visibility / Police response – This survey provided communities with the 
opportunity to voice their views and inform the budget setting process. I have, 
as I promised, taken these views to shape this budget proposal. I understand 
people want a police force they can access and rely on, which is why 125 
additional police officers will ensure the benefit is felt in communities across 
West Mercia. 

Page 88

Page 90



Appendix to Budget Report 

 7 

 
4.6. This is the highest establishment the force has seen since 2009 and is close 

to the highest level on record, enabled by what is by far the highest budget 
our area has seen for policing and crime. I will continue to hold the Chief 
Constable to account to ensure police visibility is improved and the positive 
benefits of additional officers are maximised to meet the needs of 
communities across West Mercia.   

Page 89

Page 91



Appendix to Budget Report 

 8 

Support 
proposal? 

Respondent Comment 

Yes :-)  

No Stop raising the council tax   

No Tighten your belt and stick to your remit.  

No Stop raising council tax!   

No  You should start with getting your own house in order before skiing the public for extra funding. If you were to be performing at a decent level a rise may 
be justified but the force isn't,  

No There is no evidence making us pay more here will do anything you say.  

No In the current financial climate, I'm unable to support any increase in taxes and contributions.  This government has in effect reduced my wage year on 
year.  

No Funding should be provided by the government who decide on Police numbers   

No We are already absolutely hammered by price rises..I simply can't afford more  The biggest crime is our Govt robbing us and you can't address that  

No Spend better with what you have and start responding to crimes rather than easy wins. Then when you start to tackle crime I'd be more than happy to 
pay more tax   

No Why don't you get your post scrappped? Your wages would go a large way toward funding more police and investment   

Yes The extra officers should be deployed on active police work and not administrative desk/paperwork. Extra officers on the ground  

No Never see a police officer where i live only ehen they raid a house,   

Yes More visible policing needed.   

No We already pay through income tax.  Conservative government should pay more so we can have pre 2010 levels of policing.  

No With the cost of living increasing, this isn't what We should be accepting.   They'll be zero changes and paying more. As long as the top brass are happy as 
we really have no clue to what the 'commissioner' actually does, who he is and what they stand for. Farcical   

No Our police force is unfit for purpose under Conservative rule. We are merely throwing good money after bad and will not see any change from this latest 
Stealth tax. This needs to stop now. Particularly at a time when people are struggling.   

No Funding should be re-routed from other areas to tackle policing priorities and not from council tax increases.   Policing is a very dynamic and ever 
changing service, however funding needs to be dynamic to match the needs of the service   

No Despite constant year on year rises there has been a decline in policing during the tenure of the PCC. Concentrating more on conservative council lead 
areas then the whole region   

No At a time when households are being squeezed an increase is the last thing that should be proposed.  

No Please ensure that the extra money you are taking will be used to allow west Mercia to upgrade its supporting services as a priority… if the supporting 
services are more efficient then it will allow police officers to spend more time policing instead of doing admin due to the admin staff being reduced over 
the last 10 years  

No Totally disagree with any suggestion that I can absorb any further increases in living costs.  Every single element of living cost has gone up as you know yet 
my take home pay is still 30% below pre covid.  My customers are either working from home or spending less.  Ofcourse they too have an increased 
burden of cost of living. The council have committed to freeze the council tax which they have done in the past only to have to pass on the portion that 
goes to police, fire, social care etc.  

P
age 90

P
age 92



Appendix to Budget Report 

 9 

No Police give more help when asked to visit  

No Place more CCTV to catch people in the act.  

No Yes I have met the Commissioner he does not fill me with any confidence.    

No No..  

No People are struggling with coat of living increases   

No There is zero police in Market Drayton, its full of burglaries, drugs and it needs fixing.  I pay into the budget but get nothing in return to feel safe where I 
live.  

No Perhaps if the govt had not cut budgets centrally we wouldn't have to pay more locally to make up the difference.  

No  The PCC Council tax precept in 2021 increased by 6.7% and it made no difference to my local community. We have less PCs and PCSOs in, around and 
available to our local community than we had the year before. The response time from the police has increased and on several occasions I have had to 
ring multiple times and waited all day for police assistance.  To increase council tax precept would be unacceptable when the service paid for already is 
not acceptable.   

No Not acceptable!!   

No People cannot afford it with rising costs. Do we see the police out and about.. no we don't while there drinking tea and coffee an the station. I am 
absolutely against this rise  

No Will it improve the police response to crime?  

No How many additional officers for Telford and Wrekin. What percentage of the 1 million pound in crime prevention would Telford and Wrekin get. Your 
figures are very vague?   

No Police services have had significant rises in recent years. There should be a much greater emphasis on efficiency savings. It  looks like a poorly managed 
service.    

No Need to look at reducing waste, using resources to protect community less historic investigation 20 years ago is less important than now  

No Cost of living crisis. Conservative PCC should be looking at efficiency savings rather than tax increases   

No There need to be more police on the streets not in offices or using computers. There need to be proper phone lines to report crimes not just computers, 
which prevent many people from reporting crimes.  

No There seems to be plenty of police persecuting motorists with speed traps in Shrewsbury, London Rd, Wenlock Rd , Sutton Rd etc. But nothing done about 
cyclists riding dangerously on pedestrian walkways, no hands  , on one wheel , using a mobile phone etc. Or the illegal use of electric scooters on 
pavements and roads.  If the existing police officers got out of their cars and walked around they would notice these things, oh and also be able to spot 
people openly smoking Canabis on the streets.     

No Review the judicial system, enforce tougher sentencing of offenders and channel proceeds from crime to pay for more officers. This is something higher 
earners will be paying for when those on low income will contribute nothing and invariably, they are the ones committing crime - either to make ends 
meet or escape reality by taking drugs and feeding their habit.  I work hard to support my family, not to be penalised to pay more for a corrupt police 
service.   

No Get police officers back on the beat , never see any always in cars  Use all the drug money to foot your bill - I feel we are paying for a service which 
consists of a phone call and crime number   

No You need to provide evidence that truce is 100% efficient before asking for increased contributions. I sadly expect this increase to be used for payrises I 
too haven't had one for 10 years   

P
age 91

P
age 93



Appendix to Budget Report 

 10 

No I am a pensioner, council tax is already far too high in relation to the pension I receive. You should ask the government for more funds.   

No  save money by  getting rid of the police commissioners role, no need for them or their entourage of staff, use their massive salary to  pay for bobbies. i 
can't afford another 4% rise, where is that money coming from on top of everything else that is going up. absolutely ridiculous   

No Police have enough funding from the government ect. Why should we the people pay when police are breaking laws and acting wholey unprofessional.  
For example recent reports of police being dismissed for their online behaviour or those officers taking Pictures of dead bodies. Maybe concentrate on 
properly background checking current staff instead of asking tax payers to substitute more police officers.   

No I have no more money to gift you  

No Increase after Increase but never any improvements in the service given!  

No Your financial plan for increased funding should be directed to Central Government. This Conservative Government  has slashed public services since 2010 
& must now provide the financial support to enable fit for purpose services.  

No Not enough policemen in any area. Great shortage of police and not enough funding given for police recruitment. The public are being ignored and 
forgotten. You have no idea of how ordinary people live and what their needs are. We deserve better than what you are giving us.  

No  Complete lack  of  Policing  in  Rural  areas  so  why  pay  more for  nothing?  

No I live in a village....there is no crime. The money will only go to bigger towns in west mercia to cover the cost of their policing.  

No At a time when households are already feeling the squeeze on fund due to rising energy prices, high levels of inflation and with a national insurance tax 
rise looming in the near future, a rise to council tax is going to be even more punishing whilst many are already struggling.   

No  Cost of living for residents mean we have to all budget   

No  We are already facing a hefty rise in local tax as well as in etc. So no I am not in favour of having to pay even more when local authority social care is being 
squeezed along with other services and a council using up its last of reserves. My wage is not increasing that much, more like a wage cut in real terms yet 
again.  

No  Police are doing nothing about crime pcsos are useless in South Shropshire crime is at it highest and nothings done about it. But you can sit people in vans 
and do them for speeding. I don't agree with speeding at all but surely crime comes first  

No  No increase untill the ppolice hes got do there job.  

No  Reduce time police spend tackling non crime.  

No  Rather than serve the community, West Mercia Police is self serving. It needs root and branch reform. Just adding a few more officers will achieve nothing 
until you change, fundamentally, your approach. The public perception is poor, officers sat in big cars, slurping coffee and eating McDonalds. And, 
perception is reality. Totally opposed to more money on a non-performing service.  

No  More police is a good thing!  

Yes  Tiny increase. I would have supported a greater council tax increase 9n order to mitigate the increase in anti-social behaviour issues in Worcester area.  

Yes  Exactly what the public are asking for.  

Yes  Carry on with the excellent work   

Yes  Community policing is essential to dealing with antisocial behaviour and this investment proposal makes excellent sense.  

No  The increase of 125 officers needs to be put into context of number of officers exiting or expected to exit the force over the proposed budget timeframe.   

Yes  Carry on keeping us informed   

No I don't believe that increasing the amount from citizens in the area will deliver a better service  

Yes  More police … more visible in our community   

P
age 92

P
age 94



Appendix to Budget Report 

 11 

No They should reduce other areas of tax,where as the council has said itself we will soon be paying for even less services than we are now ,which is bad 
enough ,i can not understand how people can be expected to be charged more and more for which will soon be nothing in return ,the way this country is 
heading at the moment .  

Yes It's a fantastic initiative.  Thankyou  

No we have not had a payrise - inflation is rising, so food is more expensive, a national insurance rise and energy bills are soaring. For god sake help us a little! 
freeze council tax!!  

Yes  We need to ensure the police have the technology they need to deal with a changing world  

Yes  It's important police have the resources they need. I want to see more collaboration with other agencies to solve the difficult problems. More data driven.  

No  Record and energy prices, an increase in National Insurance, and now increasing Council Tax.   Perhaps, we should all turn to crime as it seem that it will 
be the only way for a working person to finance it all?!  

No Reduce your footprint - too many under-utilised buildings - make some capital and revenue savings.  

No  Manage your money better.  

No  I support the investment in community policing but do not agree with increasing the policing element of council tax for the forthcoming financial year 
when it is going to be a struggle for many households to make ends meet.  

No Perhaps you and your deputy should take a pay cut like every other public sector worker. I honestly don't know what you do but it seems to be a lot of 
nothing for quite a lot of money!!  

No The increases you have had over the past few years are astronomically high when compared to earnings increases.  

No  We pay enough as it is  

No  When the cost of living is spiralling dramatically as a family with young children, one of whom is disabled, our household budget is squeezed despite both 
of us being employed as degree educated key workers (one NHS and one children's social care) we need to count the pennies. Look for efficiency savings 
instead of increasing the costs to families like ours please. We do appreciate the work of the police but cannot afford to pay more.  

Yes  Seems reasonable.   

No  Looking at how many times you have increased your share of council tax in this year of great hardship it is time to stop. Perhaps you and your deputy may 
wish to reflect on annual wages whilst others struggle to choose between eating or heating.   

No  It's abhorrent to increase the police part of the council tax yet again when there are very real reductions in the number of police and the crimes that they 
even respond to. Prove to us that our money is well managed as your salary alone is unacceptable.    

No No evidence that you will actually do anything about crime.  

No  The 125 extra police officer is a false representation as these are students are not on shift regularly and cannot commit to their investigations as regular, 
standard police officers who are in permanent roles. WMP get paid for these extra student officers so cannot understand why the council tax is increasing 
either. Honesty and integrity please PCC.  

Yes  I welcome the introduction of additional police. In order to increase "visible" policing, has consideration been made to an uplift in staff for back office 
functions and civilian roles to support frontline officers? Providing new support staff roles will enable officers to cut admin time and increase 
visibility/proactive / preventative functions  

Yes  Normally I would not support an increase in taxes, but I have been impressed with the developments in the police in recent years with body cameras, help 
with speeding, and much better communications so residents are updated when criminals have been caught. So happy to support this increase this year 
but please aim to have zero increase next year.  

P
age 93

P
age 95



Appendix to Budget Report 

 12 

Yes  I now live outside John's area but agree with his principles, especially as they apply to rural areas.  

Yes  He's doing an excellent job and I'm pleased to support.   

Yes  The more police we have the better as it will be a more safer area to live in  

Yes  Keep the good work   

No  1400 people responding out a population of over 1 million people is not representative.   

Yes  Great Work from PCC Would like to easier ways to contact Local Police Offers on a 1-1 basis   

Yes  As long it is put into frontline policing, with updating kit, vehicles and providing officers with further training.   

No  Cost of living is High, I'll refuse to pay the increase  

No  The police get enough money as it is.   

No  Let's see an independent review if west Mercia police efficiency before giving them more money   

Yes  Would be great to see an increased presence in Worcester City Centre.  

No  It would be interesting to know when you want the 'extra' officers to be in role by and how many officers have retired/left by this time - will it actually 
equate to 'extra' officers or just covering the leavers/retirees   

No Along with all of the other increases we are facing at the moment which are going to make life very difficult for many of us over the coming months you 
are asking too much. I am a reliant on the state pension alone although I was a nurse for thirty years my house needs a lot of work doing to it and I am 
struggling to manage that. I am 78 and have never been so poor. There are many with young children too who are even worse off I ask you to cut it to 2% 
as the fire service have done. Please.      

No  We need more officers on the front line available to respond to incoming reports.   

No  We pay enough already and the officers should receive more pay if anything rather than more people.  

No  We require more investment in our "back office" services especially IT infrastructure within West Mercia. Officers have their time wasted by poor and 
outdated systems - you could hire additional officers who will all struggle with the systems we have, or spend some money sorting problem systems like 
SAAB and Athena that will make everyone more productive (and help stop more crime through greater understanding of the problem, rather than just 
more boots on the ground)   

No The cost of living and inflation at a record highs, and now an increase in council tax.   Shame we can't go back to the days of the Police Authority which 
was ran by unpaid voluntaries, or perhaps, the Commissioner could take a pay cut to help fund his ideas?    

No I believe that West Mercia Police are in breach of many data regulations including GDPR and certainly are failing MoPI regulations in terms of retention of 
data - My sources tell me that WMP currently is unable to guarantee that it is not storing personal data that it should not be holding on individuals and 
has not invested in resource and systems in order to resolve this. A  2020 audit by the ICO highlighted many failings with the forces data management 
which is not being resolved. Dangerous! 

Yes Great to see further investment into the police.   

No We already pay enough for policing. I cannot justify the rise when all they do is sit in the police station. All you are is a reactive force and not proactive 

No Absolutely no need to increase this levy. Work with what you have, like everyone has done...   

 

P
age 94

P
age 96



 
 
 

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 

  

 WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

4 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
POLICE & CRIME PLAN ACTIVITY AND PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING REPORT (NOVEMBER – DECEMBER 2021) 
 

Recommendation 
 
1. Members of the Panel are invited to consider this report. 

 
Background 
 
2. The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Police and Crime Panel with an 

overview of activity undertaken by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in support of 
his Safer West Mercia Plan and provide an update on police performance. 

 
Delivery plan and assurance 
 
3. A delivery plan is used to support monitoring and assurance of progress against individual 

elements within the plan and is scrutinised at the PCC’s monthly governance meetings.  
As previously discussed and agreed with the Panel an extract of the delivery plan is no 
longer included with this report.   
 

4. Examples of recent activity in support of the Safer West Mercia Plan’s four key objectives, 
are set out in the following sections.  This includes an update on the Alliance withdrawal in 
the ‘Reform’ section.  

 
Commissioned service provision 
 
5. To date in 21/22 there have been a significant number of developments within the PCC 

commissioned service provision, which are illustrated below. The current year to date 
funding total, including additional monies secured from the Ministry of Justice and Home 
Office funding is unchanged from the last report, standing at £4,143,676.97. This is made 
up of the following; 

 ISVA provision - £763,568 

 IDVA provision (Independent Domestic Violence Adviser) - £241,739 

 DA / SV service provision - £649,902 

 DA perpetrator provision - £455,939.37 

 Safer Streets 2 - £863,185 

 Safer Streets 3 - £1,027,895 

 Home Office perpetrator fund - £141,448.60 
 

More detailed information on some of the initiatives this money supports have been included 
within the Putting victims and survivors first and Building a more secure West Mercia sections 
of this report.   

Page 95

AGENDA ITEM 9Page 97



2 
 

6. The PCC’s Commissioning team is currently developing victims’ scorecards which will be 
produced on a quarterly basis to provide an outcome focused report on how commissioned 
victims’ services are making a difference and supporting the priorities and objectives set 
out in the Safer West Mercia Plan.  In time the intention is to develop scorecards for other 
funding areas.  The victims’ scorecards will be shared with the Panel once fully developed 
and implemented.  

 

Putting victims and survivors first 
 
IDVA service provision 
 
7. Following a recommissioning process the PCC, in partnership with Worcestershire County 

Council (WCC), has awarded the new West Mercia wide Independent Domestic Violence 
Adviser (IDVA) contract to the current providers – West Mercia Women’s Aid, which will 
run from Apr 2022-2025, with a 2 year extension possible.  The PCC and WCC have also 
recommissioned and awarded the DRIVE perpetrator intervention for Worcestershire and 
Herefordshire for the same period to Cranstoun. The PCC has contributed £1,115,598.64 
for 2022/23 and £839,598.60 from 2023 onwards.   

 
Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC) 
 
8. Sexual Assault and Rape Centre (SARC) services are offered during the acute stage of a 

rape / sexual offence. SARC services are offered at 2 locations across the force area  The 
PCC’s Commissioning and Estates team are working with the force to seek improvements 
to the SARC based in the north of the force in Telford.  The current premises require 
substantial investment to achieve the necessary forensic accreditation standards by April 
2023.  To progress this, Estates are producing a feasibility study outlining different options 
and Commissioning have led on discussions with NHS England, who are exploring 
additional funding towards the refurb/rebuild costs. Alongside this, the PCC will be 
contributing funding towards a regional Quality Manager role, to ensure the local SARCs 
meet accreditation requirements.  

 

Building a more secure West Mercia 
 
West Mercia Drug Diversion Programme (DIVERT) 
 
9. The West Mercia PCC has secured funding to implement the DIVERT programme 

delivered by Cranstoun across West Mercia.  This scheme aims to contribute to a culture 
change in policing and to work with partners to divert emerging offenders from court into 
the most appropriate intervention to reduce reoffending.  Offenders of any age above 13 
found in simple possession of any controlled drug will be eligible for an Outcome 22 
(prosecution deferred until the accused has been given the opportunity to engage with 
intervention activity), provided they agree to attend a substance misuse intervention 
(DIVERT) which has been commissioned for this purpose.  This will apply every time they 
are found in simple possession providing they comply with the requirement to attend the 
intervention.  Individuals can be referred to DIVERT more than once recognising it can 
take more than one intervention to change behaviour.  However if an individual is offered 
DIVERT and they fail to attend then they are not given the option again. 
 

10. Since the start of service, 221 referrals have been made onto the DIVERT programme. 
Over 70% of those referred into DIVERT at point of contact with the force have had an 
assessment.  Over 70% of those who are attending the assessment then go on to attend 
the group.  It is expected that the next quarter’s reporting will demonstrate a greater 

Page 96

Page 98



3 
 

attendance rate.  The success of the scheme has led to ministerial interest, and it is hoped 
that a visit from the Policing Minister can be arranged. 

 
Training to tackle drink spiking 

 
11. The PCC has provided £9000 of match funding to the each of the Local Policing areas to 

try and tackle the issue of drink spiking in the towns and cities across the force.  Part of the 
funding has enabled Exploitation and Vulnerability Trainers to work with night time 
economy staff including door and bar staff.  Training has included how to spot signs of 
drink spiking, what the symptoms could be if someone has been spiked and how to deal 
with the situation.  Staff from the Herefordshire and Shropshire Pub Watch Schemes and 
Worcestershire University Students Union have benefited from the training which has 
continued into the New Year.  Alongside the training 90,000 anti-bottle spiking devices and 
50,000 drink covers have been purchased. 
 

12. It is hoped that these initiatives will offer some reassurance to the community and provide 
some comfort to those visiting the bars and nightclubs that the staff are there to help and 
are aware of the signs. 

 
Fly-tipping 
 
13. The PCC has recently initiated a grant round to tackle the issue of fly-tipping and identify 

ideas and proposals that can be implemented to eradicate this damaging criminal offence. 
This has resulted in the PCC agreeing to fund the following. 

 

 £30,000 towards Operation Fly Tip in Telford.  Telford and Wrekin Council will 
contribute a further £10,000 to the project which focuses on prevention campaigns, 
enforcement through signage, CCTV, lighting, fixed penalty notices and support to 
those affected, to reduce the impact going forward. 

 £37,000 in tackling fly tipping across North and South Worcestershire.  In South 
Worcestershire, a grant of £15,000 has been awarded from the PCC towards 
SCRAP, a joint project between Malvern Hills District Council and Wychavon 
District Council.  In North Worcestershire, a grant of £22,000 has been awarded 
from the PCC towards the North Worcestershire Fly tipping Prevention Group which 
is joint between Wyre Forest District Council and Bromsgrove and Redditch 
Borough Councils. 

 The Commissioner is also investing a further £10,000 to prevent tyre dumping. The 
Tyre Tag initiative is an innovative and sustainable force-wide project with West 
Mercia Police, alongside local authorities and SmartWater. It aims to prevent 
garages from being targeted by organised criminals to illegally dispose of tyres. 

 
Regional collaboration 
 
14. The PCC works collaboratively with regional colleagues to ensure that the Strategic 

Policing Requirement is met and oversight of the Regional Organised Crime Unit (ROCU), 
National Air Police Service (NPAS), Roads Policing, Counter Terrorism (CT) and other 
national programmes is maintained.  Two regional policy officers shared between the four 
Police and Crime Commissioners, support the PCCs.  Examples of regional activities 
include: 

 

 A CT deep dive session for PCCs focussed on nominal management.  The primary 
aim was to understand how individuals of CT concern are now being managed 
since the Fishmonger’s Hall attack and seek assurance that the lessons learned 
from the inquiry have been implemented.  PCCs also looked at next steps in 

Page 97

Page 99



4 
 

relation to the regionalisation of Special Branch and the Strategic Efficiency and 
Effectiveness Review. 

 The PCC currently represents the West Midlands PCCs on the National Police Air 
Service Strategic Board.  The PCC has also been Chair of the Board since June 
2021.  The Board is currently meeting monthly to oversee critical work to identify a 
new host for the national collaboration. 

 The impact of Operation Venetic continues to be assessed.  The cash recovered as 
part of Venetic has been returned to the West Midlands force area as this was 
where the money recovered, but a spending plan is being implemented which will 
see some of this resource invested back into the ROCU and also into preventative 
interventions across the wider region.  PCCs are now working towards agreement 
on how the proceeds from such regionally-seized assets are distributed in future. 

 
Search and Rescue support 
 
15. The PCC is committed to developing a partnership response with the relevant 

organisations to protect lives and save those who may find themselves vulnerable or 
trapped in life threatening situations. In support of this, the PCC has launched a grant 
round regarding water safety, committing £60,000 for three years of funding to run from 
2022-2025, to support the delivery of search and rescue teams within West Mercia. The 
funding will also ensure that operational responses to incidents across the regions are 
robust, harnessing additional expertise and specialism for those who need it most. 

 
Criminal justice 
 
16. A significant backlog remains in the number of Crown Court cases.  A recovery plan is in 

place and while the backlog is slowly reducing it is 56% larger than it was pre-pandemic. 
There are currently over 1100 cases awaiting trial compared to approximately 700 pre-
COVID.  It is estimated that it will take 2-3 years to clear the backlog.  Cases are already 
being listed well into 2024. This is having an impact on victim and witness support 
services.  The force’s witness care unit is supporting 60% more victims now than pre-
COVID.  In the Magistrates’ Court, outstanding caseloads remain at their lowest level since 
the pandemic began, with more cases disposed of than received. 
 

17. Overall West Mercia’s criminal justice performance remains above the National and 
Regional Averages for many key performance metrics including: 

 A Magistrate Court conviction rate of 86%, compared to a national average of 82% 

 A Crown Court conviction rate of 86% compared to a national average of 79%. 

 A witness attendance rate of 88% compared to a national average of 84% 
 

18. A renewed focus on end-to-end performance and ‘getting it right first time’ has been 
agreed by the West Mercia Local Criminal Justice Board (LCJB), chaired by the Deputy 
PCC.     

 

Reforming West Mercia 
 
Alliance Update  

 

19. The hosted Transactional and Forensics Services concluded as planned in September 

2021. At that point IT services moved to a hosted arrangement, with the majority of 

services due to conclude 31st January 2022, the provision of 48 applications until 31st  

March 2022, and then 30 of those applications until March 2023.  All but 100 Warwickshire 

users will be off West Mercia systems by 31st January, with an extension agreed for the 

Page 98

Page 100



5 
 

remaining 100 until 28th February 2022. This will be at no additional cost to West Mercia. 

Otherwise separation remains on target as planned. As stated at the last Panel meeting, 

this extension of all IT services to the end of January (now with a smaller tail to the end of 

February) has limited West Mercia’s ability to deliver plans to improve digital services for 

its police officers and the communities they serve. 

 

Estates update 

 

20. The in house Estates service continues to evolve and flourish. Most recently, the direct 

labour force that were part of a second TUPE from Place Partnership Ltd, have completed 

the permanent transition to the OPCC Estates Team.  There are still some vacancies to 

recruit to, however the Estates Team continue to provide very good levels of Facilities, 

Projects and Estates management services to the PCC, West Mercia Police and 

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Fire and Rescue Service (HWFRS). 

 

21. Currently, the Estates Team are engaged in the retendering of numerous long term 

contracts, to commence from 1st April 2022.  The aim is to establish new and improved 

benchmarks for service delivery and value for money.  Contracts include but are not limited 

to; Cleaning, Planned & Reactive Maintenance, Grounds Maintenance and Waste 

Management services. 

 
22. Capital projects of note include the Redditch Combined Police & Fire Hub project, which is 

progressing very well.  Planning permission was submitted in December 2021 and the 

project is on track to deliver the new Combined Hub in October 2023.  The co-location at 

Tenbury Fire station by West Mercia Police has progressed well, with building works 

completed.  Plans are for West Mercia Police to co-locate there with HWFRS by April 2022 

at the latest. 

 
23. The Estates Strategy continues to be developed in partnership with West Mercia Police, 

with a final draft version is due for completion in February 2022. 

 

Financial management 

 
24. In the last quarter the finance team has been focused on preparing the budget for 2022/23 

financial year.  The provisional settlement has been announced by the Home Office and 

notification of the expected tax base provided from partners.  The revenue budget includes 

an additional investment of 125 police officers.  The PCC has scrutinised the budget 

proposals from the Chief Constable, and has worked to ensure that the investment made 

is consistent with the priorities set out in the Police and Crime Plan.  Alongside the officer 

investment the budget also reflects the requirement to continue to invest in the estate and 

digital infrastructure.  The Finance team has provided support to the PCC through the 

process to understand the total funding envelope available and to review the proposals put 

forward from the Force to achieve a balanced budget. 

 

25. Alongside the annual revenue budget, the Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital 

Programme have been agreed, which sets out the financial outlook for West Mercia over 

the rest of the PCC term. 

 

26. The Treasurer Report on Adequacy of Reserves has been completed, to provide 

assurance that the PCC has the resources available to ensure West Mercia can continue 

to operate effectively. 

Page 99

Page 101



6 
 

 

Reassuring West Mercia’s communities 
 
West Mercia Local Policing Community Charter 
 
27. The Commissioner and his team have worked with the Force to develop the metrics 

associated with the Charter to track its success and delivery for local communities. The 
PCC also maintains an active oversight role in monitoring activity against the Charter’s 
commitments.  Latest data for the period 1 July to 1 December 2021 shows that:  

 13,933 people have now signed up to Neighbourhood Matters,   

 SNTs have used the engagement vans on 537 occasions,  

 1177 events have been attended, 

 In terms of priorities, speeding traffic is the dominant priority in every local policing 
area, accounting of 39% of all priorities in Herefordshire, 44% in North 
Worcestershire, 33% in Shropshire, 33% in South Worcestershire and 29% in 
Telford & Wrekin.  Anti-social behaviour is the second highest priority. 

 Both Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin have farm thefts as the third highest priority.  

 
E - bikes 

 
28. The Police and Crime Commissioner is seeking to increase visible policing in West Mercia 

with a further investment of nearly £50,000 in e-bikes.  The e-bikes will help officers cover 
longer distances, with an even greater reach into communities. A mixture of all terrain, off 
road bikes and urban hybrid bikes will help police reach the most rural of communities, 
whilst also reducing the need to drive.  This investment supports West Mercia Police’s 
commitment in the Local Policing Community Charter to improve visibility and accessibility. 

 
Complaints 

 
29. As set out in the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 

2021, the PCC is required to publish a statement on complaints handling. This must 
include how the PCC holds the Chief Constable to account in respect of complaints, and 
the PCC’s assessment of their own performance in carrying out their complaint reviews 
function. The first statement was published on the PCC’s website in December 2021.  The 
statement will be reviewed and updated in line with statutory requirements.  A copy of the 
statement is attached at appendix 1. 
 

30. The statement highlights the extremely high resolution rate for expressions of 
dissatisfaction dealt with by the triage team in the Professional Standards Department 
(PSD).  The force’s approach to triage has been recognised as best practice in the latest 
Complaints Handling Newsletter circulated by the Independent Office for Police Conduct 
(IOPC). This was welcomed by the PCC in a press release issued in January; providing 
further reassurance to communities that West Mercia Police has effective and efficient 
processes in place to resolve complaints. 

 
PCC’s media and communications 

 
31. The first consultation on the budget was launched on 3rd December (and closed on 3rd 

January) and received 1,412 responses.  This consultation was launched to gather views 
from the public about where their concerns lie.  Increasing visibility and accessibility sat 
highly as a concern.  69% of respondents said they would be willing to pay more in their 
council tax for policing.  The second consultation, asking the public whether or not they 
support the PCC’s budget report proposals, was launched on 7th January and closes on 
24th January.  

Page 100

Page 102



7 
 

 
32. As part of the budget consultation, the PCC held a public Facebook Live holding to 

account session with the Chief Constable on 12th January.  The public were invited to 
submit any questions they had about the budget, or the police in general, ahead of the 
session.  People also had the opportunity to submit questions during the livestream.  The 
video is still available online for those who couldn’t join.  

 
33. As part of the consultation, the team carried out public engagement in various locations. 

However, due to a spike in COVID cases nationally, these engagements were postponed. 
A programme for further engagement will be produced as restrictions are further eased.  

 
34. The communications campaign on serious organised crime (SOC), known as ‘Everybody’s 

Business’, will be launching in February, in association with partners.  
 
35. A campaign plan and delivery plans are being pulled together to support the 

communication and engagement strategy and, in turn, the Safer West Mercia Plan.  

 
Performance and accountability 
 
Holding to account 
 
36. The Commissioner holds a regular scrutiny meeting with the Chief Constable as part of his 

role in holding the force to account.  Notes from thematic meetings are available to view on 
the PCC’s website.  Since the last Panel report two formal meetings have been held on the 
impact of the 2021/22 budget investment and on Force Operations.   

 
37. As set out in the previous section, in addition to the formal meetings, the PCC held a public 

Facebook Live meeting with the Chief Constable on the budget following publication of the 
draft budget report.  Further details on this are included in the budget consultation report 
which is appended to the budget report on the agenda. 

 
38. Key findings / outcomes from the thematic meetings include: 

 

 Impact of the budget investment 
o Headline data shows a welcome shift to online services and an uptake of digital 

desk. 
o The OPCC are engaged with the force around workforce planning. A monthly 

meeting is in place to ensure governance of resources, front line stabilisation 
and officer uplift. 

o Training in respect of DA is comprehensive. 
o Updates to the existing e-learning system and HR system are delayed until 

22/23 and 23/24 respectively  
o The force has already identified three areas of learning to further improve and 

mature their priority based planning process in 22/23:  not investing the right 
resources into the process; not engaging key stakeholders at appropriate time; 
and a lack of maturity in the force budget following the alliance split. 

 

 Force Operations 
o The uplift in officer numbers within the force has led to an additional 2 sergeant 

and 17 officer posts in roads policing resulting in a more consistent service to 
the public. 

o Good planning meant that the required provision of force public order resources 
needed to support COP26 and the G7 summit did not impact on any business 
as usual activity. 

Page 101

Page 103



8 
 

o There has been a significant reduction in the cost of police vehicle damage 
within the Force Operations department 

o Real and perceived barriers deterring underrepresented groups from applying to 
specialist roles are being identified through discovery days. 

 
39. The next formal meeting takes place at the end of January and will be a performance 

meeting specifically focussing on homicide and how the force is managing its response to 
homicide and prevention.  The PCC’s ongoing scrutiny of this is in response to an 
increasing trend in homicides across West Mercia, which has seen 13 homicides between 
1 April and 31 December 21.  This follows 21 recorded homicides in 20/21, compared to 
an average of 13 homicides for the three preceding years. 
 

40. The issue of victim satisfaction has also been identified by the PCC as a focus area for 
holding to account with the Chief Constable, following significant and sustained recent 
declines in performance. The Commissioner and West Mercia Police are committed to 
delivering high levels of victim satisfaction and maintaining the public’s confidence in 
quality of the service provided. The issue will be discussed in the coming weeks, with a 
particular focus on satisfaction rates linked to burglary and violent crime. The 
Commissioner will seek reassurance that equally high levels of service are being offered to 
victims right across the West Mercia area, regardless of geographic areas. 
 

41. One of the proposals in the PCC’s draft budget for 2022/23 is to utilise additional monies 
from the proposed precept rise to provide additional resources dedicated to investigating 
the crimes that cause the most harm in society, such as homicide, sexual violence and 
domestic abuse.  The PCC’s investment will seek to address concerns that the force does 
not have the right investigative capacity to deal with these most complex crimes. 

 
National Policing Priorities 
 
42. A key element of Home Secretary’s strategic priority for there to be a relentless focus on 

cutting crime are the new National Crime and Policing Measures, which set out the 
Government’s key national priorities on crime.  The key national policing priorities are: 
 

 Reduce Murder and other homicide 

 Reduce serious violence 

 Disrupt drugs supply and county lines 

 Reduce neighbourhood crime 

 Improve victim satisfaction with a focus on victims of domestic abuse 

 Tackle cyber crime 
 
43. The PCC is required to provide a statement on the contribution of West Mercia Police to 

achieving improvements against these national priorities.  The first statement was 
published on the PCC’s website in January 2022.  The statement will be reviewed and 
updated in line with statutory requirements.  A copy of the statement is attached at 
appendix 2 

 
West Mercia perception survey  
 
44. As part of the Commissioner’s commitment to ensure both he and the force are acting on 

community concerns locally, and that the service provided by the force leads to increased 
confidence in local policing, the PCC commissioned a confidence survey which has been 
running for over two years.  The survey results are published on the PCC’s website.  
Headline findings from the latest results, quarter two 2021/22, are set out below: 
 

Page 102

Page 104



9 
 

 The majority of residents (84%) agreed that they had confidence in West Mercia Police 
with a similar proportion confident that they would receive a good service from the force 
(88%). 

 Around 72% of residents agreed that West Mercia Police understood the issues that 
affect their community. This is a 9% reduction on the previous quarter and an 8% 
reduction on the same quarter in the previous year. 

 92% said they were confident they could access the police in an emergency and 71% 
in a non-emergency – stable compared to the previous quarter. 

 19% said they see an officer or PCSO at least once per week – a reduction from 31% 
in the previous quarter. 

 
Force performance reports 

 
45. A number of internal performance products are produced by the force to enable senior 

officers and the PCC to maintain strategic oversight of force performance.  In particular the 
PCC scrutinises a weekly dashboard of performance along with monthly and quarterly 
summary reports.  The latest, quarter three performance report for the period October to 
December 2021, is attached at appendix 3.  The report sets out a force wide picture of 
performance particularly in relation to force priorities and key practices.  

 
46. The force performance framework uses a reporting hierarchy to monitor performance 

across the whole organisation at gold (strategic), silver (service) and (bronze) operational 
levels.  The quarterly report focusses on gold level key performance indicators (KPI), 
however there are some measures at a silver level included to create a comprehensive 
picture across the force. 

 
47. The quarter 3 report includes a summary table demonstrating how metrics agreed for the 

Safer West Mercia Plan are integrated into the gold performance framework.  As a result, a 
number of new metrics have been reported on this quarter including Integrated Offender 
Management re-offending data, mental health incidents and online request for service.  
Some further indicators are under development and so do not feature yet. 

 
48. The PCC’s strategic performance lead has begun a mapping exercise with force 

colleagues to ensure that all the performance metrics agreed for the Safer West Mercia 
Plan and the 2022/23 budget are captured in a formal directory of PCC metrics which will 
provide a comprehensive view of all performance commitments agreed with the force. 

 
HMICFRS inspection reports 
 
49. HMICFRS has commenced an inspection of West Mercia’s Custody provision.  The 

inspectors will be in force for a period of two weeks undertaking a comprehensive 
assessment of all aspects of custody.  This is the first custody inspection since 2015 and 
the report is expected to be published in the spring. 

 
50. HMICFRS has published one joint thematic inspection report since the last report to Panel 

on the criminal justice journey for individuals with mental health needs and disorders.  
Work is ongoing to review the recommendations in this report.  The Deputy Chief 
Constable retains oversight of the force’s progress against any recommendations or any 
areas for improvement through the Service Improvement Board, attended by one of the 
PCC’s staff. 

 
51. The Force’s PEEL inspection report is scheduled to be published in early February, after 

the Panel meeting and will be covered in more detail at the next meeting. 

 

Page 103

Page 105



10 
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
None. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
None. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
None 

 
Equality Implications 
 
None. 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendix 1 – Complaints Handling Report 
Appendix 2 – National Policing Priorities Report  
Appendix 3 – West Mercia Police Performance Report October to December 2021 
 

Contact Points for this report 
 
For the PCC’s office: Andy Champness, Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executive 
andrewchampness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk  
 
For Panel support: Sheena Jones, Democratic Governance and Scrutiny Manager, 
Worcestershire County Council 
Tel: 01905 846011 Sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers 
 
In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Assistant Director for Legal & Governance) 
there are no background papers relating to the subject matter of this report. 
 
All agendas and minutes are available on the Council's website here. 

Page 104

Page 106

mailto:andrewchampness@westmercia.pnn.police.uk
mailto:Sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/democratic-services/minutes-and-agendas.aspx


 

1 
 

 

COMPLAINT HANDLING 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER STATEMENT 

(Published December 2021) 

 

The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2021 provides 

that PCCs must publish a narrative setting out: 

 How the PCC is holding the Chief Constable to account in respect of complaints; and 

 The PCC’s assessment of their own performance in carrying out their complaint reviews 

function. 

PCC assessment of performance in holding the Chief Constable to account  

Measuring complainant satisfaction  

There is no direct measure of complainant satisfaction. However, several key performance 

indicators (KPIs) published by the Independent Office of Police Conduct (IOPC) can be used 

as indirect measures. This performance data is scrutinised by the PCC on a quarterly basis 

and a summary of indicators related to satisfaction are set out below: 

 Resolution rate for dissatisfaction dealt with outside the formal complaints process 

(Schedule 3): Where appropriate, the West Mercia Police Professional Standards 

Department (PSD) will seek to resolve dissatisfaction outside of the formal complaints 

process (Schedule 3). This enables a more proportionate and timely resolution for 

members of the public. In 2020/21, 96% of allegations dealt with outside of the formal 

complaints process were resolved by the force. This is a higher resolution rate than the 

national average and shows that in the vast majority of cases, complainants in West 

Mercia have been happy with the way in which the force has informally resolved 

expressions of dissatisfaction. 

 

 Proportion of formal complaints that resulted in a review: If a complainant is not 

satisfied with the way their complaint was handled, they can submit a complaint review. 

The proportion of review requests in West Mercia in 2020/21 was lower than average. 

This is positive as it indicates that a greater proportion of complainants in West Mercia 

accept that their complaints were dealt with in a reasonable and proportionate manner.   

 

 

 

Page 105

Page 107



 

2 
 

Progress updates on implementing relevant recommendations made by the IOPC and/or 

HMICFRS in relation to complaints handling, or where recommendations were not 

accepted an explanation as to why. 

The IOPC is able to make formal recommendations where it identifies a potential area of 

organisational learning for a police force. Any such recommendations are published on the 

IOPC website. Where learning recommendations are made, they are shared with the PCC to 

enable oversight of the force response and any action taken. There are no current learning 

recommendations for West Mercia Police.    

Any force-specific HMICFRS recommendations in relation to PSD are captured in an action 

plan, with progress overseen through the Deputy Chief Constable’s (DCC) Service 

Improvement Board. This Board is attended by a PCC representative, and if required, any 

concerns on implementing recommendations can be escalated via holding to account 

processes.  

A summary of any mechanisms put in place to identify and act on themes or trends in 

complaints 

PSD produce quarterly performance data to identify themes and trends in complaints and 

conduct cases. Oversight and scrutiny of this data is provided through a number of forums 

including a quarterly PSD performance meeting convened by the PCC, the West Mercia 

Police Fairness, Policy and Standards Board (attended by a PCC representative) and 

meetings with the IOPC. Themes and trends identified are used to inform primary 

prevention work to address culture and behaviours; including through communications, 

support to local teams and training of officers and staff.  

A summary of systems in place to monitor and improve performance in the timeliness of 

complaints handling 

Quarterly performance data produced by PSD and the IOPC includes data on the timeliness 

of complaints handling. This data is reviewed as part of the quarterly PSD performance 

meeting convened by the PCC and in joint meetings held with PSD and the IOPC.  The PCC 

also has systems in place to monitor complaints-related correspondence from the public to 

identify and address concerns regarding timeliness of complaints handling. Individual issues 

are referred to PSD on a case-by-case basis where appropriate. Any emerging trends can be 

escalated to the PSD performance meeting for further scrutiny and action.   

The number of written communications issued by the force under regulation 13 of the 

Police (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2020 where an investigation has not been 

completed within a “relevant period” 

Where West Mercia Police has not completed a local investigation within 12 months, they 

must issue a written notification letter to the PCC and the IOPC under Regulation 13 of the 

Police (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2020. West Mercia Police have issued 6 

Page 106

Page 108



 

3 
 

notification letters since the legislation was implemented in February 2020. Each 

notification letter is reviewed by the PCC and Chief Executive, and any trends raised at the 

quarterly meetings with PSD and the IOPC.  

Quality assurance mechanisms in place to monitor and improve the quality of its 

responses to complaints 

All formal complaints recorded under Schedule 3 are quality assured by the Appropriate 

Authority within PSD prior to a final letter being sent to the complainant. If a complainant is 

not satisfied with the way their complaint was handled, they can submit a complaint review. 

Any recommendations or oversight learning identified by the PCC or IOPC as the relevant 

review body (RRB) is used by the force to identify opportunities to improve the quality of its 

response to complaints.  

Any trends identified in relation to the quality of the force response are discussed at 

quarterly meetings with PSD and the IOPC. Engaging with the IOPC enables sharing of best 

practice to further improve the local complaints system.  

Details of the administrative arrangements the PCC has put in place to hold the chief 

constable to account for complaints handling  

As set out above, the PCC has put in place a number of administrative arrangements to hold 

the Chief Constable to account for complaints handling. Arrangements include: 

 Monitoring and scrutiny via the West Mercia Police Fairness, Policy and Standards 

Board. PSD performance is reviewed every quarter, alongside wider organisational 

issues related to fairness and standards. 

 

 Quarterly PSD performance meetings convened by the PCC. These meetings are 

attended by the DCC and the Head of PSD. The meetings focus on performance against 

complaint handling KPIs as well as oversight of gross misconduct matters.  Any trends 

identified via correspondence and complaint reviews can be escalated into this forum 

for scrutiny and action. 

 

 Quarterly meeting with the IOPC and PSD. These meetings provide an opportunity to 

discuss performance against KPIs (in the context of regional and national trends), local / 

national policy and learning from the complaints and review processes. 

 

 Quarterly meeting with the IOPC. The PCC’s office has a second quarterly meeting with 

the IOPC to discuss PCC-specific concerns and complaint functions. These meetings 

provide an opportunity for the PCC to raise oversight issues to inform holding to account 

activity, discuss Chief Constable complaint handling and share learning on oversight 

activities. 

 

Page 107

Page 109



 

4 
 

 A report on the above arrangements is provided to the independent members of the 

West Mercia Joint Audit and Standards Committee (JASC) on a quarterly basis, and is 

published on the PCC’s website. Work is ongoing to develop a programme of audit 

around standards and ethics which will further enhance the PCC’s arrangements to hold 

the Chief Constable to account.   

PCC assessment of performance in carrying out complaint reviews 

Timeliness of complaint reviews 

Where the PCC is the Relevant Review Body (RRB), the average time taken to finalise a 

review year-to-date (YTD: 01/12/2021 – 09/12/2021) is 29 days. Complainants are provided 

with an update on their complaint review every 28 days until such time that it is finalised.  

Details of which review functions the PCC has delegated and what measures they have 

taken to ensure quality, integrity and impartiality 

The PCC has delegated part of the complaint review function to an independent and 

qualified external body. The external body assesses reviews and provides the PCC’s office 

with observations and recommendations. An appropriate officer within the PCC’s office will 

then make the final decision on the outcome, and if necessary, any recommendations to the 

force. This 2-stage process enables the PCC’s office to ensure quality, integrity and 

impartiality of decision-making. All complaint reviews are considered by at least 2 

professionals, independent of the police force, with a clear audit trail setting out the 

rationale for review decisions. Further details of the process in place for complaints reviews 

can be found here: https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/key-information/police-complaint-

reviews/ 

Systems are also in place to actively manage complaint-related correspondence from 

members of the public, to avoid any future conflict of interest or involvement in cases that 

may later be subject to review.  

Quality assurance mechanisms the PCC has established to ensure that review decisions 

are sound and in line with the requirements of the complaints legislation and IOPC 

statutory guidance 

The external body assesses all reviews in line with relevant complaints legislation and 

statutory guidance; and all recommendations are quality assured by an appropriate officer 

within the PCC’s office. Where matters are complex, the decision-maker within the PCC’s 

office will engage with subject matter experts and policy leads for complaints legislation to 

ensure all aspects of the review have been appropriately dealt with.  

All review outcome letters sent to complainants set out the findings of the review against 

key criteria within the complaints legislation and the IOPC statutory guidance. The PCC’s 

office will notify PSD of any formal recommendations or learning identified through a 

Page 108

Page 110

https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/key-information/police-complaint-reviews/
https://www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk/key-information/police-complaint-reviews/


 

5 
 

complaint review. To date, PSD have responded positively to recommendations made by the 

PCC’s office, providing further reassurance that decisions to uphold reviews are sound and 

in line with complaints legislation.   

1 year after implementation, the PCC’s complaint reviews process was reviewed by the 

Deputy Chief Executive. This involved engaging with the external provider, PSD, and PCC 

teams, and provided a mechanism to quality assure the new reviews process. A number of 

minor improvements to the process were identified including amendments to outcome 

letters, and ensuring members of the public have sufficient opportunity to share further 

representations.  

A number of officers within the PCC’s team have received training inputs on complaints 

legislation from the Home Office and the IOPC. This learning is disseminated across the 

office. A PCC representative also attends quarterly IOPC regional practitioner workshops to 

support the continual development of the function.   

How the PCC assesses complainant satisfaction with the way in which they have dealt 

with complaints 

There is no direct measure of satisfaction with the reviews process. All reviews are 

considered in line with complaints legislation and statutory guidance. This may mean that 

some complainants do not receive the outcome they had hoped for. In a minority of cases, 

this results in individual who are dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint review re-

entering the system by submitting additional correspondence or requests to engage in other 

statutory processes (e.g. Freedom of Information (FOI) and Subject Access Requests (SARs)). 

In all cases, further correspondence and requests are dealt with in line with relevant 

legislation and local /national policies. All attempts are made to constructively and 

sympathetically engage with individuals who are not satisfied with their complaint review, 

however review decisions can only be challenged by Judicial Review. No complainant has 

applied for a Judicial Review to date. 

The complaint review upheld rate for the year to date is 10%; providing assurance to the 

public that there is a robust reviews process in place, and that in the majority of cases, the 

public is receiving a reasonable and proportionate response to their complaints.  

  

Page 109

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



 
 

NATIONAL PRIORITIES FOR POLICING 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER STATEMENT 

(Published January 2022) 

 
The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) (Amendment) Order 2021 provides 

that PCCs must publish a narrative setting out: 

 a statement on the contribution of the police force maintained by the elected local 

policing body to achieving improvements against those priorities; 

 an explanation of which of the national priorities are assessed to be applicable and 

which not applicable in the context of the relevant police area and the reasons for 

that assessment. 

All the national policing priorities are assessed to be applicable as they align to the Police 

and Crime Commissioner’s (PCC) Safer West Mercia Plan and West Mercia Police’s Control 

Strategy. 

Set out below is the PCC’s statement on the contribution of West Mercia Police to achieving 

improvements against the national priorities for policing.   

National Policing priorities 

Priority area: Reduce murder and other homicide 
 

National Metrics (data source) 
Homicides (Police recorded data) 
 

Comment 
 
Under Home Office counting rules homicide includes: Murder, Manslaughter, Infanticide, 
and Corporate Manslaughter. 
 
Between 1 April 2019 and 30 November 2021 42 homicides have been recorded in West 
Mercia.  This represents a 58% increase between 19/20 and 20/21. The year to date (April 
– November) figure for 21/22 is 11.  Homicides with a domestic abuse (DA) flag account 
for a significant proportion of offences each year.  The non-DA homicides represent a 
mixed profile of threats/ MOs including Mental Health, Serious and Organised Crime 
(SOC), County Lines, knife use and offences in a care setting. 
 
Homicide data is monitored on a weekly and monthly basis within the Performance 
Framework, and is used to inform and develop strategies with partners.  The force 
produce ‘Serious Violence Profiles’ and ‘Knife Crime Profiles’ for all Local Policing Areas 

Page 111

Page 113



 
(LPAs) in order to inform and drive activity through the Problem-Solving Hubs and 
Community Safety Partnerships.  In addition a detailed homicide profile has been 
commissioned. The force are tackling issues of serious violence across a number of 
strategies which impact on the identified drivers of homicide. In addition, organisational 
learning is captured from reviews including serious case reviews and domestic homicide 
reviews. 
 
The increase in homicide volumes within West Mercia has led to the Force engaging with 
the Home Office and College of Policing in a Homicide Prevention Round Table.  This is 
providing the force with the opportunity to share good and innovative practice, 
information and data, taken forward through the Homicide Prevention Summit with a 
number of other forces.   
 
As part of the PCC’s formal holding to account programme, the focus of the January 2022 
meeting on performance will be homicide and how the force is managing its response to 
homicide and prevention. 
 

 

Priority area: Reduce serious violence 
 

National Metrics (data source) 
1.Hospital admissions of u25s for assault with a sharp object (NHS) 
2.Offences involving discharge of a firearm (Police recorded) 
 

Comment 
1.Data on hospital admissions over the last 3 years indicates that there are fewer than 8 
admissions each month for assault with a sharp object across West Mercia. 
 
2.Police recorded data shows that there have been 6 offences involving discharge of a 
firearm in 21/22 to September 2021.  
 
The force monitors a range of indicators linked to serious violence, including offences 
involving a knife or sharp instrument and serious violence (violence with injury).  In the 
first 2 quarters of 21/22, 2909 violence against the person with injury offences were 
recorded, a 5% reduction compared to the same time period in 19/20*. 
 
The force produce ‘Serious Violence Profiles’ and ‘Knife Crime Profiles’ for all LPAs in 
order to inform and drive activity through the Problem-Solving Hubs and Community 
Safety Partnerships. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 112

Page 114



 
 
 
Priority area: Disrupt drugs supply and county lines 
 

National Metrics (data source) 
1.Drug-related homicides (Police recorded) 
2. Police referrals into drug treatment (Public health England) 
 

Comment 
1.There were five drug related Homicides during 2021/2022 to 17 November 2021. Three 
of these are under investigation with a suspected cause of drug overdose. Two offences 
are thought to be linked to drug activity within force including one gang-related and one 
stranger drug-related Homicide. 
 
2. The data set listed are not currently available at a force level. West Mercia Police is 
working with the other 3 forces in the West Midlands region to develop some police held 
proxy measures, which will be included in this report when finalised. 
 
The focus remains for the force in the disruption of drugs supply and county lines.  Within 
West Mercia 69% of organised crime groups (OCGs) have a primary crime type of drugs 
supply, including 8 County lines.  OCGs are actively managed and operational activity is 
planned at monthly tasking meetings. A review of the threat, risk and harm associated 
with CLs is also reviewed in these meetings.  In addition the force works with partners 
across West Mercia to address serious and organised crime.   
 
During the first 2 quarters of 21/22 713 disruptions were recorded as CL activity, 
predominantly driven by planned activity in Shropshire.  A further 88 disruptions were 
recorded against mapped OCG’s. 
 
During a national County Line intensification week in October 21, officers and staff were 
involved in pursuing serious and organised crime, which forms part of the Force’s 
overarching Protect campaign. This campaign seeks to tackle organised crime and disrupt 
those causing the most harm.  During the intensification period 37 people were arrested, 
12 vehicles and weapons including knives and air weapons were seized along with drugs 
to a street value of around £52k, 104 addresses were visited in relation to cuckooing and 
more than £20k cash was seized. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

Page 115



 
 
 
 

Priority area: Reduce neighbourhood crime 

National Metrics (data source) 
Burglary, robbery, theft of and from a vehicle, theft from a person (Crime Survey England 
and Wales (CSEW) 

Comment 
CSEW data at force level has not been updated since March 2020.Police recorded data is 
set out in the table below.  All acquisitive crime types are reducing, when compared to 
19/20* data. 

Offence Q2 21/22 
(volume) 

Q2 19/20 
(volume) 

Year to date 
(YTD) vol 

YTD Change 

Personal robbery 114 148 226 -23% 

Business robbery 14 13 23 -12% 

Residential burglary 601 718 1057 -23% 

Burglary – business & 
community 

585 984 1705 -43% 

Vehicle theft 971 1339 1815 -32% 

Theft from person 121 217 218 -44% 

 
The force uses a problem solving approach to reduce crime, antisocial behaviour and 
demand. The force has established a Problem Solving (PS) support team to coordinate all 
PS activity through 5 locally based PS hubs focused on evidenced based policing and 
partnership working. The coordinators utilise problem solving plans to monitor activity, 
progress and effective practice and work with two dedicated PS analysts based within the 
central team to ensure that analytical work related to problem solving can be undertaken 
swiftly and effectively.  
 
With funding from the PCC, a ‘We Don’t Buy Crime’ (WDBC) Team operates within the PS 
hubs.  This team works with communities and businesses to implement the use of 
SmartWater secure areas, to address acquisitive crimes including burglary.  This team 
provides specialist advice to the rural communities of West Mercia.   
 

 

Priority area: Improve victim satisfaction with a focus on victims of domestic abuse 
 

National Metrics (data source) 
1.Satisfaction with the police among victims of domestic abuse (CSEW) 
2. Victim satisfaction with the police (CSEW) 
 

Comment 
CSEW data at force level has not been updated since March 2020.  
 

Page 114

Page 116



 
The force carry out victim satisfaction surveys with victims of: burglary, violent crime, 
hate crime, road traffic collisions (road traffic collisions) and domestic abuse (DA). The 
surveying capability within force has been impacted by covid and DA surveying was halted 
during the pandemic because of concern over victim safety.  The DA survey recommenced 
in April 21. The rolling six month satisfaction level (Apr – Sept 21) for victims who were 
completely or very satisfied is set out below: 
 
Burglary – 73% 
Violent crime – 67% 
Hate crime (12 month rolling data) – 64% 
RTCs (12 month rolling data) – 76% 
DA - 74% 
 
Victim satisfaction is subject to close scrutiny at the Force Delivery Group performance 
meetings. Variances across the LPAs are identified and further analysis and work 
commissioned to understand the reasons for differing satisfaction levels. This is with a 
view to sharing learning and best practice to achieve better outcomes for victims.  
 
The force provides officers and staff with CPD inputs focused on supporting victims and 
witnesses. Training covers the victims’ code, victims satisfaction and reassurance and 
local victim support services (VAL). 
 

 

Priority area: Tackle cyber crime 
 

National Metrics (Data Source) 
1.Confidence in the law enforcement response to cyber crime (Cyber Aware Tracker) 
2. Percentage of businesses experiencing a cyber breach or attack (Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport survey) 
 

Comment 
 
The data sets listed are not currently available at a force level. West Mercia Police is 
working with the other 3 forces in the West Midlands region to develop some police held 
proxy measures, which will be included in this report when finalised. 
 
The force’s crime recording system does enable officers to ‘flag’ any offence with a cyber 
element, however this a dependent on officers applying the cyber marker. During the first 
2 quarters of 21/22 (1 April 21 – 30 Sept 21) 2,723 offences were flagged as having a 
cyber element, an 11% increase on the same time period in the previous year.   
 
The force does receive monthly reports from Action Fraud on the number of cybercrime 
reports (including phishing) it has received from West Mercia residents and businesses. 

Page 115

Page 117



 
During the first 2 quarters of 21/22, the number of reports was less than 50 per month, 
with businesses accounting for approximately 10% of these reports. 
 
The force’s Cyber Crime Unit (CCU) provides specialist cyber-crime investigative 
capabilities and is responsible for investigating all cyber dependent crime within West 
Mercia along with driving Protect, Prevent and Prepare activity. The unit also provides 
specialist Digital Media Investigative support to all serious and major incidents or local 
investigations where there is an identified high threat. A force wide officer uplift 
programme has enabled two PC Cyber Protect Officer posts to be created in the CCU. 
These roles focus on delivering consistent nationally approved cyber security advice to 
businesses and members of the public as well as providing cyber security advice to victims 
of cyber dependent crime to reduce the risk of repeat victimisation. 
 
The force also have a specialist Online Child Sexual Exploitation Team (OCSET) whose 
focus is to promote the safeguarding of children vulnerable to exploitation over the 
internet. 
 
A Cyber Crime Portal, accessible on all force mobile devices provides advice and guidance 
to frontline staff on how to investigate a wide range of digital and cyber-enabled crimes 
along with providing a route into the unit for specialist support or advice and guidance.  In 
addition in the last 3 months all frontline officers have been required to undertake 
mandatory Digital Awareness Training.  
 

 

This statement will be reviewed and any variations published in line with the timescales set 

out in the Statutory Information Order. 

*Due to the impact of COVID-19 on crime in 2020/21, comparisons over time have been 

made to 19/20 as this will provide a more realistic comparison 

Page 116

Page 118



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

GSC Level Official

Date of 

publication
January 2022

Product Reference SPI/2022/011

Version Final

Purpose Overview of Force Performance for Oct – Dec 2021

Author Strategy, Planning and Insight

Owner DCC J. Moss

Handling Instructions:

This document must be handled and stored according to the Government Security Classifications 

guidance. 

Neither the document nor any of its contents may be disseminated further without the permission of 

the Information Asset Owner.

Purpose

The purpose of this product is to provide a quarterly overview of 

current and emerging performance issues relating to West Mercia.

West Mercia Police

Quarterly Report

Q3 October – December 2021

P
age 117

P
age 119



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

2

Introduction

• The purpose of this report is to reflect a force wide picture of performance, specifically the keys issues faced by the force,

particularly in relation to force priorities and key practices.

• This report focusses on Gold level key performance indicators (KPI). The number of measures in this report will continue to be

refined to ensure that they are key performance indicators.

• Some indicators are under development and so do not feature as of yet.

• Each metric is measured against ‘What Does Good Look Like’. They are set at the start of each financial year in consultation with

the subject lead and only reviewed during the year following a change in reporting or process.

• Due to the impact of COVID-19 on crime in 2020/21, the upper and lower control limits for 21/22 are set against 19/20 figures. It is

intended that this will provide more realistic limits than if the normal practise of the previous financial year was used.

• Projections have been included in this report, however, it should be noted that due to their basis on volumes in previous years the

impact of COVID-19 is likely to distort the projections. Factoring the impact of COVID-19 within projections continues to be

reviewed.

Probability yardstick

This scale is used to demonstrate 

broad ranges of certainty or 

uncertainty that create consistent 

language.

P
age 118

P
age 120



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

3

1.1 

Delivering

victim

satisfaction

1. Delivering a high quality, consistent 

service to the public

2. Delivering an 

efficient service

4. Delivering innovative, problem-solving practices and processes

5. Delivering a skilled, sustainable workforce in a constantly learning and improving environment

Gold Balanced Scorecard 

2021-2022

4.1 Delivering effective core 

practices

5.1 Establishing a 

skilled, 

flexible workforce

5.2 Establishing high 

quality, 

accessible knowledge

3. Delivering an ethical service

3.1 Delivering our 

service legally and

within regulations

5.3 Establishing 

appropriate, 

available tools

4.2 Managing demand 4.3 Innovating and improving

3.2 Meeting our 

corporate 

environmental 

responsibility

2.1 Delivering service to 

the agreed budge?

O
U

T
C

O
M

E
S
 

A
C

T
IV

IT
IE

S
 

C
O

N
T
R

O
L
S

1.2 Creating

public

confidence

1.3 Handling 

complaints 

effectively 

and 

efficiently

1.4 Meeting 

The Victims 

Code

A
S
S
E
T
S
 

West Mercia Police provides a quality 

policing service, protecting people from 

harm. We are visible and open to all, 

inspiring everyone to take pride in and 

feel ownership of their service.

Public First Compassionate Courageous Ownership Inclusive

P
age 119

P
age 121



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Summary
4

Strategic 

Objective
Key

Key 

Performance 

Question

KPI Ref
Key Performance 

Indicator
Police and Crime Plan

WDGLL for that section (made up of 

subsections)
Update

Likely to 

achieve by 

March 2022

Page 

No

Delivering a 

high 

quality, 

consistent 

service to 

the public

1.1

To what 

extent are we 

delivering 

victim 

satisfaction?

1.1.1

% of victims 

satisfied with 

service

Putting victims 

and survivors first
2

Victims Completely / Very Satisfied

DA - 80% 

Burglary - 80%

Violent Crime - 70%

Hate Crime - 70%

• Rolling 12 months

DA - 73%  - increase on previous

Burglary - 70% - decrease on previous

Violent Crime - 63% - increase on previous 

Hate Crime - 62% - decrease on previous

25% - 35% 

Unlikely
8

1.2

To what 

extent are we 

creating 

public 

confidence?

1.2.1

% of respondents 

that agree or 

strongly agree 

they have 

confidence in local 

policing

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s 

Communities

38 Public Confidence at 88% or over • Rolling 12 months 84%, 1% down
25% - 35% 

Unlikely
10

1.3

How well are 

we handling 

complaints 

effectively 

and 

efficiently?

1.3.1

Volume of 

complaints from 

the public

Consistent progress towards 

aspirational target of 75% Outside 

Schedule 3

• Month on month, the number of recorded 

complaints continues to fluctuate. 40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

11

1.3.2
% of complaints 

upheld

• During Q3 the number of complaints dealt 

with outside of schedule 3 exceeded ‘What 

Good Looks Like’

1.4

How well do 

we meet The 

Victims Code?

1.4.1

Compliance with 

the Victims’ code 

(Inc. timeliness of 

updates etc.)

Putting victims 

and survivors first
1

Increase referrals to 25% of victim-

based crime by April 2021.
• YTD Referral rate stands at 24.9%

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

12

Delivering 

an efficient 

service

2.1

To what 

extent is the 

service being 

delivered for 

the agreed 

budget?

2.1.1

% variance from 

budgeted 

expenditure
Remain within budget for financial year. • Q3 0.55% under budget

55% - 75% 

Likely or 

probable

13

2.1.2
Assessment of 

financial position

Delivering 

an ethical 

service

3.1

To what 

extent are we 

delivering our 

service within 

legal and 

regulatory 

frameworks?

• How robust 

is our 

management 

intervention?

3.1.2

Freedom of 

Information and 

Subject Access 

Requests 

compliance

90% complete within time limit.

• FOI rate 44%

• SAR rate stable at 87%

10% - 20% 

Highly 

unlikely

14

3.1.3

Crime data 

integrity 

inspections

N/A
• Audit on ASB carried out - 44% (39) crimes 

missed 

Not 

applicable
15

3.1.4 Internal CDI audits N/A
• Outcomes Audit - 13% (40) of investigations 

filed with an incorrect outcome code

Not 

applicable
16

P
age 120

P
age 122



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Summary
5

Strategic 

Objective
Key

Key 

Performance 

Question

KPI Ref
Key Performance 

Indicator
Police and Crime Plan

WDGLL for that section (made up of 

subsections)
Update

Likely to 

achieve by 

March 2022

Page 

No

Delivering 

innovative, 

problem-

solving 

practices and 

processes

4.1

How well does 

WMP bring 

offenders to 

justice?

4.1.1 % of positive action
Building a more 

secure West Mercia
7

An increase in the volume and proportion of 

offences assigned an Outcome 1 or 1A 

result.

• Decrease in December driven by 

abstractions as anticipated.

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

17

4.1.2

Reduction in use of 

Outcome 16 

‘Evidential 

difficulties prevent 

further action; victim 

does not support 

police action’ 

A reduction in the volume and proportion of 

offences assigned an Outcome 16 result.
• Continued decrease.

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

21

How well do we 

prevent crime?

4.1.4
Suspected IOM re-

offending data

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
9 To be determined

• Increase in IOM suspected 

reoffending on previous month at 

28%

To be 

assigned
23

4.1.5

Volume / rate of 

repeat victimisation 

(including DA-

specific victims)

Putting victims and 

survivors first
5

A reduction  in ‘high frequency/ high 

severity’ repeat victims and a decrease in 

repeat rates.

• Decrease in TRC repeat victim rate 

but increase in DA repeat victim rate

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

24

How well do we 

investigate 

crime?

4.1.8
Caseload and OIC 

Crime Baskets

An ‘optimum’ band is thought to be around 

8,000-10,000 open investigations at current 

recording volumes

• 11, 637 Open investigations.

A 4.4% increase on previous month 

as anticipated

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

25

4.2

How does West 

Mercia ensure 

that public 

contact is 

managed 

effectively?

4.2.1 Volume of 999 calls
Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40 N/A

• Slight increase in December 

following a decrease in November.

Not 

applicable

27

4.2.2
Average call answer 

time for 999 calls

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40 90% answered within 10 seconds

• 93% in December and above 90% 

throughout Q3

95%-100% 

Almost 

certain

4.2.3
999 Abandonment 

rate

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40 N/A

• 2.0% - a slight increase on previous 

month

Not 

applicable

4.2.4 Volume of 101 calls
Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40 N/A

• Month on month decrease in 

volume over the quarter.

Not 

applicable

4.2.5
Average call answer 

time for 101 calls

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40

80% answered within 30 seconds by June 

2022

• 53% in December and increasing 

consistently throughout Q3

55% - 75% 

Likely or 

probable

4.2.6
101 Abandonment 

rate

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
40 N/A

• 17.4% - a slight decrease on 

previous month

Not 

applicable

4.2.7

Public demand via 

new platforms and 

technology

Reassuring West 

Mercia’s Communities
41 To be determined 

• Decrease in December.  Volumes 

generally fluctuating between 1600 -

2100

To be 

assigned
28

P
age 121

P
age 123



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Summary
6

Strategic 

Objective
Key

Key 

Performance 

Question

KPI Ref
Key Performance 

Indicator
Police and Crime Plan

WDGLL for that section (made up of 

subsections)
Update

Likely to 

achieve by 

March 2022

Page 

No

Delivering 

innovative, 

problem-

solving 

practices and 

processes

4.2

How does West 

Mercia ensure 

that public 

contact is 

managed 

effectively?

4.2.8
Response times by 

grade

Reforming West 

Mercia
36

To be determined when unit data is 

available

• Work ongoing to progress data 

availability.

0% - 5% 

Remote 

chance

29

4.2.9 Unresourced
Reforming West 

Mercia
37 To be reviewed • Volumes stable over the festive period

To be 

assigned
29

How well does 

WMP manage 

crime?

4.2.10
Volume of ASB 

incidents

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
10 N/A

• Continued decrease from the high 

volumes recorded during lockdown.  YTD 

volumes in line with 19/20.

Not 

applicable

30
4.2.11

Volume of mental 

health incidents

Putting victims and 

survivors first
6 N/A

• Volumes decresing and 37% lower than 

YTD 19/20.

Not 

applicable

4.2.12
Volume of Total 

recorded crime

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
21 N/A

• Slight decrease in volumes, remains 4% 

lower than in 19/20.

Not 

applicable

4.2.15 Homicides*
Building a more 

secure West Mercia
11 N/A

• Homicide offence trends  stable in Q3, 

but remain consistently higher than 

previous years.

Not 

applicable

33

4.2.16

Serious Violence 

(Inc. knife crime 

/gun crime)*

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
12 N/A • Four offences as of the end of Q3.

Not 

applicable

4.2.17
Drug-related 

homicides / CLs*

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
13 N/A

• Two drug-related homicides in last two 

years. None recorded during Q3.

Not 

applicable

4.2.18

Neighbourhood 

crimes (burglary, 

robbery, vehicle 

offences and theft 

from a person)*

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
14 N/A

• All crimes are reducing in last two years 

(burglary - domestic and commercial, 

robbery, theft from person). However, 

thefts of and from a vehicle are gradually 

increasing, as seen in Q3

Not 

applicable

4.2.19 Cyber crime*
Building a more 

secure West Mercia
15 N/A

• The data from the Dept. for Digital, 

Culture, Media and Sport is not available.

Further police held proxy measures are 

being developed

Not 

applicable

4.2.20
Volumes of 

Domestic Abuse

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
20 Increased reporting

• Increase in volumes however smaller 

than anticipated.

6%  DA Arrest rate increase.

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

35

* National Crime and Policing Measures

P
age 122

P
age 124



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Summary
7

Strategic 

Objective
Key

Key 

Performance 

Question

KPI Ref
Key Performance 

Indicator
Police and Crime Plan

WDGLL for that section (made up of 

subsections)
Update

Likely to 

achieve by 

March 2022

Page 

No

Delivering 

innovative, 

problem-

solving 

practices 

and 

processes

4.2

How well does 

WMP manage 

crime?

4.2.22
Volume of repeat 

missing Persons

Reduce proportion of missing person 

incidents relating to repeat MISPERs

• Decrease on previous month but 

likely to increase in the summer 

months.

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

37

To what extent 

is WMP 

disrupting 

SOC?

4.2.23
Volume of SOC 

disruptions

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
19 To be determined

• 38 Disruptions – the lowest 

number recorded since Q1 

2020/21 and a 24% reduction on 

the previous quarter.

To be 

assigned
38

How effective is 

WMP's activity 

to make the 

roads safer?

4.2.24
Volume of people 

killed

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
32

KSI: A sustained 5% reduction on 19/20
• Overall decrease recorded 

however YTD volumes show a 3% 

increase on 19/20

25% - 35% 

Unlikely
39

4.2.25
Volume of people 

seriously injured

Building a more 

secure West Mercia
32

Delivering a 

skilled, 

sustainable 

workforce in 

a constantly 

learning, 

improving 

environment

5.1

How well does 

WMP manage 

staff and officer 

absence rates?

5.1.4
% police officer 

absence

Absence Levels below previous year Most 

Similar Group average.

• Increased on previous month.  

Above WDGLL

0% - 5% 

Remote 

chance
41

5.1.5
% police staff 

absence

Absence Levels below previous year Most 

Similar Group average.

• Increased on previous month.  

Above WDGLL

0% - 5% 

Remote 

chance

5.1.7 Attrition rates Better than national average attrition rates
• Attrition rates continue to be 

above national average

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

42

Is a WMP a 

representative 

workforce?

5.1.8
Representative 

workforce

BAME and Women’s representation above 

the National Average

• BAME - Lower than national

Female - Higher than national

40% - 50% 

Realistic 

possibility

43

5.3

To what extent 

do we have the 

most effective 

tools?

5.3.4

Fleet -

Expenditure on 

accidents

Reduction in ‘Own Fault’ accidents.
• Volume of ‘Own Fault’ accidents 

also continues to fluctuate.

0% - 5% 

Remote 

chance

44

P
age 123

P
age 125



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

81. Delivering a high quality, consistent service to the public

1.1 To what extent are we delivering victim satisfaction? - Burglary, Violent, Hate

Satisfaction Headlines

- None of the aspirational satisfaction levels are currently being achieved. 

- It is highly unlikely that the aspirational satisfaction levels will be achieved by the end of the financial year for any of the crime types. 

- Burglary and violent crime satisfaction levels have decreased by a statistically significantly level during 2021/22. 

- There is significant variation in burglary satisfaction by Local Policing Area (LPA) (see page, over). 

Victim Care, Satisfaction and Confidence Strategic Board

Purpose of Board: Through effective cross-directorate working, to coordinate, resource, 

prioritise and enable the delivery of the Force’s Victim Satisfaction and Confidence 

Strategies and delivery plans.

To monitor performance, identify good practice and actions to improve performance 

so that 80% of burglary victims, 70% of violent crime victims, 70% of hate crime victims and 

80% of DA victims are completely or very satisfied and the public report that they have 

confidence in West Mercia Police.

Be the point of escalation for risk and issue management and reporting through the 

Force oversight and governance arrangements.

Q3 Priority Actions included:
- Supts. tasked with undertaking peer reviews to identify learning and share best 

practice in relation to how we deal with hate crime, burglary and violent crime and report 

back to C/Supt. Moxley. 

- SP&I to work with P&OD to consider how reassurance 'golden thread' can be weaved 

into all learning inputs. 

- SP&I to work with LPA Satisfaction SPoCs and Command Teams to review how survey 

feedback is used and ensure processes are in place for this to be used to identify good 

performance / training or development needs. 

- Consider rolling-out a force Victim Care Staff Award to encourage and reward victim-

centric behaviour.

- Create real victim videos where victims talk through their positive and negative 

experiences with the police for use in training and development. 

- Promote reassurance through a communications strategy.

What drives satisfaction and how can we improve it?
- Reassurance is the strongest single driver of satisfaction – first and foremost, this 

encompasses the ‘how’ (officer/ staff behaviour (empathy, compassion, understanding)) with 

process (e.g. keeping victims informed) being secondary. Analysis shows changes in 

reassurance over the time period shown above, generally correlate with changes in 

satisfaction levels.

- Dissatisfaction with being kept informed causes dissatisfaction with the overall 

experience. However, satisfaction with being kept informed, on its own, is not strongly 

correlated with overall satisfaction with the service received. 

*Change is statistically significant

A review of progress against Quarter 3 actions and setting of new actions for 

Quarter 4 will take place at the January 22 Strategic Board, chaired by C/Supt. 

Moxley.

Number of victims spoken to:
Survey targets were not met during Quarter 3 due to staff abstractions and ICT issues. This adversely affects the statistical validity of the results.

Next Steps / Recommendations

P
age 124

P
age 126



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

9

Force Performance
(Completely or Very Satisfied)

LPA Performance 
(Completely or Very Satisfied)

(July 21-Dec 21)

What causes satisfaction… What causes dissatisfaction…

“

Burglary Satisfaction Headlines

“The response time was good they (police) were here 

within 5 minutes.  As they (police) were taking my 

statement they were reporting it straight on to the 

radio as they were actively trying to track down the 

car.  They gave me advice on security and they 

stayed at the property. The officer gave me a 

[contact] number and told me I could contact them 

at any time”

67%51%

79%

77%

72%

- Significant variation in burglary satisfaction exists 

between the five Local Policing Areas (LPAs) ranging 

from 51% (Shropshire) to 79% (Herefordshire). 

to identifying best practice. Findings will 

feed back into the Strategic Board and 

reported at the next FDG.

- In-depth analysis has been undertaken to explore the lower satisfaction levels seen in 

Telford and Shropshire LPAs. This identified the following causes:  victims being 

misinformed / not updated around police attendance / arrival times, officers not 

offering practical help (e.g. securing property) or crime prevention advice, SOCO not 

attending (when being advised that they would), victims not feeling reassured (officer 

not listening, taking the time, showing empathy and compassion).

- It is worthy of note that Herefordshire’s approach is strong in the areas of crime 

prevention, crime prevention advice and reassurance visits; the approach is structured 

and auditable and coordinated by the Problem Solving Hub.

“The officers were very personable, and listened to 

me and explained things, I had a million and one 

questions and they were happy to answer them. 

Detective *** was very nice and responsive, and the 

forensics lady *** was very good as well.”

“…I was supposed to have a meeting with the 

OIC on the Halloween weekend, but I had a 

phone call instead with someone else from the 

police, saying a meeting wouldn't be possible 

and just giving me the crime number. I haven't 

heard anything since.”

“Just because I am not sure what is happening, 

no further contact since the day after the 

event.  Clearer communication about what 

might happen next, and better contact details 

would be helpful as I tried to phone the officer 

the next day, no one answered.”

1. Delivering a high quality, consistent service to the public

1.1 To what extent are we delivering victim satisfaction? Burglary

70%

(July 21-Dec 21)

6%

4%
9%

3%15%

= change since end Qtr. 2

- As at end of Quarter 3, none of the LPAs are 

achieving the aspiration of 80% satisfaction, while it 

is highly unlikely that the force will achieve this aim by 

end of Quarter 4. 

- Despite some marked changes in satisfaction 

between Quarters 2 and 3, none of these changes 

are statistically significant (it should be noted that 

statistical significance testing is affected by sample size 

which is low when analysing by LPA).

- However, as stated previously, the 7% reduction in 

satisfaction seen during the financial year is

statistically significant. 

Next Steps / Recommendations

- Being managed through the Victim Care, Satisfaction 

and Confidence Strategic Board, Shropshire are 

reviewing the different approaches to residential 

burglary that exist across LPAs with a view

- Again, reassurance is the strongest single driver of satisfaction – first and foremost, 

this encompasses the ‘how’ (officer/ staff behaviour (empathy, compassion, 

understanding)) with process (e.g. keeping victims informed) being secondary. 

What drives burglary satisfaction and how can we improve it?

3%

P
age 125

P
age 127



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

83%

86%

83%

83% 83%

Discrete 

Quarter (Q2)

Rolling 12 

months (Sep 21) 

Qtr. 2 Confidence (Strongly Agree or Tend to Agree)

1. Delivering a high quality, consistent service to the public

1.2 Creating public confidence
HMICFRS

27 Sept 2019

Legitimacy – Requires Improvement

West Mercia data presented uses 

WMOPCC Perception Survey (rolling 12-

months unless otherwise stated)

Public Confidence Headlines

- As at end September 21, with a figure of 84%, the force is slightly under the aspirational figure of 88%.

- As the figure has remained relatively stable going back to March 19, it is highly unlikely that the force will achieve the 88% aim by the end of Quarter 4 21/22

- Public confidence varies only slightly by Local Policing Area. 

10
>=88%Good looks like:

-1%82%
Confident

(Previous Quarter 

(Q1): 83%)

84%
Confident

(Previous 

period: 85%)

-1%

Victim Care, Satisfaction and Confidence Strategic Board
Purpose of Board: Through effective cross-directorate working, to coordinate, 

resource, prioritise and enable the delivery of the Force’s Victim Satisfaction 

and Confidence Strategies and delivery plans.

A confidence Action Plan is in place and with governance provided by the Strategic 

Board.

What drives confidence and how can we improve it? 
The drivers of confidence are shown in the chart to the right. There have been no 

significant changes in these since last Quarter. 

These drivers can be summarised as follows:  

There are some statistically significant variations in confidence by demographics (see 

figure, left). In-depth analysis by age and ethnicity has identified that confidence is 

affected by a complex interplay of factors (e.g. location of residence, exposure to / 

victimisation of crime and ASB and subsequent perception of how the police deal with 

these issues) and so it is not easy to isolate the impact of demographics alone; further 

analysis is required. 

The Crime Survey England 

& Wales survey has been 

suspended since March 20 

due to Covid; the next set of 

results are expected to be 

available from April 22. 

Trend Data

83%

Female

84%

Male

Age

Disability

Vs

Without a 

disability

80%

84%

80%

B-ME

Vs 84%
White-

British

Ethnicity Demographics

Acorn Type

75%
Acorn Type 56

Low income large families 

in social rented semis

P
age 126

P
age 128



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Policing Area 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Grand Total

South Worcestershire 11 8 20 39

Telford & Wrekin 9 12 15 36

Hindlip 9 8 12 29

North Worcestershire 5 14 11 30

Herefordshire 11 4 10 25

Shropshire 8 9 9 26

Out Of Force 2 2 1 5

Total per year 55 57 78 190

Next Steps / Recommendations

11

1. Delivering a high quality, consistent service to the public

1.3 How well are we handling complaints effectively and efficiently?

Key Points

• Month on month, the number of recorded 

complaints continues to fluctuate. 

• During Q3 the proportion of complaints dealt with 

outside of schedule 3 exceeded ‘What Good Looks 

Like’.

• PSD introduced a triage service in February 2020 

that has now been shared nationally by IOPC.

What does this mean?

• West Mercia has previously had a pilot scheme with the Prison 

Service with regards to information sharing in respect of new recruits. 

Prison would share relevant vetting information as required. This 

minimised risk as there are a relatively high number of refusals. West 

Mercia are now reliant on HR reference checks and ACU to ACU 

information sharing.

• Should the current rate of recorded conducts continue, it is likely by 

the end of 2021/22 conduct cases will exceed 100. This is nearly a 

100% increase on previous years.  

Action 

Required?

No

• Continued to be monitored.

Conduct Cases recorded per Policing Year up to 10 January 22

Good 

looks like:

Last reviewed 

by subject lead 

Oct 2021

Consistent 

progress 

towards 

aspirational 

target of 75% 

Outside 

Schedule 3

Case Referrals - Proportion Inside/Outside Schedule 3

P
age 127

P
age 129



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

12

1. Delivering a high quality, consistent service to the public

1.4 How well do we meet The Victims Code?

Next Steps / Recommendations
• Continue monitoring

• North Worcestershire referrals to be reviewed during the 
next QPR and progress reported back at the next FDG

Good 

looks like:

Last 

reviewed by 

subject lead 

April 2021

Key Points

• VAL referrals as a percentage of 

Victim-Based Crime are at 22.8%

for the month of December, 

marginally below What Good 

Looks Like Target

• Cumulative Referral Rates across 

Q3 2021/22 are presented below.

Action 

Required?

Yes

Increase 

referrals to 

25% of 

victim-

based crime 

by April 
2021.

P
age 128

P
age 130



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D Next Steps / Recommendations

13

X. Template

X.X Subsection

Good 

looks like:

Remain within 

budget for 

the financial 

year

Last 

reviewed 

by subject 

lead April 

2021

Key Points

• West Mercia is currently running a 

£1.352 million underspend.

• This equates to 0.55%

• The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is 

£243.245m

What does this mean?

Action 

Required?• Continued to be monitored.

No

2. Delivering an efficient service

2.1 To what extent is the service being delivered for the agreed budget?

Directorate

Current 

Budget 

£m

Budget 

YTD 

£m

Actual 

YTD 

£m

Variance 

YTD 

£m

Q3 

Forecast

£m

Forcast 

Varience 

to Budget 

£m

Crime & Vulnerability 30.452 22.778 22.156 0.622 29.404 1.048

Operations Support 41.385 31.354 31.024 0.330 39.955 1.430

Local Policing 97.681 72.906 74.889 -1.983 98.817 -1.136

Business Services 48.123 34.126 34.961 -0.835 48.558 -0.435

Corporate Support 4.231 2.913 2.868 0.045 4.211 0.020

PCC & YOS 14.363 10.952 10.032 0.920 13.837 0.526

Directorate Total 236.235 175.029 175.93 -0.901 234.782 1.453

Corporate Budgets 9.225 6.501 6.156 0.345 8.461 0.764

Adjustment for funding 

to/from reserves
0 0 0 0 0 -0.865

Total 245.46 181.53 182.086 -0.556 243.243 1.352

• There are expected 

underspends in;

• C&V, Operations, 

• DCC departments and 

the corporate budgets.

• There are expected 

overspends in;

• local policing, 

• business services and 

• commercial services

P
age 129

P
age 131



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Next Steps / Recommendations

14

Good 

looks like:

Requests:

90% 

complete 

within time 

limit

To be 

reviewed by 

subject lead

What does this mean?

• Timeliness has decreased since September 2021.

• Volumes of received FOIs has increased steadily since 

October.

Action 

Required?• Action plan is in place to address backlog.

• Continued to be monitored.

• WDGLL to be reviewed in light of

service level changes.

Yes

Timely response to Subject Access Requests

Next Steps / Recommendations

Good 

looks like:

Requests:

90% 

complete 

within time 

limit

To be 

reviewed by 

subject lead

What does this mean?

• Timeliness has decreased since October 2021 and is 

now below WDGLL at 87% in December.

Action 

Required?

• Continued to be monitored.
• WDGLL to be reviewed.

3.1.2 Freedom Of Information and Subject Access Request compliance

3. Delivering an ethical service

3.1 Delivering our service legally and within regulations

Yes

Timely response to Freedom of Information Requests

P
age 130

P
age 132



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

‘ASB’ safe incident logs assessed

crimes identified via audit

• 83 crimes recorded – Compliance rate

• 60 crimes missed, which included; 

• Course of Conduct crimes (20, 33%) and

• Public Order crimes (22, 37%).

15

3. Delivering an ethical service

3.1 Delivering our service legally and within regulations

3.1.3 Crime data integrity inspections

• Incident logs were closed and allocated to SNT without a crime being submitted when a crime had been disclosed, these should have 

been allocated to patrol for investigation and crime recording.

• OCC were closing incident logs using ‘AS’ (Anti-Social Behaviour) closing code instead of ‘CR’ (Crime) closing code when a crime had been 

reported but not recorded.

• 1 Rape crime was missed and closed as ASB, OCC process was not followed, rape had never been reported before and should have been 

recorded immediately.

• ASB benchmarking shows a reduction in the number of missed course of conduct crimes (harassment, stalking, controlling behaviour). 

This could be due to the introduction of the new closing code for harassment/stalking on 11th November 21 and training delivered.

ASB audit - 1st May 2021 – 31st August 2021

Key Points

ASB audit - 1st October – 31st December 2021

‘ASB’ safe incident logs assessed

crimes identified via audit

297

143

42%

58% • 50 crimes recorded – Compliance rate

• 39 crimes missed, which included;

• Course of Conduct crimes (9, 23%) and 

• Public Order crimes (16, 41%).

220

89

44%

56%

Good 

looks like:

CDI Audits: 90% compliance or above on 

crime recording for CDI audits in general

(HMICFRS).

Compliance has dropped between audits

P
age 131

P
age 133



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

out of 130 investigations assigned an outcome 14/15/16 

had the incorrect outcome assigned.

out of 9 Investigations assigned an outcome 10 had the  

incorrect outcome assigned.

262 investigations filed with the correct outcome assigned

• 40 investigations filed with the incorrect outcome assigned 

16

3. Delivering an ethical service

3.1 Delivering our service legally and within regulations

Outcomes Audit – Autumn 2021

investigations reviewed302

87%

13%

8

89%

20

15%

Outcome 10 – Formal action 

against the offender is not in the 

public interest (Police).

Outcome 14 – Suspect not 

identified – victim declines to 

identify the offender.

Outcome 15 – Named Suspect 

identified: victim supports but 

evidential difficulties prevent 

further action.

Outcome 16 - Named Suspect 

identified: evidential difficulties 

prevent further action; victim does 

not support police action.

Outcome 17 - Prosecution time 

limit expired: Suspect identified.

What does this mean?
• 73% of crimes reported had already reached the time limit for prosecution (6 

months) when they were reported.  Essentially for recording only because of the 

delay in reporting, historical reports.  The remaining investigations timed out 

during the police investigation which is explained in the CDI audit report.

• There was no investigation and victim withdrew at the time it was reported so 

no support was lost as it was not requested.

Key Points
• The audit found that of the 48 records that had Outcome 

17 applied, 35 of them had reached the time limit for 

prosecution at the time the crime was reported (73%). 

• 47% of 14 and 16 outcomes were where the victim did not 

support police action from the outset. 

3.1.4 Internal CDI audits

P
age 132

P
age 134



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

17

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.1 % of positive action

Good 

looks like:

Key Points

• Usage of both OC1 and OC1A have decreased and monthly 

outcomed volumes to 8.1% (555) for December 21; a drop of 0.6 

percentage points. 

• Monthly view - 8.1% consists of:

– 6.8% - Outcome 1 - Charge/ Summonsed

– 1.3% - Outcome 1A - Charge/ Summonsed - alternate 

offences.

• Q3 2021/22 view - 7.7% (1,661 offences) consists of:

– 6.3% (1,372) - Outcome 1 - an uplift of 0.2 percentage 

points since Q2 2021/22 (6.1%, 1,244).

– 1.3% (289) - Outcome 1A – a drop of 0.1 percentage point

since Q2 2021/22 (1.4%, 275).

• Total Offences outcomed: 9% decrease on the previous month, 

first reduction seen since August 21.

What does this mean?
• The monthly SPI/ Crime Bureau meeting raised:

‒ Anticipated decreases in crime recording demand, IMU basket and Designated 

Decision Maker Backlog (DDM) during festive period were realised.

• LPA Outcome Action Plans continue to focus upon improving ‘positive outcome’ 

levels (Charge/Summons), Outcome 16 application and reducing levels of Outcome 17.

• It is probable that outcoming levels will remain lower whilst staff abstraction remains 

high from Covid/ Respiratory sickness or self isolation.

An increase

in the volume 

and 

proportion of 

offences 

assigned an 

Outcome 1 

or 1A result.

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Oct 2021

TRC Outcomed Offences (regardless of when recorded)

‘Charge/ Summons’ Outcomed Offences (OC1 & 1A) 

(regardless of when recorded)

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?

Yes

• Continued focus on action plan delivery and 

continued monitoring via Crime Management Board.

Proportion of TRC 

outcomed offences

No. of offences assigned 

Charge/Summons 

outcome

P
age 133

P
age 135



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

18

‘Charge/ Summons’ Outcomed Offences (OC1 & 1A) (regardless of when recorded)

Herefordshire North Worcestershire Shropshire

South Worcestershire Telford & Wrekin

254

181

14.3%

9.8%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

A
p

r-
1

9

M
a

y
-1

9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g
-1

9

S
e
p

-1
9

O
ct

-1
9

N
o

v
-1

9

D
e

c
-1

9

Ja
n

-2
0

F
e

b
-2

0

M
a

r-
2

0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
a

y
-2

0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g
-2

0

S
e
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v
-2

0

D
e

c
-2

0

Ja
n

-2
1

F
e

b
-2

1

M
a

r-
2

1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
a

y
-2

1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g
-2

1

S
e
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v
-2

1

TRC Offences assigned Outcome 1&1A (regardless of when recorded)

OC1 + 1A - No. of offences OC1 + 1A - Proportion of Outcomed offences

COVID-19 Stay At Home Restrictions Applied

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.1 % of positive action by LPA

Telford & 

Wrekin is the 

only policing 

area to see 

an increase

P
age 134

P
age 136



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

19

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.1 % of positive action – DA outcomes

Good 

looks like:

Key Points

• Both OC1 and OC1A have decreased in proportion rate and 

monthly outcomed volumes to 7.3% (90) for December 21; a 

drop of 1.3 percentage points. 

• Monthly view – 7.3% proportionate rate consists of:

– 5.1% - Outcome 1 - Charge/ Summonsed

– 2.2% - Outcome 1A - Charge/ Summonsed - alternate 

offences.

• Q3 2021/22 view – 6.9% (282 offences) consists of:

– 4.6% (190) - Outcome 1 – a decrease of 0.2 percentage 

points since Q2 2021/22 (4.7%, 195).

– 2.2% (92) - Outcome 1A – a drop of 0.1 percentage point

since Q2 2021/22 (2.3%, 98).

• Total DA Offences outcomed: 13% decrease on the previous 

month, for the second consecutive month. Herefordshire have 

seen their third consecutive month of decline for total 

outcomed DA offence volumes.

What does this mean?
• The monthly SPI/ Crime Bureau meeting raised:

‒ That anticipated decreases in crime recording demand, IMU basket and 

Designated Decision Maker Backlog (DDM) during festive period were realised.

• LPA Outcome Action Plans continue to focus upon improving ‘positive outcome’ 

levels (Charge/Summons), Outcome 16 application and reducing levels of Outcome 17.

• It is probable that outcoming levels will remain lower whilst staff abstraction remains 

high from Covid/ Respiratory sickness or self isolation.

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Oct 2021

DA Outcomed Offences (regardless of when recorded)

‘Charge/ Summons’ Outcomed DA Offences (OC1 & 1A) 

(regardless of when recorded)

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?

No

• Continued to be monitored via Crime Management 

Board.

An increase

in the volume 

and 

proportion of 

DA offences 

assigned an 

Outcome 1 

or 1A result.

No. of DA offences 

assigned Charge/Summons 

outcome

Proportion of TRC 

outcomed offences

P
age 135

P
age 137



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

20

‘Charge/ Summons’ Outcomed DA Offences (OC1 & 1A) (regardless of when recorded)

Herefordshire North Worcestershire Shropshire

South Worcestershire Telford & Wrekin

254

181

14.3%

9.8%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

A
p

r-
1

9

M
a

y
-1

9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g
-1

9

S
e
p

-1
9

O
ct

-1
9

N
o

v
-1

9

D
e

c
-1

9

Ja
n

-2
0

F
e

b
-2

0

M
a

r-
2

0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
a

y
-2

0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g
-2

0

S
e
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v
-2

0

D
e

c
-2

0

Ja
n

-2
1

F
e

b
-2

1

M
a

r-
2

1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
a

y
-2

1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g
-2

1

S
e
p

-2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
o

v
-2

1

TRC Offences assigned Outcome 1&1A (regardless of when recorded)

OC1 + 1A - No. of offences OC1 + 1A - Proportion of Outcomed offences

COVID-19 Stay At Home Restrictions Applied

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.1 % of positive action – DA outcomes by LPA

South Worcestershire is 

the only policing area 

to see a volume 

increase in OC1 & 1A.

Herefordshire has had 

increase in monthly 

proportion rate but 

volumes remain static 

and low.

P
age 136

P
age 138



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

21

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.2 Reduction in use of Outcome 16

Good 

looks like:

Key Points

• For offences assigned an Outcome 16 result, there have been 

continual decreases in the monthly proportion rate and volume for 

both total recorded crime offences and DA offences returning to 

similar levels seen in April 2019.

• Q3 2021/22 view – total recorded crime

– 4% reduction in the volume of Q3 2021/22 offences (6,765) 

assigned outcome 16 compared to Q2 2021/22 (7,072). 

– The proportion of Q3 2021/22 offences assigned Outcome 16 

has decreased by 4 percentage points from 35% in Q2 2021/22 to 

31%.

• Q3 2021/22 view – DA offences

– 7% decrease in Q3 2021/22 ‘outcome 16’ DA offences (2,673) 

compared to Q2 2021/22 (2,884). 

– 4 percentage point decrease in the proportion of Q3 2021/22 

offences assigned Outcome 16 from 69% in Q2 2021/22 to 65%.

What does this mean?

• The monthly SPI/ Crime Bureau meeting raised:

‒ Anticipated decreases in crime recording demand, IMU basket and Designated Decision 

Maker Backlog (DDM) during festive period were realised.

• LPA Outcome Action Plans continue to focus upon improving ‘positive outcome’ levels 

(Charge/Summons), Outcome 16 application and reducing levels of Outcome 17.

• It is probable that overall outcoming levels will remain lower whilst staff abstraction 

remains high from Covid/ Respiratory sickness or self isolation.

A reduction 

in the 

volume and 

proportion 

of offences 

assigned an 

Outcome 16 

result.

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Oct 2021

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?

No

• Continued to be monitored via Crime Management Board.

‘Evidential difficulties prevent further action; victim does 

not support police action’ Outcomed Offences (OC16)

(regardless of when recorded)

Outcomed DA Offences (OC16)

(regardless of when recorded)

P
age 137

P
age 139



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

22

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.3 Headline Outcome Spotlight

Outcome 3 – Adult Cautions Outcome 17 – Prosecution time limit expired offences

Outcome 18 – Investigation Complete – No Suspect Outcome 22 – Not in Public interest – diversionary/ 

educational activity

• 15% increase in Outcome 17 offences (124) in Q3 2021/22. It is probable 

that this figure will increase due to the number of investigations sitting in 

OIC crime baskets remaining high, leading to a greater propensity for 

investigations to time out.

• 56% of Q3 2021/22 ‘outcome 22’ offences are attributed to drug offences, 

and it is highly likely to be linked to Op Divert.

• It is probable that this volume of outcoming will continue at this 

heightened level over the coming months, whilst Outcome 7 - Cannabis/ 

Khat warning - will remain low in comparison.

• Resurgence of the use of Adult Cautions during October 21 and 

November 21 in Q3 2021/22 compared to Q2 2021/22.

• It is probable that this level of outcoming will continue at this rate over 

the coming months.

• Since February 2021, a continuous growth trend in Outcome 18 assigned 

offences has been seen for both monthly volumes and proportion rates 

reaching 32% in December 21. This is correlated to the gradual return of 

traditional crime recording levels.

• Q3 2021/22 has seen an uplift Outcome 18’s proportion rate (29%) 

approaching levels seen pre-Covid, so it is probable that this level of 

outcoming will continue to increase over the coming months.

P
age 138

P
age 140



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

23

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.4 Reduction in reoffending - IOM

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?

Key Points

• December 21 re-offending rate was 28%.

• Suspected re-offending rates have increased over the latter part of 2021.

• Q3 2021/22 is showing a higher average re-offending rate (23%) than any other quarter 

throughout the year. 

Methodology

• The data is based on IOM nominals who are linked to investigations recorded 

each month by way of a suspect role (irrespective of whether or not an arrest was 

made). 

• The numbers provided are based on nominals who show as in the community

and custody at the end of each month, as those who are proved to re-offend 

at the beginning of the month, may be in custody at the time of reporting. 

• Continued to be monitored.

No

P
age 139

P
age 141



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

24

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.5 Volume / rate of repeat victimisation (All victims) / (DA-specific victims)

Good 

looks like:

Key Points

• December 21 has seen a decrease in both the monthly 

volume and repeat rate of Total recorded crime repeat 

victims compared to the previous month.

• This is linked to the reduction in overall crime recording.

• Increase in the number of Domestic abuse (DA) repeat 

victims in December 21, whilst the DA repeat rate has

decreased but remaining at a high level (40%).

• Average monthly repeat rate range for the last 3 months:

– DA repeat rate - 39% to 43% - which has increased since 

the previous quarterly report (38% to 41%).

– Total Recorded Crime repeat rate – 32% to 33% -

narrowing from 32% to 34% in the previous quarterly 

report.

What does this mean?
• Over the coming months, increased financial pressures on households could lead to a 

rise in domestic abuse and total recorded crime recording, so it is highly probable 

that repeat volumes will increase too. These pressures are linked to increased costs of 

food, fuel and energy.

A reduction 

in ‘high 

frequency/ 

high 

severity’ 

repeat 

victims and a 

decrease in 

repeat rates

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Oct 2021

Next Steps / Recommendations

Action 

Required?

• Continued to be monitored via Early Intervention and Help.

• By March 2022, police forces are required to develop action plans 

designed to make all women and girls safer, in response to the new 

NPCC national framework for Violence Against Women and Girls 
(Dec 21) and it is probable that repeat victimisation will feature.

Repeat Domestic Abuse Victims per Month

Repeat Victims per Month

A repeat victim is defined as an individual recorded as a 

victim in the current reporting month that has had at least 

one other offence in the preceding 12 months. 

This DA data is 

generated from 

Athena where a 

‘Domestic Abuse’ 

crime keyword 

has been applied.
Yes

P
age 140

P
age 142



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Next Steps / Recommendations

25

Good 

looks like:

Key Points

• 31% increase in Open Investigations 

(O.I.s) since January 21 and a 1.2% 

increase compared to December 21.

• As anticipated in previous monthly 

report, open investigation volumes 

would grow, despite a decrease in crime 

and incident volumes for December. This 

is substantiated by the lower proportion 

of ‘Less than 4 weeks’ aged O.I.s (29%).

• However, two homicide offences did 

take place in December, which are 

resource intensive.

What does this mean?

• The monthly SPI/ Crime Bureau meeting raised:

‒ Anticipated decreases in crime recording demand, IMU basket 

and Designated Decision Maker Backlog (DDM) during festive 

period were realised.

• Probable factors behind growth in O.I.s:

‒ Increased seasonal operations – Less officer availability to 

investigate crime, so crime baskets are growing in volume.

‒ Increased staff abstraction due to sickness and annual leave 

during the holiday period. 

• It is highly probable that O.I. volumes will remain above the upper 

threshold whilst staff abstraction remains high from Covid/ 

Respiratory sickness or self isolation.

Action 

Required?
• Continued to be monitored via Crime Management Board.

31%

1.2%

Since Jan 21

Since Dec 21

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.8 Open Investigations – Caseload and OIC Crime Baskets

Open Investigations – Age Profile (point-in-time view)

(Point-in-time view: 18th January 2022)

An ‘optimum’ 

band is 

thought to be 

around 

8,000-10,000

open 

investigations 

at current 

recording 

volumes

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Oct 2021

No

Age Profile 

Bandings

P
age 141

P
age 143



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

What does this mean?

26

Key Points
• 29% increase in the number of OICs with 20+O.Is. between 30 Nov 21 (38) to 18 

Jan 22 (49) with 1,117 (10%) of all O.I.s in their crime baskets. 

‒ Shropshire, South Worcestershire along with North and South teams have 

seen an increase.

‒ Shropshire – increased volume – from 19 to 26 OICs with 20+O.Is representing 

611 O.I.s.

Next Steps / Recommendations

• It is highly probable that Open Investigations volumes will remain above the 

upper threshold whilst staff abstraction remains high from Covid/ Respiratory 

sickness or self isolation.

4. Delivering effective prevention and intervention

4.1 How well does West Mercia Police bring offenders to justice?

4.1.8 Open Investigations – Caseload and OIC Crime Baskets

One 
Shropshire Detective 

Constable Shift C

31 Open 

Investigations

29% increase
in OICs with 

20+O.I.s
(30th Nov 21 to 

18th Jan 22)

Open Investigation Crime Baskets by Command (Point-in-time view: 18th January 2022)

One
Shropshire Patrol 

Officer Shift A / B

has 32 Open 

Investigations across 

2 different crime 

baskets

• Continued to be monitored via Crime Management Board.

• The Athena Crime Management team and the Systems Athena 

Admin team are looking into the issue of multiple crime baskets 

for officers.

‒ Identify reinforced training initiatives for student officers who 

are rotating across different units.

‒ Enable sergeants and inspectors to review all O.I.s in crime 

baskets for constables posted to their units regardless of unit 

origin.

‒ New process map to be developed for student officer rotation 

to ensure ORIGIN is updated in a timely manner due to the 

knock-on effect on crime baskets.

Action 

Required?

Yes

Student Officers 

with <2 yrs service 
represent 

35% - 42% of 

20+ O.I. crime 

baskets for Shropshire 

(9) and South 

Worcestershire (5)

Patrol function 
represents 

69% - 75% of 

20+ O.I. crime 

baskets for Shropshire 

(18) and South 

Worcestershire (9)

P
age 142

P
age 144



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

27

Good 

looks like:

999 calls:

90% 

answered 

within 10 

seconds

Last reviewed 

by subject 

lead Jan 2022

What does this mean?

• 999 demand reduced by 7% between Q2 and Q3 however 

was 19% higher than 999 volumes experienced in Q3 

2019/2020. 

• Supported, in part, by the decrease the OCC presented a 4% 

increase in performance to 92% Q3 compared with Q2 (and 

a 3% increase from Q3 2020/2021).

• The statutory 999 target was met in all three months of 

Q3 despite sporadic ICT failures that rendered core OCC 

systems disrupted or at times inoperable and an increase in 

COVID absences owing to the emergence of the Omicron 

variant. 

• The reduction in demand was predicted owing to seasonal 

trends. 999 abandonment decreased from the typically busier 

Q2 to return to levels seen in Q1. 

Action 

Required?

No

Good 

looks like:

101 calls: 

80% 

answered 

within 30 

seconds by 

June 2022

Last reviewed 

by subject 

lead Jan 2022

What does this mean?

• In Q3 there has been a 11% reduction in call demand from 

the previous Q2 and a 8% reduction from Q3 2020/2021.

• Supported, in part, by the reduction in demand, the OCC 

presented a 6% increase in performance to 49% of 101 

calls being answered within 30 seconds for Q3.

• Abandonment declined month on month within Q3. 

• Monthly 101 performance has grown throughout the quarter 

(42%, 51% and 55%) and continues to do so in Q4 as 

demand remains low. 

• ICT faults are resolved and abstractions reduce. By way of 

example, January 2022 call performance currently stands at 

96% 999 and 74% 101 (accurate as of the 9th January), 

supporting the upward trajectory. 

Action 

Required?

No

4. Delivering innovative, problem-solving practices and processes

4.2 How does West Mercia ensure that public contact is managed effectively?

P
age 143

P
age 145



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

28

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How does West Mercia ensure that public contact is managed effectively?

4.2.7 Public demand via new platforms and technology

Key Points

• Digital contact via SOH saw a 4% 

reduction in Q3 compared to Q2.

What does this mean?

• Despite reduction in December, Single Online Home 

represents a regular contact channel of choice and the 

growth in digital demand is expected to continue. 

Next Steps / 

Recommendations Good 

looks like:

To be 

reviewed by 

subject lead
Action 

Required?

• What Good Looks Like 

needs to be 
determined. 

Yes

P
age 144

P
age 146



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

What does this mean?

• Force wide unresourced continues to fluctuate but has 

reduced from Q2. 

• The move away from the seasonal high demand in Q2 has 

seen unresourced numbers decline. 

• DA Deployment Pilot in Herefordshire and South 

Worcestershire was in effect throughout December.

29

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How does West Mercia ensure that public contact is managed effectively?

4.2.9 Unresourced4.2.8 Response times by grade

Next Steps / Recommendations

• Awaiting confirmation from 

Saab as to the dates for this work to 

take place.

Key Points

• Reporting challenges continue, preventing analysis of 

response times.

What does this mean?

• West Mercia are presently unable to report on response 

times by grade.

• Work continues to progress. 

• The OCC programme has recently submitted a request to 

Saab that they open up the relevant databases within SAFE 

to enable reporting on police Unit Attendance MI.

• Saab have received the request and are currently 

scheduling the work.

Action 

Required?

No

Next Steps / Recommendations

Good 

looks like:

To be 

reviewed by 

subject lead

Action 

Required?
• What Good Looks Like needs to be reviewed in 

line with data changes. Yes

P
age 145

P
age 147



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

30

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime?

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?• Continued strategic monitoring by performance.

No

Key Points

The upper and lower control limits are derived by calculating 2 points of Standard Deviation from the mean. The mean is fixed for the year and is based on volumes 

recorded in 19/20 so that control limits are not influenced by the effects of Covid restrictions. 

NB. It is possible for the previous month to be coloured differently from the month in 2019/20 even if volumes are similar.  This is due to the upper and lower control 
limits changing annually based on volumes in the previous year. 

• Volumes of Other Sexual Offences are exceptional. Data has been shared 

with LPA and further analysis is included on page 33. 

 

Dec 2021 Dec 2019
Prev 12 

Months

YTD % Change 

21/22 Vs 19/20

Total 

Outcomed 

YTD 21/22

Action Taken 

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

Outcome 16

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

Dec 2021 Dec 2019
Prev 12 

Months

YTD % Change 

21/22 Vs 19/20

Total 

Outcomed 

YTD 21/22

Action Taken 

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

Outcome 16

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

Total Recorded 

Crime
7035 7149 -4% 61259 10% 34% Shoplifting 507 586 -25% 4238 22% 7%

Violence With 

Injury
924 1014 -4% 7616 12% 47%

All Other Theft 

Offences
643 610 -18% 5050 3% 15%

Violence Without 

Injury
2129 1918 13% 18997 6% 56%

Criminal Damage 

& Arson
650 800 -10% 6375 8% 20%

Rape 97 101 15% 939 5% 42% Drug Offences 146 233 -3% 1708 50% 4%

Other Sexual 

Offences
228 176 20% 1790 10% 33%

Possession 

of Weapons
68 54 -10% 579 36% 14%

Personal 

Robbery
37 40 -22% 331 8% 28% Public Order 572 391 37% 5521 13% 39%

Business 

Robbery
2 5 -23% 32 28% 6%

Misc. Crimes 

Against Society
117 109 11% 1044 19% 22%

Residential Burg

Dwelling
156 232 -25% 1460 4% 9% Alcohol Related 573 634 -11%

Burg - Business 

& Community
208 325 -39% 1733 4% 3%

Vehicle 

Offences
471 447 -23% 3044 2% 5% Incidents 20096 23950 -14%

Theft from 

Person
32 60 -45% 307 2% 22%

Anti Social 

Behaviour
2254 2430 0%

Bicycle Theft 48 48 -25% 495 6% 6% Mental Health 4 12 -37%

Does not directly relate to crime recorded in 

the YTD time period

Does not directly relate to crime recorded in 

the YTD time period

366

278

1661

129

76

2186

63

36

9

1

257

196

503

377

91

30

94

43

230

152

583

318

136

93

744

341

28634

21803

4290

2186

8210

6315
166
1073

415

2228

1661

780

76
1661

847

76

489

1661

869

731

482

197

164

114

44

35

4

P
age 146

P
age 148



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Jan 2022

YTD % 

Change 21/22 

Vs 19/20

Total 

Outcomed 

YTD 21/22

Action Taken 

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

Outcome 16

Prop. Rate

YTD 21/22

7035 -4% 61259 10% 34%

3500

5500

7500

9500

Total Recorded Crime

0

1000

2000

3000

Domestic Abuse Crime

0

1000

2000

3000

Child At Risk Crime

0

100

200

300

400

Hate Crime

0

500

1000

1500

2000

Vulnerable Adult Crime

0

50

100

CSE Crime

0

100

200

300

Residential Burglary

31

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime? – Policing Priorities

Key Points

• Total Recorded Crime remains within the control limits with a majority of crime types also within 

their respective control limits. 

• Residential Burglary remains below the lower control limit, consistent with “What Good Looks 

Like”.

• Domestic Abuse, Hate, Vulnerable Adult and Child at Risk are all projected to increase above the 

upper control limit in the coming months. This will be monitored by performance. 

P
age 147

P
age 149



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

32

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime? – Exceptional Volumes

Next Steps / Recommendations

Key Points

• Volumes of Other Sexual Offences exceeded the upper control limit

in December 2021/22. 

• Substantial increase of 37% (54) compared to December 2020/21, and 

an increase of 14% (24) on December 2019/20 volumes.

• 12 month rolling average has increased month on month since Feb 

2021.

• Year to Date increase of 30% (449) compared to 2020/21, and increase 

of 20% (321) compared to  2019/20.

What does this mean?

• The most frequent offence description at 44% (292) in Q3 2021/22  is

“Sexual Assault on a Female Aged 13 and Over”, followed by 

“Sexual Activity Involving a Child Under 16” at 14% (19).

• Overall 60% (395) relate to non recent offences meaning the offence 

was committed over 28 days previous to reported date.

• Approximately 12% may relate to the Night Time Economy.

Action 

Required?

No

• Data shared with LPA and continued strategic 

monitoring by performance.

P
age 148

P
age 150



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

33

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime?

Key priorities: murder, serious violence, domestic abuse, neighbourhood crime 

and drug supply/county lines

Not numerical targets but key indicators to show improvement against; 

expectation of significant improvements within 3 years

0
1
2
3
4

A
p

r-
1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

O
ct

-1
8

Ja
n

-1
9

A
p

r-
1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

O
ct

-1
9

Ja
n

-2
0

A
p

r-
2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

A
p

r-
2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

O
ct

-2
1

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s

Month

Homicide offences in West Mercia between Apr 

2018 and Dec 2021

P
age 149

P
age 151



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

34

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime?

The Strategic Policing Requirement sets out the threats that require a co-ordinated national policing response. The delivery of

our response to this requirement to work collaboratively, and with other partners, to ensure such threats are tackled effectively,

is collated and summarised below.

Capacity and Contribution  Capability Connectivity 

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l 
T

h
re

a
ts

 

Terrorism 

Staffing gaps are minor as possible losses are 

projected and planned for. Small issues with 

security of supply due to time taken for vetting 

and training, however projection of vacancies 

and supply of assets from region help reduce 

impact. 

Optimum training levels with surge 

capability if required.

Collaboration with partners is vital to enable West Mercia to deliver under the four P's 

detailed in the CONTEST Strategy and Action Plan. Relationships are maintained through 

regular contact, meetings and sharing of information.  

Serious and 

Organised Crime 

Some concerns surrounding the levels of staffing 

and time taken to train individuals, particularly 

within SOCU however, this impact is often 

limited due to the provision of the ROCU and 

the forces ability to prioritise resource.   

Issues exist with limited surveillance 

capability. 

With offenders active across borders it is vital West Mercia continue communications with 

partners/agencies not just across the UK but overseas as well. The force works closely with 

a number of agencies such as Gain, HMRC, airlines and Border Force to ensure 

intelligence and information is shared accordingly. 

The Force has an embedded Serious and Organised Crime Joint Action Group (SOCJAG) 

structure which brings together a host of partners on a regular basis to work to tackle 

Serious and Organised Crime collectively. The CPS is also a crucial partner who the force 

work closely with on a regular basis. 

National Cyber 

Security Incident 

The Cyber Crime Unit (CCU) has optimum 

staffing levels to enable response to cyber 

security incidents. 

The CCU is fit for purpose and 

capability is constantly improving 

within the team to maintain good 

standards. Additional vehicles however 

are required. 

The force work closely with the West Midlands regional Cyber Crime Unit along with all of 

the regional Cyber Crime Units. Also linked into the National Cyber Security Centre and 

the National Cyber Crime Unit to enable partnership working across the UK. Regular 

contact is established with National Fraud Intelligence Bureau (NFIB), Action Fraud and 

Get Safe Online. 

Threat to Public 

Order and Public 

Safety 

Optimum levels of staff with well above the 

nationally-specified number of trained officers.

Some issues may exist in the 

accreditation of roles in 2020, however 

officers are currently trained in line 

with national requirements.  

For events, the force works with a variety of partners depending on the event taking place. 

For example, frequently events planners and coordinators will be in contact with safety 

advisory groups, local councils, sporting clubs and other event organisers. 

Civil Emergencies 

Number of resources are sufficient to maintain 

business as usual and respond to major 

emergencies, however in the event of a 

significant incident some BAU demand is 

disrupted due to low staffing levels. 

Issues with equipment exist which 

limits capability when connecting and 

sharing information with partners.

Local Resilience Forums (LRFs) ensure collaborative working and are an integral part of the 

process in ensuring the production of contingency plans and individual agency plans for 

mitigation and response. The LRFs are a significant and vital element of working in 

partnership and taking a multi-agency approach to action.  

Child Sexual Abuse 

(CSA)

Due to a recent uplift in resources there are 

optimum staffing levels available for 

contribution.  

Issues exist with some interview 

locations and medical facilities not 

being fit for purpose. There are a 

limited number of fully trained and 

accredited investigators. 

Problem Solving Hubs and Harm Assessment Units aim to support colleagues and external 

partners in reducing harm and risk through problem solving. The officers engage in 

partnership working using innovative and child-centred policing to proactively provide 

early intervention.

P
age 150

P
age 152



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D Next Steps / Recommendations

35

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime? 4.2.15 – Domestic Abuse

Good 

looks like:

Increased 

Reporting

Last reviewed 

by subject lead 

Jan 2022

Action 

Required?

Yes

• Future comms also includes other DA 

relationship dynamics (parent/child, female 

on male etc.)

Key Points

• Volumes of Domestic Abuse 

Offences were within control 

limits in December 2021/22. 

• Increase of 8% (204) compared to 

December 2020/21, and a 

decrease of 8% (208) on 

December 2019/20 volumes.

• Year to Date marginal increase of 

1% (206) compared to 2020/21, 

and marginal decrease of 1% 

(196) compared to  2019/20.

What does this mean?

• Increase in volumes however smaller than anticipated.

• A successful DA campaign in December campaign was 

run with a focus on control & coercive behaviour. 

Facebook had a reach of over 600,000 unique impressions.

• A small advert had a reach of over 57,000 which resulted 

in 2,000 hits on a page to report DA.

P
age 151

P
age 153



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D Next Steps / Recommendations

36

Key Points

• Significant increase in DA arrest rate.

• 6% increase in arrest rate in Dec compared to the previous

month.

• In part driven by DA Deployment Pilot held in December 

(Herefordshire and South Worcestershire).

• However, all LPAs recorded an increase (Herefordshire and 

South Worcestershire most significantly).

• This suggests a trend of increased arrest rates may be 

occurring but has been increased by the pilot scheme.

What does this mean?

Offences in the last quarter were driven by:

• Assault without Injury – 27% (1158)

• Assault with Injury – 20% (851)

• Stalking – 12% (536)

• Malicious Communications – 11%  (485)

Two murders recorded that were DA related in the last 

quarter. 

Action 

Required?• Monthly report to be supplied by 

SP&I on the DA Pilot
• WDGLL to be reviewed Yes

Methodology

1. This data is generated from Athena where a ‘Domestic Abuse’ crime keyword has been applied.

2. Arrest Rate is calculated by dividing DA arrests by the number of DA offences. 

3. We are currently unable to link offences and arrests using Athena. 

4. This can present an issue at the local level which uses the detention location as suspects can be 

taken to a detention location outside their LPA due to the proximity. 

5. This methodology will be reviewed as soon as data from other sources becomes available.

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime? 4.2.15 – Domestic Abuse

P
age 152

P
age 154



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

Repeat MISPERS

37

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How well does West Mercia manage crime?

4.2.22 Repeat Missing Persons

Key Points

Monthly view

• The monthly proportion

of Missing Person reports 

relating to repeat MISPERs 

has been on a downward 

trend for the last 3 

months from 30% to 

28%.

Q3 2021/22 view

• Uplift in the quarterly 

proportion rate from 

37% for Q2 2021/22 to 

39% for Q3 2021/22, due 

to an increase in repeat 

missing persons.

What does this mean?

• It is probable that monthly volumes will 

increase in the coming months due to 

potential easing of ‘Plan B’ Covid restrictions 

and improved seasonal weather.

Next Steps / Recommendations

Action 

Required?

• Tactical data shared with 

LPA and continued strategic 

monitoring by 
performance.

Good 

looks like:

Reduce 

proportion of 

missing 

person 

incidents 

relating to 

repeat 

MISPERs

Last reviewed 

by subject lead 

Oct 2021

No

P
age 153

P
age 155



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

38

Key Points

• 16 Disruptions – the lowest number recorded since Q1 

2020/21 and a 58% reduction on the previous quarter.

• Figures for Q3 represent a significant decline in 

disruptions (65% less than the quarterly average for the 

past 2 years meaning Q3 is a statistical outlier) and 

continues the downward trend in the number of positive 

disruptions being recorded since Oct 2019.

• 97% of all disruptions this quarter were positive. 

• Currently 28 active OCGs – down from 31 in March 

2020. 

What does this mean?

• Figures for Q3 represent a significant decline in 

disruptions (65% less than the quarterly average for 

the past 2 years meaning Q3 is a statistical outlier) 

and continues the downward trend in the number of 

positive disruptions being recorded since Oct 2019.

Next Steps / Recommendations Action 

Required?• Work is being undertaken to 

understand the drop in 
disruptions. Yes

4.2.23 Volume of SOC disruptions

4. Delivering innovative, problem-solving practices and processes

4.2 Managing demand

P
age 154

P
age 156



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

39

4. Managing Demand

4.2 How effective is WMP's activity to make the roads safer?

4.2.24 Volume of killed and 4.2.25 Volume of seriously injured

Key Points

• (KSI) casualties saw a 14% (23) decrease compared to the 

previous quarter.

• Figures are slightly higher than the same quarter in 19/20

and YTD figures. The biggest decline was in December with 37 

KSI casualties. 

• Other vulnerable road users Pedestrians and Powered 2 

wheelers also remain areas for concern with KSI casualties of 

14% (19) and 16% (22) respectively.

• Pedal cyclist casualties continue to remain an area of 

concern due to an increase in new/inexperienced cyclists. In 

the last quarter cyclists accounted for 12% (17) of all KSI 

casualties. 

What does this mean?

• It is probable that the return of some restrictions in England and Wales and 

messaging from the Chief Medical Officer regarding the Omicron variant have led 

to less traffic and therefore opportunities for incidents.

• It is probable that this will change in the coming months and traffic volumes will 

return. 

Next Steps / Recommendations
Action 

Required?• It is highly probable that KSI and collision volumes may be impacted 

by the recent amendments to the highway code. 

• There is potential that not everyone will be aware of the new rules.

• Therefore community engagement is advised. 

Good 

looks like:

KSI: A 

sustained 

5% 

reduction 

on 19/20

Last 

reviewed by 

subject lead 

Jan 2022

Yes

P
age 155

P
age 157



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

40

Next Steps / Recommendations

Good 

looks like:

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Jan 

2022

Key Points

• During the last 3 months, increases in both

the West Mercia numbers and national/ MSG 

average numbers for Recommendations. 

• This is as a result of:

– Publication of a joint thematic report on the 

Criminal Justice journey for those with 

mental health issues

– NCPI publications for two forces

– PEEL publications for three forces

– A Custody publication for one force. 

What does this mean?

• There has been little fluctuation nationally since December 21 with 

only three individual force rolling inspection reports published 

(NCPI/Custody). 

• The draft PEEL report for West Mercia is due imminently, as such the 

Force Liaison Lead is likely to have more time to review existing updates 

and consider closure of recommendations/AFIs (two of the former 

closed this month). 

Action 

Required?• The final PEEL report for West Mercia is due 

publication in March, so it is probable that a spike 

across all three areas (CoCs, Recs and AFIs) will be seen. No

Number of 

Recommendations

Number of Areas for 

Improvement

Number of Causes of 

Concern

Age of West Mercia’s Recommendations, AFIs and 

Causes of Concern (Jan 22)

We establish a 

position in the 

top National 

quartile of 43 

forces, re 

having the 

fewest Open 

recommendati

ons, AFIs and 

Causes of 

concern.

4. Innovating and improving

4.3 To what extent is West Mercia Police improving its practices and processes?

4.3.2 Volume and average age of outstanding HMICFRS recommendations

P
age 156

P
age 158



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

41

5. Delivering a skilled, sustainable workforce in a constantly learning, improving environment.

5.1.4 – 5.1.6  How well does WMP manage staff and officer absence rates?

Next Steps / Recommendations

Good 

looks like:

Last 

reviewed by 

subject lead 

Jan 2022

Key Points

• Officer sickness in Q3 2021/2022 

saw on average a 1% point 

increase on Q2 2021/2022.

• Staff sickness Q3 2021/2022 saw 

on average a 1.6% point increase 

on Q2 2021/2022.

• COVID sickness is a significant 

contributing factor in the increase 

in absences.

What does this mean?

• Both Staff and Officer Covid Sickness volumes observed 

repeated increases month on month in Q3.

• It is probable that with the continuing spread of Omicron 

and new testing procedures, these volumes will continue 

to rise heading into Q4.

Action 

Required?• Continued monitoring of Covid related 

sickness by HR and SP&I and raise any 
concerns in the Weekly Briefing. 

Yes

Police Officer 

and Staff 

Absence 

Levels below

previous 

year Most 

Similar 

Group 

average.

P
age 157

P
age 159



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D Next Steps / Recommendations

42

5. Delivering a skilled, sustainable workforce in a constantly learning, improving environment.

5.1.7 Attrition rates

Good 

looks like:

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Jan 2022

Key Points

• West Mercia has a higher attrition 

rate than the national average for: 

• Police Officers (7%), 

• Police Staff (12.8%) and

• PCSOs (11.3%)

• 15.2% (354) of all Police Officers 

have less than 2 Years Service.

• These officers will not have policed 

in a non Covid environment. 

What does this mean?

• There is a substantial cohort of Police Officers with little to 

no policing experience prior to Covid restrictions.

• As Crime and ASB volumes return to typical levels, this 

may represent a risk to Officer retention.

Action 

Required?• Continued strategic monitoring by 

HR and performance.
No

Better than 

national 

average 

attrition rates

* These Officers will never have policed a full night time economy or without any 

Covid restrictions

P
age 158

P
age 160



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

43

5. Delivering a skilled, sustainable workforce in a constantly learning, improving environment.

5.1.8 Is a WMP a representative workforce?

Next Steps / Recommendations

Good 

looks like:

Last reviewed by 

subject lead Jan 2022

Key Points

• Black, Asian and Other Ethnic 

Minority representation in West 

Mercia compares favourably to 

Most Similar Group Average, but is 

substantially lower than National 

Average.

• Female representation in West 

Mercia compares favourably to 

Most Similar Group Average, and is 

above National Average.

What does this mean?

• Black, Asian and Other Ethnic Minority representation 

exceeds the Most Similar Group Average (2.8%) with 

3.1%, but is below National Average (7.3%).

• Female officer representation exceeds the national 

average (31%) with 34.4%. The Ranks of Constable, 

Superintendent, Chief superintendent and Chief Officer all 

exceed the national average of female representation.

Action 

Required?• Continued strategic monitoring by 

HR and performance
No

Women’s 

Representation 

at 50%, and 

3.8% Ethnic 

Minority 

Representation 

in line with local 

community 

representation 

from Census.

P
age 159

P
age 161



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D Next Steps / Recommendations

44

Good 

looks like:

Reduction in 

‘Own Fault’ 

collisions.

Last reviewed 

by subject 

lead Oct 2021

Key Points

• Overall volume of collisions per 

month continues to fluctuate.

• Volume of ‘Own Fault’ accidents 

also continues to fluctuate.

What does this mean?

• There was a month on month reduction in ‘Own Fault’ 

collisions seen in April to August 2021 .

• Since then there has been a consistent increase each 

month.

Action 

Required?• Continued monitoring by 

performance.
No

5.3.4 Fleet - Expenditure on collisions

5. Delivering a skilled, sustainable workforce in a constantly learning, improving environment.

5.3 To what extent do we have the most effective tools?

Collisions per month – Force level

P
age 160

P
age 162



OFFICIAL

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 R

e
p

o
rt

 Q
3

O
c
t 

–
D

e
c
 2

0
2

1
/2

0
2

2
-

S
P

I/
2

0
2

2
/0

1
1

G
O

L
D

45

Please forward any feedback in relation to this report to 

SPIPerformance@westmercia.pnn.police.uk

P
age 161

P
age 163

mailto:SPIPerformance@westmercia.pnn.police.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 164



 
  

 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022 

 

 
WEST MERCIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
4 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 

Summary 
 

1. From time to time the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel (PCP) will review its 
work programme and consider which issues should be investigated as a priority. 

 
Background 
 

2. Under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 the Panel is 
responsible for scrutinising the Police and Crime Commissioner's (PCC) exercise of 
their statutory functions.  This includes: 

 
(a) The power of veto, by a two-thirds majority of the total panel membership, 

over the level of the PCC's proposed precept; 
 
(b) The power to review the Police and Crime Plan and make 

recommendations to the PCC who must have regard to them; 
 
(c) The power to review the PCC's annual report and make recommendations 

at a public meeting, which the PCC must attend; 
 
(d) The power to require the PCC to attend the Panel to answer questions. 

 
3. Some of these functions are carried out at a specific time of year – for example the 
precept must be considered and a view given to the PCC by 8 February each year. 

 
4. As a Scrutiny body the Panel reviews decisions made by the PCC, performance 
and issues of concern or interest.  It is not possible to carry out all these functions in 
detail and it the Panel needs to plan its workload and agree its priorities. 
  
5. The enclosed work programme takes into account 'routine' items, items which are 
required to be considered by the Panel at particular points in the year and topics for 
which the Panel has asked the PCC to provide a report. 

 

Dates of Future Meetings 
 

6. Dates and details of future meetings are available on the County Council website.  
The next planned Panel meeting is on 15 June 2022 

 

Browse meetings - West Mercia Police and Crime Panel - Worcestershire 
County Council (moderngov.co.uk) 

Page 163

AGENDA ITEM 10Page 165

https://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=147&Year=0
https://worcestershire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=147&Year=0


 

West Mercia Police and Crime Panel – 4 February 2022. 

Purpose of the Meeting 
 

7. The Panel is asked to consider the 2021/22 Work Programme and agree whether 
it would wish to make any amendments.  The Panel will wish to retain the flexibility to 
take into account any urgent issues which may arise. 

 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendix 1: West Mercia Police and Crime Panel Work Programme 
 
Specific Contact Points for this Report 
 
Sheena Jones, Democratic, Governance and Scrutiny Manager 
Tel: 01905 846011 Email: sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers 
 
In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Assistant Director for Legal and 
Governance) there are no background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report. 
 
All agendas and minutes are available on the Council's website 
 

Page 164

Page 166

mailto:sjones19@worcestershire.gov.uk
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/democratic-services/minutes-and-agendas.aspx


West Mercia Police and Crime Panel - Work Programme 2022 
 
 

Meeting Date 
 

Area of scrutiny Date of Last Report Notes/Follow-up Action 
 

4 February 2022 
 

Appointment of Independent 
Member 

N/A Recruitment process commenced November 
2021. Sub-Group appointed to carry out the 
recruitment and selection, to report to this 
meeting. 
 

 Confirmation hearing Chief Finance 
Officer (Treasurer) 
  

N/A  PCC has notified the Panel Chairman that he is 
recruiting to the post of Treasurer.  The Panel is 
required to hold a confirmation hearing for this 
post. 
 

 PCC’s Proposed Precept (and 
Medium Term Financial Plan) 
 

4 February 2021  

 Police & Crime Plan Activity and 
Performance Monitoring Report  
 

25 November 2021  

 Work Programme 
 

25 November 2021  

15 June 2022 Annual Report of the PCC 
 

13 July 2021  

 Estates Strategy 
 

  

 Her Majesty's Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS)  PEEL Report 

 

  

 Police & Crime Plan Activity and 
Performance Monitoring Report 
(including road safety) 
 

  

 Work Programme 
 

  

P
age 165

P
age 167



 

7 September 
2022 

Annual Report on Complaints   

 Police & Crime Plan Activity and 
Performance Monitoring Report  
 

  

 Work Programme 
 

  

23 November 
2022 

Police & Crime Plan Activity and 
Performance Monitoring Report  
 

  
 

 Work Programme 
 

  

Statutory items   PCC’s Proposed Precept (and 
Medium Term Financial Plan) 

 Police and Crime Plan (or 
variation to it)  

 Annual Report of the PCC 

 Review the PCC’s proposed 
appointment of a Chief 
Constable, Chief Executive, 
Chief Finance Officer and/or the 
Deputy PCC 
 

February 
 
 
 
June 

 

Regular items  Police & Crime Plan Activity and 
Performance Monitoring Report  

 Work Programme 

 Annual Report on Complaints  

 Budget Task Group to look at 
precept proposals (and Medium 
Term Financial Plan) 

  

Every meeting 
 
Every meeting 
 
 
 
 

 

Potential items  Visit to the West Mercia 
Operational Control Centre 

 Update on progress with the 
ICT improvement programme 
 

June 2020 
 

 
 

 

P
age 166

P
age 168


	Agenda
	1 Agenda
	Agenda
	5 Confirmation of the Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Appointment of an Independent Co-opted Lay Member
	7 Confirmation of the Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer)
	07a item 7 EXEMPT Appx C CV

	8 West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner's Proposed Precept and Budget 2022/23
	08a item 8 Appx 1 scrutiny-of-precept-guidance
	08b item 8 Appx 2 West Mercia 22_23 Budget Report_FINAL
	08c item 8 Appx 3 Precept Consultation Report 2022 DRAFT

	9 Police & Crime Plan Activity and Performance Monitoring Report
	09 item 9a Appx 1 Complaint handling
	09 item 9b Appx 2 National priorities for policing
	09 item 9c Appx 3  quarterly data set

	10 Work Programme
	10a item 10 Appx 1 Work Programme



